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Definitions

RAFRT - BXESHMEIN » THRAZRAEFATESE
In this annual report, the following terms shall have the following meanings, except otherwise stated:

[PEEERER]
“Alibaba China”

NI E

“Articles of Association”

Esae 3=
“Audit Committee”

[EFg]

“Board” or “Board of Directors”

[BEFEE]

“Board of Supervisors”

[(EEARFAI]
“CG Code”

[
“China” or “PRC”

/NI

“Company”

[E%]

“Directors”

[AE R

“Domestic Share(s)

»

[ A& B R

“Domestic Shareholder(s)

MEEE (FE)@ERMMAERAR - NRAFHRER L —
Alibaba (China) Network Technology Co., Ltd., one of the Company’s
Shareholders

ARFMAREIR BT - IR 52
the Articles of Association of the Company, as amended, supplemented
or otherwise modified from time to time

EEQEITEEY
the audit committee of the Board

RRREES

the board of directors of the Company

PN
the board of supervisors of the Company

LRAIERCA TS M X ER T A

Corporate Governance Code set out in Appendix C1 to the Listing Rules

PEARLNE - ERAFRNE - TREES  RFIENTHERSEE
the People’'s Republic of China, for the purpose of this annual report,
excluding Hong Kong, the Macao Special Administrative Region of the
PRC and Taiwan region

fEmEEEROARAR - REBEFRBUEER2010F12 6 BB — KK H
BRATE - HHBRNREBB R rEMR BT (RO - 9878)

Huitongda Network Co., Ltd. (EEBEMKZKRMHER AR, a joint stock
company with limited liabilities established under the laws of the PRC on
December 6, 2010, whose H Shares are listed on the Main Board of the
Hong Kong Stock Exchange (stock code: 9878)

RRBES

the directors of the Company

RAGRARFREBARKE1.00THAER - LARBREIARIESR
domestic share(s) in the share capital of the Company, with a nominal
value of RMB1.00 each, which is (are) subscribed for or credited as paid
in Renminbi

A BB

holder(s) of Domestic Share(s)
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[A&E ]

“Group”

[HA

“H Share(s)”

[HAR AR |
“H Shareholder(s)”

[T
“HK dollars” or “HK$”

[&E ]
“Hong Kong”

[ BB A
“Hong Kong Stock Exchange”

[ B B 75 S 5 2 A

“IFRS”

[RRERRATTT A

“Latest Practicable Date

[ LM B
“Listing Date”

[ LR 8]

“Listing Rules”

[1Z=2E=F A ]
“Model Code”

RARBIRAMBLAR (RONEME  BERAAAREEAN-—FRAZRHEL
al)

the Company and its subsidiaries (or the Company and any one or more
of its subsidiaries, as the context may require)

RAGRARFREBEARE.007TTHFII ETHINERR - UBETRBEREEN
ME B AP B

overseas listed foreign share(s) in the share capital of the Company with
nominal value of RMB1.00 each, which is (are) subscribed for and traded
in HK dollars and listed on the Hong Kong Stock Exchange

FAHRB AR
holder(s) of H Share(s)

BERETERET

Hong Kong dollars, the lawful currency of Hong Kong

REEESITTHE
the Hong Kong Special Administrative Region of the PRC

BEAMARSAARRAE
The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited

BRI EEL - BEEE ST LR RS RMNEL BT REE - KE
R EAZESBEMNBER ST ERIREE

International Financial Reporting Standards, which include standards,
amendments and interpretations promulgated by the International
Accounting Standards Board and the International Accounting Standards
and Interpretation issued by the International Accounting Standards
Committee

20244 H22F  IRAERTIB Z2AETEPHENE TERNREZEER
AT &

April 22, 2024, being the latest practicable date prior to the publication
of this annual report for ascertaining certain information contained herein

HIRN BB PrE R AR E B B AR - B1202242 18 H
February 18, 2022, on which dealings in the H Shares first commence on
the Hong Kong Stock Exchange

ERMARSMERAAZES EHRA (ETRER] - BRsAEAMTT A&
)

the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange of
Hong Kong Limited, as amended, supplemented or otherwise modified
from time to time

FARBIMSRCIFTE EM B ITAE R HEITE SR SHNELETA
Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers set
out in Appendix C3 to the Listing Rules



E2ZEg]

“Nomination Committee

[ ERE]

“Prospectus”

[FHEEREZE S

“Remuneration and

Appraisal Committee”

[$REB IS [ REFE
“Reporting Period”
or “Year”

AR ]
“RMB”

[ 52 PR il A ) B8

‘RSU(s)"

[ 52 FR Bt BB 7T &1 )

“RSU Scheme”

[SaaS |
“SaaS”

[F9/5SaaS+]
“SaaS+”

*F-YﬁtAJ
Rz mm B

“SFC”

[ &5 M ETE A
“SFO”

»
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Definitions

ExgRA%ES

the nomination committee of the Board

RNRAF B EA/202251 H31 HOBRKRER
the prospectus of the Company dated January 31, 2022

EEEeVMEERERS

the remuneration and appraisal committee of the Board

HE2023F12A31BLFE
the year ended December 31, 2023

HEDEEEBARE

Renminbi, the lawful currency of the PRC

ZRED B - BEKRMNEMRKRE TEERE AN ZEF & —RAEREHKR
restricted share unit(s), each share unit represents one underlying H
Share of an award granted to a selected participant

REZEN2022F10 A 11 BRZEALKLRIRN2022F 11 A28 RERRAE L
FEIE - AR EFTERNE X IR A B 5T 8

the restricted share unit scheme adopted by the Company as resolved
by the Board on October 11, 2022 and considered and approved by the
Shareholders at the general meeting on November 28, 2022

S B AR S

software as a service

HEE THSRMHR T 2 HRBFIEERBEHSaaSEmM
SaaS products combined with value-added services such as offline
marketing services provided onsite

EERFLHEEHERZES

Securities and Futures Commission of Hong Kong

BAEDIEST1E(HEF RBEED) (BTRHERT - MR AR E%)
Securities and Futures Ordinance (Chapter 571 of the Laws of Hong
Kong), as amended, supplemented or otherwise modified from time to
time
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[A&f5 |
“Share(s)”

[ A& |
“Shareholder(s)”

[HEEE 2 ]
“Strategy Committee”

(B
“Subsidiary(ies)”

(8%

“Supervisor(s)”

[%]
sy

AARREARFREBEARKE1.00THERR - BFEAERKEKHE
ordinary shares in the share capital of the Company with a nominal value
of RMB1.00 each, including Domestic Shares and H Shares

RATRE - BEANERRKRR RHRKRE
the shareholder(s) of the Company, including Domestic Shareholders and
H Shareholders

EXZEeBmEZES

the strategy committee of the Board

BB EmARAME T aRE

has the meaning ascribed to it under the Listing Rules

ARREEGKE

member(s) of the Board of Supervisors of the Company

ANk
per cent
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Financial Summary and Operating Metrics

BREEE FINANCIAL SUMMARY
BE12A31BLEE
Year ended December 31,
20224
2022
2023F ARETT 20214 20204 20194
2023 RMB’000 2021 2020 2019
AR®TR (&5 ARETT ARETT ARETT
RMB’ 000 (restated)V RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
WA Revenue 82,432,520 82,105,987 65,763,174 49,629,135 43,633,230
Hep Including:
RHEBRERA Revenue from commerce
business 81,618,095 81,177,331 65225613 49,302,000 43,378,563
BRAS E R RBBA Revenue from service
business 654,719 794,836 437,814 242,722 55,448
£ Gross profit 2,739,724 2,588,101 1,867,966 1,344,511 1,279,088
BEN Profit from operations 794,013 714,650 638,689 406,759 334,205
FEME/(BB) Profit/(loss) for the year 697,299 557,819 (177,049) (279,992) (304,823)
ARERERSE AEIERF,/  Profit/(loss) attributable to equity
(B#8) shareholders of the Company 448,275 316,378 (349,881) (405,287) (415,333)
BEERS Total assets 29,110,070 29,388,741 25,598,011 21,695,331 19,142,817
BeRBeEED Cash and cash equivalents 3,748,938 4,082,240 2,966,920 4,315,977 1,167,709
BREE Total liabilities 19,615,041 19,778,571 27,315,457 23,739,822 20,594,182
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OPERATING METRICS

BZE12A1ALEE
Year ended December 31,
2022
2022
2023 (mE5))0 20215 2020 2019%F
2023 (restated)™ 2021 2020 2019
afe 8 TEMELEH Total number of registered
member retail stores 237,238 206,231 169,466 140,481 125,885
EREETEMEY Number of active member
retail stores 90,708 76,160 62,203 32,715 34,225
ERREAE Number of active wholesaler
customers 12,534 16,732 16,756 18,807 19,425
SaaS+:I MR P2 Total number of SaaS+
subscription users 131,810 113,998 102,047 62,054 59,418
He: f&SaaS+AP Including: paid SaaS+ users 48,069 29,775 17,905 2,571 4,156
F00(1) ZIRMANR BHEA2023F3HA21H  Note: (1) Reference is made to the announcement of the

MAE NAERE (P EE) AQA
BRI ERTIEREAR AR ([
EHERIRE]) N2 IRE - WK
% MRFERIEZLREKBAR (&
B ERGERIREE])KAAE
ERHEAR ERWEERFERL
BEEES SR ARIEGIEEOER
BBt RNEBE2022F12 31 BWGEE
PEMROALEY  UBEAHEED
KEEENREERAE (RAFERE
AMBHREANTEL) BR - 2019FF
CO1FMBBRERELLR2HENET
WARLBRE2022F HHRAMFEEERE
Bl o

HER ISR - REBEE2022F12
A31BIEFE KR2023F 12 A31 B IEE
EEHBEEAS (TEBEAL(EERE
MR AEEREBAERAR([E
EER|) REBBARETRINGE
NERFBEAHERBBANRZSENLA
BITWEBAEERITNARELENRIE
BHo-BRITIZEAHERBANRSS
o OAEBR Lt IR EZ S0
RBEERRNERLD  BRERHNR
BEBESLER(EER EMBEL) K
R0.1% @ RIE ETRAER SRR -
DNERBRIERNRTE - BHEEKEE
IR GHFERBENAFRIZA VM BERE
MI5E37 ©

Company dated March 21, 2023 in relation to, among
other things, the acquisition of the entire equity interest
in Nanjing Hosjoy Engineering Technology Co., Ltd.
(“Nanjing Hosjoy Engineering”’) by the Company.
Upon completion of the acquisition, Nanjing Hosjoy
Engineering and its subsidiaries (collectively, “Nanjing
Hosjoy Engineering Group”) became subsidiaries
of the Group. Given the acquisition of Nanjing Hosjoy
Engineering Group was considered as a business
combination involving entities under common control,
the consolidated financial statements as at December
31, 2022 of the Group has been restated to include
the operating results and assets and liabilities of the
combining entities (see Note 4 to the consolidated
financial statements of this annual report), whereas the
figures in the financial summary and operating metrics
for 2019 to 2021 have not been restated on the same
basis as for 2022.

Based on the above, the amounts of the Group’s
transactions with its related parties (also known
as connected persons (as defined in the Listing
Rules)), Five Star Holdings Group Co., Ltd. (“Five
Star Holdings”) and its affiliates, for the year ended
December 31, 2022 and the year ended December
31, 2023 have also included the historical transaction
amounts of the combined entities and the transaction
amounts incurred in fulfilling the contracts signed
prior to the acquisition. Assuming that the historical
transaction amounts of the combined entities were
not taken into account, the transaction amounts of the
Group with such related parties during the aforesaid
periods would be significantly reduced and the highest
applicable percentage ratio (as defined in the Listing
Rules) in respect of such transactions is less than
0.1%, and such transactions are exempt from the
reporting, announcement and shareholders’ approval
requirements under the Listing Rules. Details of the
significant related party transactions are set out in
Note 37 to the consolidated financial statements of this
annual report.
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Chairman’s Statement

BHH SRR

HEHREMRREEANREE2023F12/831H
MEFERE  TEHRRXRESTERSMNBREHASE
EMALOMT R RAZNHE

2023 F —AMTTMAH LR FTmIE A —F - mHBRIR
MTHERE  ARERKBSERMEEE - 18318
E BIBEEINTHELDH  EEFSHREREEER

2RETNHHEBIT  ARENZEERRTE
g BUS T BIFES -

Dear Shareholders:

| present to the Shareholders the annual report of the Company for
the year ended December 31, 2023, and on behalf of the Board
express our sincere gratitude to the Shareholders for concern and
support to the Group.

The year 2023 started with promise but turned into a year marked
by challenges. Facing the challenging market environment,
the Group consistently upheld the commitment to the working
principle of “enhancing quality, stabilizing growth and generating
value”. Guided by the Board and fueled by the collective
dedication of management and staff, the Group witnessed
steady growth across various performance indicators, yielding
commendable results.
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REOERRE
ES4E) ]

2023%F + AEBEEREERAAREES24 37T -
ELER0.4% AR AIRERE ARGREF AR
44818 AILLERA1.7%  BEEKLEHAEIIR

ERMAFEARKL71ET  FLIERS80.1% °

HIEREEE ) 1 EIET -

2023%F - AEBEHEEDELREAIE - MREE
MR ERREEN B EE  RANETRLEETS
RBEMHRB - MEAERTE  BHEBEFRMWFCEE
ROEHE: REMMEEN - 80 - LGOS EE
BRl BEAEBHRREETR B - 712
SHESRELER  RBHETRRELDE  ER
Bz WEHEREAE  B/KRMEZAER
O SHEENE R RIREERHBA
FIESERE  BEREIE 28X 7 NBERBE
BHhEMRNPEEER  BEACES  EfE—8
{EEBRE - 2REMB/BFE  REHRERFAE
NTRIFAEE BEBNEMRHEERE £ THRE
TH237TBRCEZTEME  2EZREEARES
BB LR =S MmE M EEHCE KT &
FRTE2REHR -

BUSINESS REVIEW AND OUTLOOK
Business Review

In 2023, the Group achieved operating revenue of RMB82.43
billion, with a year-on-year increase of 0.4%; profit attributable
to equity shareholders of the Company of RMB448 million, with a
year-on-year increase of 41.7%; and net cash inflow generated
from operating activities of RMB471 million, with a year-on-year
increase of 80.1%.

Continuous enhancement of supply chain capabilities:

In 2023, the Group continued to strengthen the cooperation with
top brands, expedite the construction of its own brands and
promote the integration of production and sales, and carried out
a full channel deployment both online and offline at the same
time. In terms of brands cooperation, the Group deepened the
cooperation with Apple in the consumer electronics sector,
continued to deepen its cooperation with Midea, Gree and
Joyoung in the household appliances sector, mastered the supply
chain to source resources of nitrogen, phosphorus, potassium and
grain in the agricultural means of production sector, continued
to deepen the cooperation with BYD, GAC Aion, Hozon Auto (%
FE) in the transportation sector, linked up with well-known brands
in the liquor sector, such as Wuliangye, Yanghe and King'’s Luck,
and continued to focus on Unilever in the personal care sector.
In terms of its own brands, the Group built up its own brands
such as Zhonghuida Air Conditioner and Huizhongtian Fertilizer,
which focus on products with excellent price-performance ratios,
and made a breakthrough in the integration of production and
sales. The Group successfully implemented a comprehensive
channel strategy by fostering strong partnerships with leading
online platforms to facilitate the expansion of sales channels for
retail stores. Additionally, offline efforts showed significant growth
with over 237 thousand member retail stores and 20 thousand
service providers and channel partners, including prominent chain
enterprises like Shandong Sanlian. This comprehensive approach
ensured a robust channel deployment both online and offline.



BETEFPILIRBFE1FEHEE

2023%F  AEEBERHSETEMIERE - &
% CERBRBEERERERA  HEREHK -
AEBZEAAMEETEMELAHEEW23. 78R
EIER15.0%  BERRXZEREEZTEMEHIE
R @EHER19.1% : 5] HSaaS+AFHEER13.2
BXR - FALiER15.6% @ EF [ ESaaS+HFH
Bi4.88  BHIERG61.4%: £= ©8REED
TERA - AEEBRESETEMEEERE 2
FHAISRZOEBRE TR EHIE4565H A

£ EHeETEMERALESN S - IRIGKUGE
. E= REEMBIFE  2023F 8 EHHET
BRIBRBER BESETEMETREY I
BE—SPHALABRREERE  2EX  255FEFPE
;J: °

B FERRIFENR

2023%F AREEBEXEBBTER - HER
THEFLaE N - EXBFEIE  BEAREEHE

¥ TERTERMERBRER > TR
BEREE  BeelbhmE - BUBBAIRNRE R

N BFITEARIKY  BEGEZEMEEER
IEERE  XBEF - EY MHRZSIEM -
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Continuous enforcement of member retail store service capability:

In 2023, the Group continued to deepen its member retail store
service. Firstly, there was a continuous enhancement of member
network coverage density. As of the end of the Reporting Period,
the total number of registered member retail stores of the Group
exceeded 237 thousand, representing a year-on-year growth
of 15.0%; the number of active member retail stores exceeded
90 thousand, representing a year-on-year growth of 19.1%; the
total number of subscribed SaaS+ users amounted to nearly
132 thousand, representing a year-on-year growth of 15.6%, of
which, the number of paid SaaS+ users exceeded 48 thousand,
representing a year-on-year growth of 61.4%. Secondly, there
was a continuous improvement of member service capability. The
Group focused on sales assistance and promotion for its member
retail store, organizing more than 456 joint promotions together
with 35 core top brand factories throughout the year, helping
member retail stores to improve their operational efficiency, with
significant service effectiveness. Thirdly, there was innovation
and research and development of service products. In 2023,
the Group independently researched and developed Qiancheng
series of service products, focusing on the pain points of member
retail stores’ demands, and further upgraded them to satisfy the
demand of customers in all business types, all industries and all
scenes.

Continuous upgrading of digitalization construction:

In 2023, the Group focused on the construction of industrial
internet platforms, further strengthening digitalization capabilities.
In terms of industrial digitization, the Group continually upgraded
the digitization platforms across various industries, refined the
construction of technical product systems in various industries,
and precipitated data assets. In terms of intelligence, the Group
independently deployed the Al large model service capability to
align with industry standards, focusing on empowering member
retail stores in their buying and selling processes, and supporting
multi-scene applications for customers, operations, and research
and development.
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AB#EE ) T BT -

20234 - REBEEBEBERUELEIE - ARES - X
EEmE - Rl B MM BHKESTER
ABER  BETESBENABHRMN  FE&SIET
FRERAT  RCEBRE  FELLLHEE
& olAE BREFBCERNZERET  BHE
M RBTERREE - BMABRIRR IR B
HH - BCRBEE - BAMEERSESBEEL
MBEEREEN - EHIESIBERAREEERT

RIE B FF A2 -

2023F 4 68 + AR EIRIEZRHIIK K B &
494 Z B TR TH484BRZBRHIRMERL o FIRA
HAEREEZOERERKE - WEFARQARE
BB AERFERER LIGENMENR30% HBEZHEH
& - B ARSI G5 B 2024 F £2028
FOHIXNEE - 2023F12A27H » KARIE—F
MEH2B9BBTERFBAERTL4157TERZ R
BRI » LAZRA TSRS 2026 FE N A RIRIERE B AJE
ISR EE L2023 F I IR BB 100% & £ Z AR 68 (&
% R2027F4AHE - AR THFEEINZ - &
REFEMBREFZSERTE BPRAEEE—
PRAZLEBKE  #ZZOEBENEE A
AEEERPRAEE B SRERE -

Continuous improvement of organizational capabilities:

In 2023, the Group maintained culture-led and organization-driven
approach. At the cultural level, the Group innovatively released
cadre culture, helping to enhance the operating atmosphere. At
the organizational level, the Group focused on building a high-
combat organizational team, continuing to introduce industry-
leading talents, deepening organizational fission, consolidating
construction and empowering of the operational echelon, and
overall enhancing the operating capacity of entities in various
industries. At the institutional level, the Group stimulated the
vitality of all employees through implementation of a number of
measures, including, among other things, improving shareholding
mechanism, issuing RSUs for cadres, optimizing incentive
mechanism and optimizing organization and cost control,
achieving the overall improvement of employee efficiency through
mechanisms.

Continuous advancement of equity incentives:

On April 6, 2023, the Company granted approximately 4.84
million RSUs to 494 employees under the RSU Scheme. All
grantees are members of the Group’s core and backbone team.
The RSUs granted will be vested in batches from 2024 to 2028
in accordance with the key vesting condition that the year-on-
year increase in net profit attributable to equity shareholders of
the Company is no less than 30% per annum. On December 27,
2023, the Company further granted 4.157 million RSUs to a total
of 259 selected participants, which will be vested in April 2027 in
accordance with the key vesting condition that the Company will
record an increase in net profit attributable to equity shareholders
of the Company of more than 100% in 2026 compared to 2023.
Such grant highly binds the interests of the employees, the
Company and the Shareholders, which would help the Group
further enhance the efficiency of the core team, maintain the
stability of the core team, and provide guarantee for the Group to
achieve its medium to long-term performance targets.
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Further enhancement of corporate influence:

In 2023, the Group garnered increased attention and recognition
from government authorities at all levels and the public across
multiple sectors, further enhancing its influence in the industry.
The element of Huitongda, namely “turning mobile phones into
a new kind of farming tool, turning data into a new agricultural
resource, and making live broadcasting become a new agricultural
activity” was implanted in the central documents; the provincial
and ministerial leaders, such as the National Development and
Reform Commission (NDRC), the State Administration for Market
Regulation (SAMR) and Department of Commerce of Jiangsu
Province, have visited and inspected for many times and highly
evaluated the business of Huitongda. In 2023, the Company was
awarded many corporate honors and recognitions and awards at
the provincial and ministerial levels and above such as “Top 500
Chinese Enterprises in China (ranking 301st)”, “2023 National
E-Commerce Demonstration Enterprise”, “Best Board of Directors
of Listed Company” and “Annual Investment Value Award”.

FUTURE PROSPECT

The year 2024 is full of new challenges and uncertainties. In
the new year, the Group will continue to adhere to its corporate
mission, insist on its core strategy of empowering and serving
its member retail stores with digital technology and supply
chain capabilities, pursue innovative growth breakthroughs,
and continue to promote the high-quality development of the
enterprise.

In 2024, with the established overall development policy of
“stabilizing growth and improving quality”, the Group will focus
on profit and cash flow, and continue to enhance its four core
competencies, namely supply chain, member retail store services,
organization and digitization, by implementing the following key
tasks:

l. Focusing on industrial upgrading, the Group will continue
to deepen the construction of an innovative supply chain
system:

The Group will continue to expand and deepen the
cooperation with top brands across various industries to
link up with more high-quality upstream resources. The
Group will continue to strengthen the construction of
its own brands to increase the proportion of integrated
production and sales business. The Group will continue
to push forward the operation of the demand-driven
procurement and sales-driven mode to create a
standardized model of the B2F reverse supply chain of the
industrial Internet;
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Focusing on member retail store services, the Group will
continue to promote upgrading of customer value:

The Group will continue to promote the implementation
of joint promotions to improve member development
and service efficiency through joint actions with brands
and event operations both online and offline, and to
help member retail stores improve profitability. The
Group will continue to focus on service products through
refinement and specialization, focusing on the pain points
of customers’ core needs, enhancing the convenience
and intelligence of transaction services, making a good
job in the delivery of SaaS + products for operation, and
enhancing the tool activity rate. The Group will continue
to promote innovative growth and empower member retail
stores through new methods such as store 020, bringing
more service value to member retail stores.

Focusing on digital construction, the Group will continue to
enhance the value of the industry’s digital platform:

The Group will continue to optimize the construction of
vertical industrial Internet platforms for various industries,
upgrading industrial transaction platforms and supporting
the development of innovative supply chains. The Group
will continue to enhance the standard of digital intelligence
and promote the enhancement of enterprise management
efficiency. The Group will establish digital brands, develop
Al high-value products or services, and build technological
brands in order to continue to enhance the competitiveness
of the Group’s industrial technology industry.

Focusing on the construction of business-oriented
organizations, the Group will continue to strengthen the
internal drive of talents and culture:

The Group will focus on the organization construction that
can continuously implement the long-term strategy, push
forward the organization to prioritize the business lines
and transform to marketing type, continuously deepen the
organization fissure and industry incubation, introduce the
industry leading talents and improve the cadre construction
and cultivation. The Group will continuously optimize the
assessment and incentive mechanism to enhance the
human efficiency. The Group will continuously carry out
the cultural leadership, and create a culture and business
atmosphere of learning by comparison, catching up with
others and surpassing others.
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Looking ahead, the Group is full of confidence and expectation.
The Group will embrace change with a more open attitude,
move towards the future with a more firm pace, and promote
technological innovation and industrial upgrading; optimize
resource allocation and improve operational efficiency and
management level, deepen strategic cooperation with partners,
jointly explore broader market space, and write a new chapter of
win-win cooperation.

Once again, | would like to express my sincere gratitude to our
customers, partners, investors and people from all walks of life
for their long-term support and help to the Group. The Group will
repay everyone's trust and expectations with greater enthusiasm,
more pragmatic style and more excellent results.

Chairman
Mr. WANG Jianguo

April 22, 2024
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FINANCIAL REVIEW
Revenue

During the Reporting Period, the Group continued to focus on its
strategy of cooperation with top brands and network expansion
in lower-tier markets, and optimized its business structure to
cope with the complex and volatile market environment, with its
revenue remaining stable. In 2022 and 2023, the Group's revenue
was RMB82,106.0 million and RMB82,432.5 million, respectively,

R EE DT representing a slight year-on-year increase. The following table
sets forth the absolute amount and year-on-year change in
revenue by business sector for 2023 and 2022:
R EREBFRE Commerce Business
BZE12A31HLEEE
Year ended December 31,
2023%F 20224
2023 2022
& bt 2
AR¥T R ARBETFIL  Year-on-year
RMB’ 000 RMB’000 change
(f8&E7))
(restated)
R EBIRR : Commerce Business:
S0 Direct sales 81,616,120 81,175,242 0.5%
HEETFESR Consumer electronics 44,887,977 37,725,478 19.0%
BELEER Agricultural means of production 12,261,326 15,788,263 (22.3%)
KAERS Household appliances 12,313,537 13,907,990 (11.5%)
RBIETT Vehicles and auto parts merchandise 7,614,679 8,147,650 (6.5%)
REEM Homebuilding and renovation materials 2,993,729 3,194,361 (6.3%)
Vil /% = Liquor and beverages 1,353,909 1,990,715 (32.0%)
E b Others™ 190,963 420,785 (54.6%)
ERBEER Online marketplace 1,975 2,089 (5.5%)
RBEBIRBATT Total for commerce business 81,618,095 81,177,331 0.5%

Fr (WHEHMGETEBRESERER -
AEBRGEBRRUATED AEBEETER

BRELEEN RABER  RBHT REEME
BEKBB AN KITE - RPEBRLN 2023 F AL
ABARYS1,618.1HETT * H2022FMARE
81,177 3B LMALEARFT HFEEBEEFEM
#REER

Note: (1) Others mainly include various fast-moving consumer goods.
The Group’s revenue from commerce business segment, which
mainly covered six major sectors, namely consumer electronics,
agricultural means of production, household appliances, vehicles
and auto parts merchandise, homebuilding and renovation
materials, and liquor and beverages. Revenue from commerce
business segment amounted to RMB81,618.1 million in 2023,
which remained relatively stable as compared to RMB81,177.3
million in 2022, with consumer electronics growing at a faster
pate.
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TEHRBEARG)AEBREFEITEE I M EE
BEE E—PRXHERBEHRE  BEETFEM
WA 82022 F R HAH K 19.0% ¢ (ii)EEFMEIER
WHBEBERA  AEBEHAE TLEMEAR
¥BEE BRELEEERNBAKR2022F F R
T223% : (INKEMBRN  AEEPFELEENR
AR EE - KA ER/RWAR2022F R AT E
11.5% : (V) NEBEICEBLERE - THREGELHE
EMOERTETHBHEYR  ZFLBREHERAE
E5 0 BHITRARK2022FERE T£6.5% ¢ (V)
XEMEMSRERITERABYE  REEMEA
2022 FE R TE6.3% : R(VIBBMISEHEES
TREBHE - NEBHEMBRBET T AR BAKE
FHRA 82022 F [/ B T F#32.0% °

Mainly due to the fact that, during the Reporting Period, (i) the
Group maintained strategic cooperation with top brands in the
industry to further deepen sales channel expansion, with revenue
from consumer electronic products increasing by 19.0% as
compared to the same period in 2022; (ii) given that the market
in the plantation and aquaculture industry was more volatile, the
Group proactively adjusted the business structure of fertilizers
and feeds, with revenue from agricultural means of production
decreasing by 22.3% as compared to the same period in 2022;
(iii) given that the household appliances market was weak, the
Group focused on maintaining the cooperation with the top
brands, with revenue from household appliances decreasing by
11.5% as compared to the same period in 2022; (iv) the Group
optimized business structure, actively contracted part of low-
margin traditional auto parts business, and gradually focused on
new energy vehicle business, revenue from vehicles and auto
parts merchandise decreased by 6.5% as compared to the same
period in 2022; (v) revenue from homebuilding and renovation
materials decreased by 6.3% as compared to the same period in
2022 as a result of the cycles in the real estate market and the
construction industry; and (vi) given that the production and sales
volume of liquor market was on a downward trend, the Group
made adjustments to its product structure, with revenue from
liquor and beverages decreasing by 32.0% as compared to the
same period in 2022.

RS E SR % Service Business
BZE12A31BLEEE
Year ended December 31,
20234F 20224
2023 2022
Elsd=)
AR®T T AE¥FIT Year-on-year
RMB’ 000 RMB’000 change
PRI EKARE Service Business:
F9JESaaS+&] B SaaS+ subscription 562,041 533,590 5.3%
PERBRITR Merchant solutions 92,678 261,246 (64.5%)
B35 S M AR SR A 5 Total for Service Business 654,719 794,836 (17.6%)
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The Group’s revenue from the service business mainly included
revenue from two portions, namely the SaaS+ subscription and
merchant solutions. SaaS+ subscription grew steadily by 5.3%
compared with the same period last year. While the merchant
solutions decreased by 64.5% compared with the same period last
year, mainly due to the Group’s adjustment of business strategy of
merchant solutions, which reduced part of the precision marketing
and software customization business with low gross profit.

Cost of Revenue, Gross Profit and Gross Margin

Cost of revenue of the Group increased by 0.2% from
RMB79,517.9 million in 2022 to RMB79,692.8 million in 2023, and
gross profit increased by 5.9% from RMB2,588.1 million in 2022 to
RMB2,739.7 million in 2023. The growth of the cost of revenue and
gross profit of the Group was mainly due to the growth of revenue.
Gross margin of the Group increased from 3.2% in 2022 to 3.3%
in 2023, remaining relatively stable.

SHEREHMEX Selling and Marketing Expenses
HZ12A31HLEE
Year ended December 31,
2023% 2022%
2023 2022
ARBTR T ON£: ARETR AL % El#;
Asa As a
percentage percentage  Year-on-year
RMB’ 000 of revenue RMB'000 of revenue change
(mE75))
(restated)
HEREHEAR Selling and Marketing Expenses 1,380,775 1.7% 1,356,381 1.7% 1.8%

HENEHEMAS H2022FMARE1,356.4F 8T
HE1.8%E2023FMARKE1,380.8FE T * HE

N R SE AR L REAREFF -
XIBERHESEEMX

=

=T

o

R 31 R B M B

=

BT

K A 3H R

Kia

Selling and marketing expenses increased by 1.8% from
RMB1,356.4 million in 2022 to RMB1,380.8 million in 2023, and
the proportion of selling and marketing expenses in revenue
remained stable. Selling and marketing expenses primarily consist
of advertising expenses, promotion service fees and employee
salaries.
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THEHMKSER Administrative and Other Operating Expenses
BZ12R3HLEE
Year ended December 31,
2023% 20226
2023 2022
ARBT R T ON: 4 ARBFT TN #: Bl £
As a As a
percentage percentage of  Year-on-year
RMB’000 of revenue RMB’000 revenue change
(E751)
(restated)
TBRHMEERY Administrative and
Other Operating Expenses 373,844 0.5% 401,327 0.5% (6.8%)

TREEBCEERYTEREREET S TEEBMNU
REARBES - THREEMEERT A2022F 8
ARBA01.3AE TN 6.8%E2023FMARKE
373.8HEL TZHRAEEEF(LRENR £
BFAEABLERE  MEBKEN  THREEAEBNE
BEHESHEFTEE -

Administrative and other operating expenses primarily consist
of employee salaries, depreciation expenses and consultation
service fees. Administrative and other operating expenses
decreased by 6.8% from RMB401.3 million in 2022 to RMB373.8
million in 2023, mainly due to the fact that the Group had
improved the digital capabilities and actively adjusted personnel
structure towards the business, resulting in a decrease in the
overall salaries of administrative staff.

g YN Research and Development (“R&D”) Costs
BZE12A31ALEE
Year ended December 31,
2023F 20224
2023 2022
[ bk & &)
AR%T R AR¥FIT  Year-on-year
RMB’ 000 RMB’000 change
T EE B Research and Development Costs 93,502 113,234 (17.4%)

MERAETSBEAIKRAE  FTERBHERE
fft, o BB AR 2022 F M AREE113.2B BT &
17. 4% ZE2023FMARBIZEEETT * ETEHEN()
EFERPAEEEHTCEMRBREREEENER
FHEERBEEREA  MBREHMBERARFES
K R (i) FREHIA - AN B hNoR T BB R b A
R BRE D MR R AR ERIR T -

R&D costs mainly include labor costs, depreciation and
amortisation and others. R&D costs decreased by 17.4% from
RMB113.2 million in 2022 to RMB93.5 million in 2023, mainly
due to that: (i) the Group had investment in significant projects
in digitalization infrastructure and underlying capacity building
during the same period of last year, and the investment in R&D
during the Reporting Period was maintained at a normal level,
and (ii) the Group strengthened the construction of its R&D
systematic capacity and significantly improved the capacity of its
self-research and the efficiency of its R&D during the Reporting
Period.
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Impairment Loss on Trade and Other Receivables

Impairment loss on trade and other receivables increased by
24.7% from RMB220.5 million in 2022 to RMB274.9 million in
2023, which was mainly due to the fact that out of prudent
considerations,
expected credit losses on certain of its receivables.

the Group has increased the provision for

Other Revenue

Other revenue was RMB45.7 million in 2022 and RMB44.9 million
in 2023, remaining relatively stable.

Other Net Gain

Other net gain decreased by 23.2% from RMB172.3 million in
2022 to RMB132.4 million in 2023, mainly due to the decrease in
foreign exchange gains as a result of the fewer foreign exchange
rate fluctuations in 2023 compared to 2022.

Net Finance Income/(Costs)

Net finance income/(costs) turned from net finance costs of
RMB60.7 million in 2022 to net finance income of RMB3.8 million
in 2023, primarily due to the decrease in interest expenses arising
from redeemable capital contributions and the increase in interest
income.

The decrease in interest expenses arising from redeemable capital
contributions was primarily due to the unconditional termination of
the special right associated with the pre-IPO investment and the
reclassification of the redeemable capital contributions to equity
upon the Company’s listing on the Main Board of the Hong Kong
Stock Exchange on February 18, 2022, and the related interest
was no longer provided.
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FriE®t Income Tax

Frisfim2022F M AREEI6.2HE T LF3.6% %= Income tax increased by 3.6% from RMB96.2 million in 2022 to
2023FMARKBI.7THE L ' 2023FAFHMAS E  RMB99.7 million in 2023. The increase in income tax expense in
AEFEZEHREHABREZRTANATREFRBAME 2023 was primarily due to the increase in adjusted profit before

K taxation as compared to the same period last year.
RIS AR GBI BRAENGEBIEA125% ©  The consolidated tax rate based on adjusted profit before taxation
BEFRIE12.9% /M8 T % - was 12.5%, representing a slightly decrease from 12.9% as

compared to the same period last year.

ARBEEBERE  AEENREPANEANEBKX  The management of the Company considers that the effective tax
BE - BREEKYE - rate applied by the Group during the Reporting Period was at a
reasonable level.

AR REFEAEBLRF Profit Attributable to Equity Shareholders of the Company

EREMFER - AEBER2023F B A QARG  As a result of the above reasons, the Group recorded a profit
EAEBEEFMARK 448 3FE T 820229 W A attributable to equity shareholders of the Company of RMB448.3

R¥316.4B88BTIERA1.7% ° million in 2023, increased by 41.7% compared with RMB316.4
million in 2022.
BRARFAE GEERIEHREERTE) Adjusted Net Profit (Non-IFRS Measures)

TREFFTIRABAEBLAZZFE (JEEFEEITE  The following table reconciles the adjusted net profit (non-IFRS

MEEAFE) BREREBRTEREENNREEE  measures) of the Group to the most directly comparable financial

AR S EERIT - FRENEHE measure in accordance with IFRSs, profit for the year, for the
periods indicated:

BZ12B31BILLEE
Year ended December 31,

20234 2022%F
2023 2022
AR®T ARBTT
RMB’ 000 RMB’000
(F&E7))
(restated)
FERE Profit for the year 697,299 557,819
m:AEREEELANFERT Add: interest expenses arising from
redeemable capital contributions - 91,830
KARFFNE CGEEABRMERS Adjusted Net Profit (Non-IFRS Measures)
A5t &) 697,299 649,649

2023F R2022F L ABEMEFBO R AARE  The adjusted net profit in 2023 and 2022 was RMB697.3 million
697.3HE LR ARKG49.6 BT ' K7.3% ° and RMB649.6 million, respectively, representing an increase of
7.3%.
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FEAEFEFE GFRIFR B 1 s RIFH 8) BRARIRER
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ARABIERSE ARIGRNOEE -

Adjusted Net Profit Attributable to Equity Shareholders of
the Company (Non-IFRS Measures)

The following table reconciles the adjusted net profit attributable
to equity shareholders of the Company (non-IFRS measures) of
the Group to the most directly comparable financial measure in
accordance with IFRSs, profit attributable to equity shareholders
of the Company, for the periods indicated:

BZ12A31ALEE
Year ended December 31,

20234 20224
2023 2023
AR®T T ARBTT
RMB’ 000 RMB’000
(g=75)
(restated)
EREREFEAEERT Profit attributable to equity shareholders

of the Company 448,275 316,378

AR EEEAMNFI SRS Add: interest expenses arising from
redeemable capital contributions - 91,830

BRABKNTREFEARGERNE Adjusted net profit attributable to

(EEMR B | ELERIGTE) equity shareholders of the Company

(Non-IFRS measures) 448,275 408,208

2023F N 2022 F & B AN AR IEZE AEILF
FEORAARKI48IAETREARKLI082HE
JC 0 #EK9.8% °

In 2023 and 2022, the adjusted net profit attributable to equity
shareholders of the Company amounted to RMB448.3 million and
RMB408.2 million, respectively, representing a growth of 9.8%.
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REeRBESEEY Cash and Cash Equivalents

B ZE 2022612 431 BLAR#EZE 20234124318 - As of December 31, 2022 and as of December 31, 2023, the
REeRBESEBYHRAAREK40822HETLMA  cash and cash equivalents amounted to RMB4,082.2 million and
RM¥E3 748 0B 8T - AEEEBFREMEEESHm RMB3,748.9 million, respectively. The Group has sufficient working
BT NR - capital for operating requirements.

7 Inventories

HZE2022F 12 A31 HA K E =2023F12 A31H - As of December 31, 2022 and as of December 31, 2023, the
FENRAARE2553.1AB TMARK2581.1  inventories amounted to RMB2,553.1 million and RMB2,581.1

BEL ERFE - million, respectively, remaining relatively stable.

BREBCRELRE  RRELEFAEBAIEMSR - By optimizing the structure of product offerings and deepening the
AEBLENRBRERA  FTEHEEXREMH2022F  cooperation with upstream brand owners, the Group has improved
13K E2023F A 12K ° its operating efficiency, with the turnover days of inventories

decreasing from 13 days in 2022 to 12 days in 2023.

EARE BEREMERRIE Prepayments, Deposits and Other Receivables

2022912 431 H 2023 12 A31H » Jaff3k As at December 31, 2022 and December 31, 2023, the

B BeREMERZ DRI AARKI037.7EET prepayments, deposits and other receivables amounted to

MARKI3124B 8T  BREFMAER - RMB9,037.7 million and RMB9,312.4 million, respectively,
representing a slight increase over the last year.

EZENREREMRRE Trade and Bills Payables

R2022F 12 A31H X 2023F 12 A31H - 5 As at December 31, 2022 and December 31, 2023, the trade

HBENENZESRAARK15071.468TMA  and bills payables were RMB15,071.4 million and RMB15,516.0

R#¥15516.0B 87 * #K2.9% » EXFF o million, respectively, representing an increase of 2.9%, remaining
relatively stable.

2022F 2023 FE SEMRIEMEMNZEFAERE  The trade and bills payables turnover days were 68 days in 2022
DRI ABBRFTOR + EAFEF o and 70 days in 2023, remaining relatively stable.

BEXEX Capital Expenditures

2023FEART BARKII0OFEEIL  2022F &K  The capital expenditures of 2023 and 2022 were RMB33.0 million
Y AARES508ET  EAMNEARFASXTER  and RMBS55.0 million, respectively, which were used primarily for
REEBEWERZE - acquisition of properties and equipment.

EERMEBUER Employees and Remuneration Policy

2023F12A31H » REFEHLIERH4,508%2E T  As at December 31, 2023, the Group had employed a total of

REBETIZENALTEBRRBRRERBENFERE 4,508 employees. The Group hires and promotes its staff based on

AET - 2RBETIHHFNSEBEUANE ITMERIE K their person on-the-job performance and development potential.

MHHEKFE The remuneration package of all the employees depends on their
performance and market salary levels.
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SIGNIFICANT INVESTMENT HELD, MATERIAL
ACQUISITIONS AND DISPOSALS OF SUBSIDIARIES,
ASSOCIATES AND JOINT VENTURES

Acquisition of Nanjing Hosjoy Engineering

On March 21, 2023, the Company entered into an equity
acquisition agreement with Hosjoy Comfortable Smart Home Co.,
Ltd., an associate (as defined in the Listing Rules) of Mr. WANG
Jianguo, the single largest Shareholder and non-executive Director
of the Company, pursuant to which the Company acquired the
entire equity interest in Nanjing Hosjoy Engineering, which is an
investment holding company established in the PRC and has a
number of subsidiaries principally engaged in sales of household
appliances in the PRC, from Hosjoy Comfortable Smart Home Co.,
Ltd. at a consideration of RMB504,299,500.

Under the above equity acquisition agreement, Hosjoy
Comfortable Smart Home Co., Ltd. has made relevant commitment
to the Company in respect of the net profits realised on a
consolidated basis of Nanjing Hosjoy Engineering for the year
ended December 31, 2023, the year ending December 31, 2024
and the year ending December 31, 2025, and stipulated the
compensation method.

The performance of Nanjing Hosjoy Engineering for the year
ended December 31, 2023 meets the relevant undertaking.

The above acquisition was completed on May 5, 2023. Upon
completion of the acquisition, Nanjing Hosjoy Engineering became
a subsidiary of the Company, and its financial results were
consolidated into the financial statements of the Group. For further
details of the above acquisition, please refer to the announcement
of the Company dated March 21, 2023.

For the year ended December 31, 2023, save as disclosed above,
the Group did not hold any significant investments (including any
investment in an investee company with a value of 5% or more of
the Group’s total assets as at December 31, 2023) or have any
material acquisitions or disposal of subsidiaries, associates and
joint ventures.
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RSU SCHEME

On November 28, 2022 (the “Adoption Date”), the general
meeting of the Company approved and adopted the RSU Scheme.
The RSU Scheme involves no issue of new shares or granting of
options for any new securities of the Company and constitutes a
share scheme funded by existing Shares for the purpose of the
Listing Rules. The principal terms of the RSU Scheme are set out
below:

1. Purposes:

(a) to recognize the contributions made by the eligible
persons and provide incentives to them in order
to retain them for the continuous operation and
development of the Group;

(b) to attract talents for further development of the
Group and enhance competitiveness of such talents;
and

(c) to align the interests of eligible persons to the
Group’s values, enabling employees to work
towards the Group’s long-term development goals.

2. Eligible persons:

Eligible persons are persons who the Board or its
delegatee consider, in their sole discretion, to have
significantly contributed or will significantly contribute
to the development of the Group, including employees,
directors (excluding independent non-executive directors),
supervisors, senior management, and key operating team
member of any member of the Group.

3. Maximum number of Shares to be granted and maximum
entitlement of each Participant under the RSU Scheme:

The Company shall not make any further grant which will
result in the aggregate number of H Shares granted in
relation to the RSUs under the RSU Scheme to exceed
5.0% of the total number of issued H Shares as at the
relevant grant date.

There is no specific limit on the maximum entitlement of
each participant under the RSU scheme.

4. Vesting period of the award granted under the RSU
Scheme:

The Board or the delegatee may from time to time while the
RSU Scheme is in force and subject to all applicable laws,
rules, and regulations, determine such vesting criteria and
conditions or periods for the award to be vested hereunder.
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B, The payable upon acceptance of the award:

The grantee is not required to pay any fund to the
Company as consideration of the grant.

6. Validity period of the RSU Scheme:

Subject to the Board’s decision to early terminate the RSU
Scheme, the RSU Scheme shall be valid and effective for
a term of ten (10) years commencing on the Adoption Date
(i.e., November 28, 2032). The remaining life of the RSU
Scheme as at the date of this report is approximately 8.6
years.

Details of the RSU Scheme were set out in the circular of the
Company dated November 11, 2022.

On April 6, 2023, the Company granted an aggregate of 4,842,500
RSUs (“Phase | Share Incentive”), representing 4,842,500 H
Shares, which accounted for approximately 0.86% of the total
number of issued Shares as at the Latest Practicable Date and
approximately 2.69% of the total number of H Shares as at the
Latest Practicable Date, to 494 selected participants pursuant to
the RSU Scheme, and the above grant is subject to acceptance
by the selected participants. Details of the above grant of RSUs
are set out in the announcement of the Company dated April 6,
2023.

On December 27, 2023, the Company granted an aggregate
of 4,157,000 RSUs (“Phase Il Share Incentive”), representing
4,157,000 H Shares, which accounted for approximately 0.74%
of the total number of issued Shares as at the Latest Practicable
Date and approximately 2.31% of the total number of H Shares
as at the Latest Practicable Date, to 259 selected participants
pursuant to the RSU Scheme, and the above grant is subject to
acceptance by the selected participants. Details of the above
grant of RSUs are set out in the announcement of the Company
dated December 27, 2023.

As at end of the Reporting Period, the number of H Shares
underlying the unvested RSUs granted under the RSU Scheme is
8,570,520 Shares, representing approximately 1.52% of the total
number of issued Shares as at the Latest Practicable Date and
approximately 4.75% of the total number of H Shares as at the
Latest Practicable Date.
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Details of the unvested RSUs at the beginning and at the end of

B the Reporting Period are as follows:
RBEDR
During the Reporting Period
#2023 #2023
BEAR 1818 124318
GXER BEE AHR AHR
Vesting (#7)  Unvested Unvested
period and  Purchase as at as at
£l R REE performance price  January 1, EEF CHEE oHEH# B4%% December 31,
Type Date of grant®? targets (HKS) 2023  Granted  Vested Cancelled Lapsed 2023
1.2 1. Directors
%3 -vika Mr. XU Xiuxian 20234768 i3 z 0 180,000 0 0 0 180,000
April 6, 2023 Note 3 Nil
2023F12A27R R z 0 160,000 0 0 0 160,000
December 27, 2023 Note 4 Nil
BRERE Mr. ZHAO Liangsheng 20234 A6H i3 z 0 100,000 0 0 0 100,000
April 6, 2023 Note 3 Nil
2023F12A27A 4 Z 0 90,000 0 0 0 90,000
December 27, 2023 Note 4 Nil
FRtE Mr. SUN Chao 2023%F4F6H i3 z 0 100,000 0 0 0 100,000
April 6, 2023 Note 3 Nil
2023%12A278 4 Z 0 60,000 0 0 0 60,000
December 27, 2023 Note 4 Nil
2.EZ 2. Supervisors
Yy Mr. LI Wei 202354 A6 i3 g 0 80,000 0 0 0 80,000
April 6, 2023 Note 3 Nil
202312278 4 Z 0 50,000 0 0 0 50,000
December 27, 2023 Note 4 Nil
IEERE Mr. MAO Yijun 2023%4R6H 3 z 0 80,000 0 0 0 80,000
April 6, 2023 Note 3 Nil
2023F128278 T4 z 0 55,000 0 0 0 55,000
December 27, 2023 Note 4 Nil
TRELE Mr. WANG Xinghua 20234568 i3 Z 0 50,000 0 0 0 50,000
April 6, 2023 Note 3 Nil
2023124278 4 Z 0 35,000 0 0 0 35,000
December 27, 2023 Note 4 Nil
LEZBEEMAL 3. Two of the five 202354 F6H i3 z 0 180,000 0 0 0 180,000
WA E highest paid April 6, 2023 Note 3 Nil
individuals®e? 202312 427H R z 0 120,000 0 0 0 120,000
December 27, 2023 Note 4 Nil
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REEHR
During the Reporting Period
#2023 #2023
HEER 1A18 12A318
EHER BEE A5R 58
Vesting (A7)  Unvested Unvested
period and  Purchase as at as at
£5l BT AHE performance price January 1, BRF CHE D B4 December 31,
Type Date of grant®t? targets (HKS) 2023  Granted  Vested Cancelled Lapsed 2023
4, 4. Employees
ARE FEPAA Employees of 2023F4 A6H i3 z 0 3,602,000 0 0 295830 3,306,170
kA #HEE the Company, April 6, 2023 Note 3 Nil
business units 2023F12427A 4 z 0 3,587,000 0 0 0 3,587,000
companies and December 27, 2023 Note 4 Nil
divisions
ARTHMMEAF Employees of 202354 A6H 5 z 0 383400 0 0 46,050 337,350
[E& other subsidiaries of ~April 6, 2023 Note 5 Nil
the Company
@t Total 0 8,912,400 0 0 341,880 8,570,520
i Notes:
(1) HEB3HAES  ERNLERPEBIT - (1) The remaining three are Directors, who have been listed
separately in the above table.
(2) EETFIREENEMAFEFRHEENAABE (2) The fair value of the RSUs granted at the date of grant was

mE%FHHxW“%EHHEWszJE o ELEE T

CHIRR—HIRESEE TEROKmES
31,1570 BER T BHAT (B12023F4 A4
H)HRH KT EA31.108 7T « HIRHN — HAR
RSB T A MR T (B B28.70/8 7T « BiEE
F B HA (B12023F 12 228 ) HIRH KT (B
A28 10/ TT °

measured based on the closing price of the H Shares on the
date of grant. In particular, the closing price of the H Shares on
the date of grant of the Phase | Share Incentive was HK$31.15,
and the closing price of the Company’s H Shares immediately
before the date of grant (i.e., April 4, 2023) was HK$31.10; the
closing price of the H Shares on the date of grant of the Phase
Il Share Incentive was HK$28.70, and the closing price of the
H Shares immediately before the date of grant (i.e., December
22, 2023) was HK$28.10.
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k2026 F £ B EBTIHB EMEMBRIMR
R -

SREBIEMIR C R2026FE4 A2 8RB -
BB IZ ¢ (1)20234F ~ 20244 ~ 2025F EHE
ZFEARRBRERE ARMEFRER L EET
ER30% : & (2)EAb A R20234F « 2024
F 2025 F BB = FRATFER LI R TER
10% ©

M2023%F1H1H K2023F12A31H - 1R#E
ZREIRMOBELFETRENEHEE DR
9,013,316 A Rl i tn B iz 2 442,796 (B[R
B A7 BEAL

Vesting schedule: as to 10% of the RSUs in November 2024;
as to 20% of the RSUs in November 2025; as to 20% of the
RSUs in November 2026; as to 20% of the RSUs in November
2027; and as to 30% of the RSUs in November 2028.

Performance targets: (i) no less than 30% year-on-year
increase in net profits attributable to equity shareholders of the
Company in the preceding year; (ii) accomplishment of profit
targets for the corresponding preceding year by the business
unit in which such participant serves; and (iii) achievement of
individual performance indicators.

Vesting schedule: fully vested in April 2027.

Performance targets: (i) the Company records more than 100%
increase in the net profits attributable to equity shareholders
of the Company in 2026 as compared to 2023; and (ii) vesting
at different tiers based on the accomplishment of profit targets
of the respective business unit for 2024, 2025 and 2026 by the
business units in which such employees serve.

Vesting schedule: fully vested in April 2026.

Performance targets: (1) no less than 30% year-on-year
increase in the net profits attributable to equity shareholders
of the Company for three consecutive years of 2023, 2024 and
2025; and (2) no less than 10% year-on-year increase in profits
before tax of other subsidiaries for the three consecutive years
of 2023, 2024 and 2025.

The number of awards available for grant under the RSU
Scheme as at January 1, 2023 and December 31, 2023 are
9,013,316 RSUs and 442,796 RSUs.
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The Company does not issue or allot additional new Shares in
connection with the grant and the grant will not result in any
dilution effect on the shareholding of the existing Shareholders of
the Company.

In order to implement the RSU Scheme, the Company entrusted
China Credit Trust Co., Ltd. and COFCO Trust Co., Ltd.
(independent third parties independent of the Company and
its connected persons (as defined in the Listing Rules), the
“Trustees”), qualified trust managers, to purchase H Shares
through on-market transactions at the prevailing market price as
the incentive source.

Pursuant to the Listing Rules and the RSU Scheme, the Trustees
holding the unvested H Shares in relation to the RSUs shall
abstain from voting on matters requiring the approval of the
Shareholders in accordance with the Listing Rules, unless
otherwise required by law to act in accordance with the beneficial
owner’s direction and such a direction is given.

Subject to the rules relating to the RSU Scheme and compliance
with all relevant laws, rules and regulations, the Board and/or the
delegatee will, depending on the market conditions, instruct the
Trustees to continue to make on-market purchase of H Shares in
due course.

PLEDGE OF ASSETS

As of December 31, 2023, inventories of RMB59.7 million (2022:
RMB21.1 million) were pledged as security for issuance of bills
payable, bank loans and other borrowings.

As of December 31, 2023, prepayments of RMB4.1 million (2022:
RMB36.7 million) were pledged as security for bank loans and
other borrowings.

As of December 31, 2023, the pledged deposits for the issuance
of bills payable, letters of guarantee and bank loans amounted to
RMB5,702.7 million (2022: RMB5,149.7 million).

As of December 31, 2023, structured deposits and wealth
management products of RMB1,810.2 million (2022: RMB1,497.5
million) were used as pledge for the issuance of bills payable.

LIQUIDITY AND CAPITAL RESOURCES

We have historically met our working capital and other capital
requirements principally from capital contributions from the
Shareholders, redeemable capital contributions from investors,
bank loans and other borrowings and cash generated from
operating activities. As at December 31, 2023, our cash and
cash equivalents were RMB3,748.94 million, as compared to
RMB4,082.24 million as at December 31, 2022.
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THE GROUP’S PLANS TO MAKE MATERIAL
INVESTMENTS OR ACQUIRE CAPITAL ASSET IN THE
FUTURE

As of December 31, 2023, we had no specific plans for material
investments or acquisitions of capital assets.

GEARING RATIO

As of December 31, 2023, the gearing ratio of the Group was
7.4%. The gearing ratio is calculated based on total debts divided
by the total amount of equity. Total debts include bank loans
and other borrowings, loans from non-controlling shareholders of
subsidiaries and lease liabilities.

The Directors believe that the Group’s gearing ratio is within the
normal range, which will promote the enhancement of business
vitality and the further exploration of the market.

RISK OF EXCHANGE RATE FLUCTUATIONS AND
ANY RELATED HEDGING

The Group mainly operates in the PRC and its transactions are
mainly settled in RMB, therefore, the business of the Group is not
subject to any material foreign exchange risk.

The Group entered into several foreign currency forward exchange
contracts with a bank to manage its currency risk arising from
certain cash and cash equivalents denominated in HK$ until the
settlement date of the contracts. Details are set out in Note 28 to
the consolidated financial statements of this annual report.

Details of the currency risk of the Group are set out in Note 36(d)
to the consolidated financial statements of this annual report.

The Group will continue to monitor changes in foreign exchange
in an effort to maintain its cash value.

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

As at December 31, 2023, the Group did not have any material
contingent liabilities.
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OVERVIEW

The Board currently consists of nine Directors, comprising three
Executive Directors, three Non-executive Directors and three
independent non-executive Directors. The Board is responsible,
and has the general authority for, the management and operation
of the Company. Our Directors are appointed for a term of three
years and are eligible for re-election upon expiry of their term of
office. The independent non-executive Directors shall not hold
office for more than six consecutive years.

The Board of Supervisors currently consists of three Supervisors,
including one Supervisor appointed by general meetings and two
staff representative Supervisors elected at staff representative
meetings. The Board of Supervisors is responsible for supervising
the performance of duty of the Board and the senior management
of the Company and overseeing the financial, internal control and
risk conditions of the Company. The Supervisors are appointed for
a term of three years and are eligible for re-election upon expiry
of their term of office.

The senior management is responsible for the management of
day-to-day operations of the Company.

BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS,
SUPERVISORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Chairman of the Board and Non-executive Director

Mr. WANG Jianguo, aged 63, is the founder of the Group and
has been the chairman of the Board and a non-executive Director
since November 2015. He is mainly responsible for presiding over
the decision-making of external affairs and strategic development
of the Group.
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Mr. Wang has over 20 years of experience in retail business
and corporate management. He worked at the Department of
Commerce of Jiangsu Province (JL#R&EZ£EE) from July 1981
to April 1993 and served as the general manager of Jiangsu
Wujiaohua Corporation (L& % A& X E(L T A7A]), a state-owned
company mainly engaged in the sales of home appliances, where
he was primarily responsible for its overall management from April
1993 to June 2002. He served as the chairman and the president
of Jiangsu Five Star Appliance Co., Ltd. (“Five Star Appliance”)
(IHAEERAMRAF]), a company engaged in the sales of
household appliance, from December 1998 to February 2009 and
Mr. Wang does not hold any direct or indirect equity interest in
Five Star Appliance since February 2009. Mr. Wang has been the
chairman of the board of directors of Five Star Holdings since
February 2009.

Mr. Wang concurrently serves as the chairman of the board of
directors of Kidswant Children Products Co., Ltd. (ZF+EREH
Mm% EBRAF], a company engaged in the sales and service of
maternal and children products which is listed on the ChiNext,
stock code: 301078) since June 2012. He also serves as an
independent non-executive director at Honma Golf Limited (7
Me@BAARAT) a company listed on the Hong Kong Stock
Exchange (stock code: 6858), and Simcere Pharmaceutical Group
Limited (B EXLEBAFRAF]), a company listed on the Hong
Kong Stock Exchange (stock code: 2096), since September 2016
and November 2019, respectively.

Mr. Wang obtained a master’'s degree in Business Management
from the Australian National University upon completion of the
Executive Master of Business Administration (‘EMBA”) programme
in July 2004. He completed all the requirements prescribed by
Shanghai Advanced Institute of Finance for the DBA (Doctor of
Business Administration) in Global Finance Program (L/&5# %
BEE 24 @DBAEE) in July 2018. He also obtained a Ph.D.
in Business Administration in Global Finance from Arizona State
University, U.S.A. in May 2018.
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Mr. Wang has been the vice chairman of Jiangsu General
Chamber of Commerce since December 2014. He was awarded
the Service Industry Professional Special Contribution Award (AR
HEEE AAERIEEZE) by Jiangsu Provincial People’s Government
in October 2014. He was also granted the Outstanding
Achievement Award by the China Chain Store & Franchise
Association (FREEHEFEMFDE) in November 2012. He was
elected as the Model Worker of the National Business System (&
B8 R4 E1EEE) by the Ministry of Personnel and the Ministry
of Commerce of the PRC in 2007.

Executive Directors

Mr. XU Xiuxian, aged 60, is the co-founder of the Group and
has been an executive Director and the chief executive officer
of the Company since its inception. He is mainly responsible for
leading the business development of the Group and presiding
over the decision-making and execution of the major business,
development and investment plans.

Mr. Xu has more than 20 years of experience in retail business
and corporate management. Mr. Xu served as the section chief
of the Consumer Price Office of the Department of Commerce of
Jiangsu Province (JILERETIFREYELE), the manager of Jiangsu
Wujiaohua Corporation, where he was responsible for the air-
conditioning business from March 1993 to November 1998, the
general manager of Jiangsu Xingpu Technology Trading Co., Ltd.
(CIEELTRIEE S AR AR, a home appliance trading company,
where he was primarily responsible for its overall operation and
management from November 1998 to December 2004, and an
executive vice president of Five Star Appliance from December
2004 to March 2009.

Mr. Xu graduated from Hangzhou Business School (#i)NEEp7)
(currently known as Zhejiang Gongshang University Hangzhou
College of Commerce (HTT T K24/ E6R)) in the PRC with a
bachelor’'s degree in Business and Enterprise Management in July
1983. He subsequently completed postgraduate courses in Global
Economy at the School of Economics of Fudan University (88X
2) in Shanghai, the PRC in June 2000 and obtained a master’s
degree in EMBA at Cheung Kong Graduate School of Business (&
ST ERT) in Beijing, the PRC in September 2011.
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Mr. Xu was recognized for his excellence in leadership and
obtained the award of National Trade and Circulation Services
Model Workers and Advanced Workers (2B E R BRIEELH
EEF S TYEE) in September 2015, and won the 2018 China
Electronic Appliances Service Association Outstanding President
Award (FEIXERBEEMRZTHEESEER) in January 2019,
and was also named one of the China Industrial Internet TOP 10
Leaders 2019 (REIEXEHHE T REEAY) in July 2019 and
obtained the China Electrical Appliances Industry Outstanding
Leader Award 2019 (FBIKE1TE 2 BEM2Z) in October 2019.

Mr. ZHAO Liangsheng, aged 49, has been an executive Director
since May 2021. He has been the chief financial officer and vice
president of the Company since January 2013, during which he
also served as the secretary to the Board from January 2013 to
September 2023. Mr. Zhao is primarily responsible for overseeing
the Group’s financial affairs.

Mr. Zhao has more than 20 years of experience in financial
management. Mr. Zhao served as a project manager of Jiangsu
Tianheng Certified Public Accountants Co., Ltd. (T#AE S5t
B FTABR A R]) (currently known as Tianheng Certified Public
Accountants (Special General Partnership) (K& &z ST (B R
A7) from July 1998 to April 2004, a financial director in Zhejiang
Yulong Industrial Co., Ltd. (MIHEE XKD ERAF]), where he
was primarily responsible for the overall financial management,
from May 2004 to September 2005, an audit manager in Zhengda
Tianging Pharmaceutical Group Co., Ltd. (IEAKRFBEEELBE R
B BRAE]), where he was primarily responsible for the internal
auditing, from October 2005 to December 2007, a deputy general
manager of Nanjing Shangde Investment Management Co., Ltd.
(AR LEEEEEEARAR) from 2007 to 2009 and the chief
financial officer of Five Star Holdings from 2009 to 2012.

Mr. Zhao has been a certified public accountant conferred by
Certified Accounting Examination Committee of the Ministry
of Finance (BB EMtest=ZHZ8€) since June 2001. Mr.
Zhao obtained his bachelor’'s degree in Business Management
(Accounting) from Southeast University (REIAE) in Nanjing, the
PRC in June 1998.
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Mr. SUN Chao, aged 36, has been an executive Director since
February 2023, and has been a vice president of the Company
since July 2015 and is primarily responsible for assisting the
president of the Company with operation and management
of the Group and the member stores. Mr. Sun currently holds
directorship or managerial positions at several subsidiaries within
the Group, including the chairman of the board of directors of
Jiangsu Wokewang Information Technology Co., Ltd (TER¥AJ48
= B RIEBBRAR]) since April 2018, a general manager of Huitong
Datatech Smart Technology Co., Ltd. (EBEREERIBERAR)
since September 2019 and an executive director and a general
manager of Nanjing Shumei Network Technology Co., Ltd. (F8
RMEERFLRHREMR AR since January 2020. Prior to joining
the Group, he served as a project team member and a general
manager of Haier mall of Haier Group E-commerce Co., Ltd. (/&
WMEBETHEBARAR), where he was primarily responsible
for the operation of Haier e-commerce platform from May 2009
to November 2010 and from November 2010 to July 2015,
respectively.

Mr. Sun obtained a bachelor’ s degree in management in
E-commerce from Shandong University of Science and
Technology (IUERIEAE) in the PRC in June 2010, and a
master’'s degree in Business Administration from Fudan University
(fEBKE) in the PRC in January 2020. Mr. Sun received the Prize
of CTOA Most Influential Technological Leadership (CTOA &E4E
B AHE %84 2E); was nominated for the Nanjing High-level Talents
2019 (ARMEE R AA) in January 2019; was awarded the Prize
of CTDC Internet Industry Technological Leadership Outstanding
Figures 2018 (CTDCEBBITERMBENRZAME); and
won the first place in National Internet Commerce Innovative
Application Competition 2009 (&I ESEIFTERRE) in May
2009.
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Non-executive Directors (excluding the Chairman of the
Board)

Mr. CAl Zhongqiu, aged 53, has been a non-executive Director
since May 2021 and is primarily responsible for participating in
evaluation and approval of business plans, strategies and major
decisions of the Group through the Board. Mr. Cai served as the
investment director in SDIC Chuangyi Industry Fund Management
Co., Ltd. (H&KAZEXZESEEAMRAA) from August 2016 to
August 2018 and has been serving as the executive director since
August 2018.

Mr. Cai has extensive experience in equity investment and
corporate management. Mr. Cai obtained a doctoral degree in
Management Engineering from the China University of Mining and
Technology (Beijing) (FREIIEZEARZIRHRK) in the PRC in June
2011.

Mr. WANG Ran, aged 37, has been a non-executive Director
since November 2022, and has been an executive director of
the strategic investment department of Alibaba Group Holding
Limited, a company listed on the Hong Kong Stock Exchange
(stock code: 9988) and the New York Stock Exchange (stock
code: BABA) since July 2018; since October 2021, he has been
a director of Shanghai Baison Co., Ltd. (B8 & BEFRMDER
‘A\]), the shares of which are listed on the National Equities
Exchange and Quotations (stock code: 832722); since June 2023,
he has served as a non-executive director of Cloud Music Inc., a
company listed on the Hong Kong Stock Exchange (stock code:
9899).

From March 2013 to May 2018, Mr. Wang served as the
investment manager of Private Equity Asia Department of Morgan
Stanley (China) Private Equity Investment Management Co., Ltd.
(ERTHAF(PE)REREEREERAF]); from February 2012 to
March 2013, he successively served as the investment manager
and analyst of the Bank of China Group Investment Limited.

Mr. Wang graduated from the University of Oxford in the United
Kingdom with a master's degree in financial economics in July
2011,
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Independent Non-executive Directors

Ms. YU Lixin, aged 58, has been an independent non-executive
Director since June 2022. Ms. Yu has been serving as the
managing partner of Talent Certified Public Accountants LLP since
November 2013; an independent director of Gstarsoft Co., Ltd. (#k
MEREFR D AR A F]) (a company listed on the STAR Market
of the PRC (stock code: 688657)) since November 2020; and an
independent director of Jinling Hotel Corporation, Ltd. (£ME8Rk/E
&2 B R AR]) (a company listed on the Shanghai Stock Exchange
(stock code: 601007)) since June 2022.

From August 1987 to November 2013, Ms. Yu successively served
as an audit assistant, project manager, department manager and
deputy general manager of Jiangsu Accounting Firm (currently
known as Talent Certified Public Accountants LLP). From
October 2018 to March 2022, Ms. Yu served as an independent
director of Jiangsu Hualan New Pharmaceutical Materials Co.,
Ltd. CLERERHZERFTM RN BIRAF]) (a company listed on the
Growth Enterprise Market of the PRC (stock code: 301093)); an
independent director of Jiangsu Efful Science and Technology
Co., Ltd. (—KBHZRMD B A F]) from June 2019 to April 2022; an
independent director of Wuxi DK Electronic Materials Co., Ltd. (a
company listed on the Growth Enterprise Market of the PRC (stock
code: 300842)) from April 2018 to May 2023.

Ms. Yu graduated from Soochow University with a bachelor’s
degree in economics in July 1987. She was accredited as a
Chinese Certified Public Accountant by the Chinese Institute of
Certified Public Accountants in October 1992.

Mr. LIU Xiangdong, aged 57, has been an independent non-
executive Director since May 2021. He is responsible for
supervising and providing independent advice to the Board.

Mr. Liu has been working in Renmin University of China (B A
RKXE) with his current position as a professor. He was also an
independent non-executive director of Shanghai Laiyifen Co.,
Ltd. (EERFNBRMDERAF]), a company listed on the Shanghai
Stock Exchange (stock code: 603777) from November 2016 to
November 2022.
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Mr. Liu obtained his bachelor's degree, master's degree and
doctoral degree in Economics from Renmin University of China in
the PRC in July 1988, July 1991 and June 2002, respectively.

Mr. DIAO Yang, aged 50, has been an independent non-
executive Director since November 2023. Mr. Diao has over 17
years of experience in corporate finance and has deep insights
and opinions of China’s technology, media and communications
and consumer goods industries.

Mr. Diao founded Paradigm Advisors Holdings (Hong Kong)
Limited (BEEAREEBARAF]) in November 2016 and has
been serving as its director since then. He has been the co-
founder of Parantoux Capital Limited (BspEARER A T]) since
March 2016. From October 2014 to April 2016, he worked as a
managing director of the investment banking department of China
Renaissance Securities (Hong Kong) Limited. He worked at J.P.
Morgan Securities (Asia Pacific) Limited from May 2006 to October
2014, where his last position was a managing director at the
global investment banking department. He worked as an associate
at Morgan Stanley Asia Limited from July 2005 to April 2006.
Since October 2023, Mr. Diao has served as an independent non-
executive director in Tian Tu Capital Co., Ltd. (FYITKERE
EERMAER AT, a company listed on the Hong Kong Stock
Exchange (stock code: 1973) and the National Equities Exchange
and Quotations (stock code: 833979.NQ).

Mr. Diao obtained his bachelor's degree in economics from
Connecticut College in the United States in May 1997, and
obtained his master's degree of business administration from
Columbia Business School in the United States in May 2001.
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Supervisors

Mr. WANG Xinghua, aged 43, has been the chairman of Board of
Supervisors since November 2015 and is primarily responsible for
supervising the Board and overseeing our operations. He has also
served as the director of president office of the Company since
February 2018 and the deputy director of the human resources
and administration center of the Company since January 2024,
where he is primarily responsible for the Company’s public affairs,
brand promotion, and administration. He also concurrently serves
as a supervisor of Jiangsu Dachuang Electric Co., Ltd. (JT#k#E
BIE AR AR]), one of the Group's subsidiaries, since January
2013.

Mr. Wang has extensive experience in human resources
management and administrative management. He worked at
the human resources center in Five Star Appliance from July
2003 to February 2009, served as a director assistant at the
human resources center of Five Star Holdings from March 2009
to December 2011, and served as the director of the human
resources center of our Company from January 2012 to February
2018.

Mr. Wang obtained a bachelor’'s degree in Human Resources
Management from Nanjing University of Science and Technology
(BRI KE) in the PRC in June 2003. He obtained the
Economics Professional Qualification (Intermediate Level)
in January 2013 from Nanjing Professional and Technical
Qualification Assessment Center (PR EZERIMAEBRBIN
).

Mr. LI Wei, aged 47, has been a Supervisor since June 2020 and
is primarily responsible for supervising the Board and overseeing
our operations. He also serves as the assistant to the president
and CEO of business division of the Company since March 2019.
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Mr. Li has over 25 years of experience in retail and distribution
business. Mr. Li successively served as the head of the air
conditioner business division of Five Star Appliance; a deputy
general manager of Jiangsu Xingpu Science and Technology
Trading Co., Ltd. (I&E L& EHR2A7A]), a home appliance
trading company, where he was primarily responsible for assisting
the general manager for the internal management and the sales
of air conditioner from October 2002 to February 2009; a general
manager of Jiangsu Sanchuang Trading Co., Ltd. (T&=4I%
BAERAF]), a home appliance trading company, where he was
primarily responsible for the sales management of air conditioners
and washing machines, from March 2009 to September 2014;
a general manager of the Sunan branch of our Company from
December 2014 to December 2018; and a director of the platform
support center of the Company from December 2018 to December
2019.

Mr. Li obtained an associate degree in Marketing from the Jiangsu
Provincial Party School of the Chinese Communist Party (T# & %)
in the PRC in October 1998.

Mr. MAO Yijun, aged 41, has been a Supervisor since May
2021 and is primarily responsible for supervising the Board and
overseeing our operations. He joined the Group in April 2015
and currently serves as the director of the human resources
and administration center of the Company since November
2019 and is responsible for the organization, talent acquisition
and management, work incentive and cultural affairs of our
Company. He has also served as the assistant to the president
of the Company since January 2023 and is primarily responsible
for assisting the president of the Company with operation and
management of the Group.

Mr. Mao worked in Suning Electric Co., Ltd. (32 EEMRMHER
~|]), a company principally operating franchised retail shops
of electronics appliances in China, where he was primarily
responsible for the marketing from October 2009 to August 2012;
and the manager of key customer division of Nanjing Skyworth
Household Appliances Co., Ltd. (BRAIMRAEZER AR,
a company principally engaged in the R&D and production of
household appliances, where he was primarily responsible for
the domestic e-commerce business of refrigerators and washing
machines of Skyworth, from September 2012 to March 2015.
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Mr. Mao graduated from the Northwestern Polytechnical University
(FAIE TEKE) in Xi'an, the PRC with a bachelor's degree in
Software Engineering in July 2004.

Senior Management

Mr. XU Xiuxian. See “—Directors, Supervisors and Senior
Management — Executive Directors”.

Mr. ZHAO Liangsheng. See “—Directors, Supervisors and Senior
Management — Executive Directors”.

Mr. XING Jianhong, aged 53, has been a vice president of
the Company since January 2015 and is primarily responsible
for assisting the president of our Company with operation and
management of our Group and the consumer electronics business.
Mr. Xing currently holds directorship or managerial positions at
several subsidiaries within our Group, including a director of
Wanhulian New Energy Technology Co., Ltd. (BBt R A
R~ 7]) since July 2017, a general manager of Yifantong Network
Technology Co., Ltd. (B LiBAEHE B R EF 2 a]) since October
2019, a general manager of Jiangsu Xinglihui Network Technology
Co., Ltd. (I#HE L BAEE AR A 7F]) since December 2019, an
executive director of Tianjin Huayifan Network Technology Co.,
Ltd. (REZEEAMLEEHLBR A F]) since December 2019 and an
executive director of Jiangsu Yiyuntong Digital Technology Co.,
Ltd. (L& (EEBEEE R AR A R]) since December 2020.

Mr. Xing served as a deputy director of the procurement division,
a branch general manager and the director of the development
division of Five Star Appliance from December 1998 to December
2012 and a regional general manager of Shanghai Red Star
Macalline Enterprise Development Co., Ltd. (E/B4EXSED
¥ RAMR AT, a homebuilding and renovation materials sales
company, where he was primarily responsible for the development
and operation of commercial properties from January 2013 to
December 2014.

Mr. Xing completed postgraduate courses in corporate planning
and corporate development at Nanjing University, the PRC in
September 2004.

Mr. SUN Chao. See “—Directors, Supervisors and Senior
Management — Executive Directors”.
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Ms. NI Juan, aged 49, has been the Vice President of the
Company and the Secretary to the Board since September 2023.
Ms. Ni is primarily responsible for assisting the president of the
Company in operating the Company and overseeing the corporate
governance of the Group.

Ms. Ni has extensive experience in corporate management and
corporate governance of listed companies. From May 1998 to
June 2012, Ms. Ni successively served as the administrative
secretary and the secretary of the youth league committee of
Xinjiang Guanghui Industry Investment Group Co., Ltd. (¥1:@8&
EEXRE(EE)BREMTAR) (“Xinjiang Guanghui Industry
Group”), the deputy head of the mortgage department, a
member of the Party committee, the head of the corporate culture
department of the group, a member of the Party committee and
the head of the strategic operation department of the group. From
June 2012 to April 2023, she served as a director, deputy general
manager and secretary to the board of directors of Guanghui
Energy Co., Ltd. (EEGRKHBERAR]), a company listed on
the Shanghai Stock Exchange (stock code: 600256). From March
2017 to June 2020, she also served as the legal representative
and executive director of Xinjiang Guanghui Silk Road Cultural
Tourism Investment Co., Ltd.(FTEBEEMAIE LIREREGRA
Al). From May 2023 to July 2023, she served as the assistant
to the president and the general manager of the capital market
department of Xinjiang Guanghui Industry Group.

Ms. Ni obtained a master’'s degree in political economics from
Renmin University of China and has the qualification of economist.

Ms. Ni has been the legal representative of the Listed Company
Association of Xinjiang since 2015, and concurrently served as
the director, executive director and vice president of the third
and fourth sessions of the council, and the chairman of the
Board Secretary Professional Committee of the Listed Company
Association of Xinjiang.
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Joint Company Secretaries

Ms. TANG Min, aged 44, has been one of the joint company
secretaries of the Company since January 2022. Ms. Tang
currently is the Deputy Director of the Office of the Secretary of
the Board. She joined the Group in April 2013 and is primarily
responsible for capital financing of the Company. She served as
a financial accountant of Jiangsu Shangfa Home Appliances Co.,
Ltd. CIERBERSZERAF) from June 1997 to November 2001
and a senior financial supervisor of Pentagon Freight Services
(Singapore) Private Limited (FTMMFEAAEEBRAR) from
October 2009 to January 2011.

Ms. Tang obtained a bachelor's degree of science in Applied
Accounting from Oxford Brookes Business School in the UK
in July 2009. She completed Fundamentals Level of the ACCA
examinations in December 2008.

Ms. AU Wai Ching, has been one of the joint company secretaries
of our Company since January 2022. Ms. Au is a senior manager
of SWCS Corporate Services Group (Hong Kong) Limited, which is
a corporate service provider.

She is an associate member of the Hong Kong Chartered
Governance Institute and the Chartered Governance Institute
in the United Kingdom. She obtained her bachelor’s degree in
business administration and her master’'s degree in corporate
governance from the City University of Hong Kong.
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The Board is pleased to present its report together with the
audited consolidated financial statements of the Group for the
year ended December 31, 2023.

BUSINESS
Principal Activities

The Group is a fast growing commerce and service platform
dedicated to serving business customers in China’s retail market,
and endeavour to provide quality merchandise and services to
China’s lower-tier market.

Results of Operations

The results of the Group for the year ended December 31, 2023
are set out in the consolidated statement of profit or loss in this
annual report.

Business Review

A objective review of the Group’s business, including an analysis
of the Group’s financial performance, indicators of the likely
future development of the Group’s business are set out in the
“Chairman’s Statement” and “Management Discussion and
Analysis” sections of this annual report. These discussions form
part of the Group’s business review.

DIVIDEND POLICY AND FINAL DIVIDEND

The Company is a joint stock limited company incorporated
under the laws of the People’s Republic of China. Pursuant to the
Article of Association, the Company may apply cash or by way of
shares to distribute dividends. Any distribution of dividends shall
be formulated a distribution plan by the Board and subject to
consideration and approval on general meeting of the Company.
Any distribution of dividends paid by the Company shall be
determined by the Board with absolute discretion on various
factors, including actual operation results, cash flows, financial
position, expected working capital needed in the future and
business expansion plan, laws, regulations and other contracts
restrictions, as well as other factors that the Board may consider
appropriate.

Pursuant to the relevant provisions of the Company Law of the
People’'s Republic of China and the Articles of Association relating
to the distribution of profits, the Board does not recommend the
payment of final dividend for the year ended December 31, 2023.
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FERMKRTHBERZE MAJOR RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES

BMPERNEIERBETHARERE

We are subject to the following major risks and uncertainties:

HWERMAREBERBEZPABIIFES » K
65 P BB E B K F EBURARRE - B3
MOM BRI RRGELAELEEXIERT

2

B R 5 E B AR TS SR IR H
BRHFER - HEEFTRRRENERE
B ABEMEFTRELRBZENTREIN

° If we fail to retain existing customers or attract new
customers, or if our customers decrease their level of
business resulting in lower revenue contribution, our
financial condition and business operations may be
materially and adversely affected.

° Our commerce business relies on the lower-tier market’s
demand for the merchandise we offer. A material change
in consumer demand or preferences, or any unexpected

R TN RANESREE EEES
EATFIZE -

situation with a negative impact on market demand may
materially and adversely affect our business and results of
operations.

. BAEZBAEEERGIRERE - SOREE o
BERHER - SRS HRMANRIE R
BRRELEXTHZE -

Our inability to maintain stable relationships with our
suppliers, or failure to secure alternative suppliers, could
have a material and adverse effect on our business and
financial condition.

. HWRMRERESARENTL R - A1 o
MNEBRBESGRINERTNFE -

If we are unable to provide satisfactory customer services,
our business and reputation may be materially and
adversely affected.

. BAMRRBHERNTAINTE -8 o
RIETNE BB A N AT RE SR IR0
BRBEREEETTNEE -

Any delivery delay, improper handling of goods or increase
in transportation costs of our logistic service providers
could adversely affect our business and results of
operations.

LALERBIY 3RSl - BREFLBBRERIABKE  As the major risks and uncertainties mentioned above are not

E=4-Gl exhaustive, please refer to the section headed “Risk Factors” in
the Prospectus for detailed information.
RIFBURR&RR ENVIRONMENTAL POLICY AND PERFORMANCE

AEBYEEBRECREAR - RBEHAR - XK
B3 AN E T IR MBS E R E -

The Group is not exposed to significant environmental risks.
During the Reporting Period, no fines or other penalties were
imposed on the Group for non-compliance with environmental
regulations.

AEBENREBRRERRFABHANEHEFTHER
EEBLZMNA R RO ARRRRE &R

SAMmE] o

Details of the Group’s environmental policy and performance are
set out in the Company’s environmental, social and governance
report (the “ESG Report”) published on the websites of the Hong
Kong Stock Exchange and the Company in due course.

2

I
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RELATIONSHIP WITH STAKEHOLDERS
Employees

As of December 31, 2023, the Group had a total of 4,508
full-time employees. The Group also uses some third-party
labor outsourcing and labor dispatch services, but most of the
employees are directly employed by ourselves. The vast majority
of our employees are based in China, mainly in Nanjing, where
our headquarter is located, and other cities, where our branches
are located.

The Group emphasizes employee diversity, including but not
limited to gender, age, educational background, socio-economic
background, work experience, etc. The Group provides an
inclusive work environment that embraces diversity such as the
strengths of individuals, and seeks to provide opportunities to
unleash their full potential. As of December 31, 2023, among
the above 4,508 employees (including senior management),
approximately 52.75% were male and 47.25% were female. The
Group recognizes the benefits of having diverse employees and
aims to maintain and promote employee diversification (especially
gender diversification) whenever practicable. In this way, it hopes
to build a sustainable employee team to make greater and positive
contributions to the society and economy. The Group is not aware
of any factors or circumstances that would make gender diversity
of all employees more challenging or less relevant.

The Group’'s success depends on attracting, retaining and
motivating qualified personnel. The Group adopts strict and
high—standard recruitment procedures to ensure the quality of
new recruits. The Group adopts a variety of recruitment methods
(including campus recruitment, online recruitment, internal
recommendation and recruitment through headhunting companies
or agencies) to meet the demand for different types of talents, and
pays competitive salaries in the industry.
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AEBARBIRERE2MENFE - RE%ZEEH The Group provides its employees with a comprehensive training
STERSREEEREEVERAENBEER - K& program, which it believes will enable employees to effectively
ERBRBEARZBELINAE  MEFAELNES]  acquire the necessary skills and professional ethics. The Group
HEEHERETE - BEEERR - KERK - participates in mandatory employee social security scheme
£E5RE - TEHERE BEREMEEQAES o A organized by provincial and municipal governments in accordance
SEHEEEARBETAE N LAELSRESEINE  with PRC laws, including endowment insurance, unemployment
B "EEREFBRAEZEEH S - & NHET  insurance, maternity insurance, work-related injury insurance,
EMNETEO L EERES L SREBIHEK - medical insurance and housing provident fund. The Group and its
employees are required to pay a specified percentage of the cost
of the social security scheme. The Group is required to contribute
directly to the employee social security scheme at a specified
percentage of the employees’ salaries, bonuses and certain
allowances in accordance with PRC laws.

EERMESR Customers and Suppliers

REBERENELE  BECEERFE - REEF  The Group has a broad customer base, including enterprise
85 AARFE - HE2023F12A31HIEF  customers, channel customers and member stores, as well as
E o RAAEEAARF (E2AIXSEK]) M individual customers. For the year ended December 31, 2023,
AR AR EE LU AL B R AT R R EREASEE  both the revenue contribution from the Group's top five customers
FREERES L R30% © (mainly “commerce business”) out of the Group’s total revenue
and the purchase from top five suppliers out of the Group’s total

purchase were less than 30%.

HE2023F12A31BILEE - HEEFH - #£E  During the year ended December 31, 2023, to the knowledge of
BE  EENZETHBASAAABRE (BBZESFA the Directors, none of the Directors or any of their close associates
BEARARBEDEITHRAL% N LR ) RFRIEA  or any Shareholders (which to the knowledge of the Directors own
NAAAREFPHHEERTHEE R more than 5% of the Company’s issued share capital) had an
interest in any of the Company’s top five customers or suppliers.

MERRME PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT
RIMEERN - REBROYENZENESFESH N During the Reporting Period, details of changes in the Group's
RERERE T BEMERMTE12 0 property and equipment are set out in Note 12 to the consolidated

financial statements of this annual report.
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SHARE CAPITAL

Details of movements in the Company’s share capital for the
year ended December 31, 2023 are set out in Note 35(c) to the
consolidated financial statements of this annual report.

CAPITAL RESERVES AND DISTRIBUTABLE
RESERVES

Details of the changes in reserves during the Reporting Period are
set out in Note 35(e) to the consolidated financial statements of
this annual report. As of December 31, 2023, the Company has no
distributable reserves.

BANK LOANS AND OTHER BORROWINGS

As at December 31, 2023, the Group’s bank loans and other
borrowings amounted to RMB610.21 million, denominated in
RMB, mainly at fixed interest rates. Details of bank loans or other
borrowings of the Company and the Group for the year ended
December 31, 2023 are set out in Note 25 to the consolidated
financial statements.

ISSUANCE OF DEBENTURES

During the Reporting Period, no debentures were issued by the
Group.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF THE
COMPANY'’S LISTED SECURITIES

During the Reporting Period, the Group has not purchased, sold
or redeemed any of the Company'’s listed securities.
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INITIAL PUBLIC OFFERING OF H SHARES ON THE
HONG KONG STOCK EXCHANGE AND USE OF
PROCEEDS

On February 18, 2022, the H Shares were listed on the main
board of the Hong Kong Stock Exchange. A total of 53,911,800 H
Shares with a nominal value of RMB1.00 each were issued under
the Global Offering (as defined in the Prospectus, including the
issuance of H Share upon the partial exercise of the over-allotment
option as set forth in the Prospectus). The Offer Price is HK$43.00
per H Share (exclusive of brokerage of 1.0%, SFC transaction levy
of 0.0027%, FRC transaction levy of 0.00015% and Hong Kong
Stock Exchange trading fee of 0.005%). The gross proceeds from
the Global Offering (including the additional gross proceeds from
the exercise of over-allotment option amounted to approximately
HK$99.1 million) were approximately HK$2,318.2 million, and
the gross net proceeds after deducting underwriting fees and
other related expenses were approximately HK$2,185.0 million
(equivalent to approximately RMB1,782.3 million) (the “Proceeds
from the Initial Public Offering of H Shares”).

On November 14, 2023, the resolution in relation to the change
in the use of Proceeds from the Initial Public Offering of H Shares
was considered and approved at the general meeting of the
Company, which mainly related to the adjustment to the amounts
of itemized use of Proceeds from the Initial Public Offering of H
Shares (the “Adjusted Use Approved by the General Meeting”).

As of December 31, 2023, the Company has accumulatively
utilised approximately RMB846 million of the Proceeds from the
Initial Public Offering of H Shares, representing approximately
47.5% of the proceeds, in accordance with the intended use
set out in the Prospectus and the Adjusted Use Approved by
the General Meeting, with the unused portion of the proceeds
amounting to approximately RMB936 million and being deposited
as short term deposits in licensed banks in Hong Kong or the
Mainland China. The balance of the Proceeds from the Initial
Public Offering of H Shares will continue to be used in accordance
with the use as disclosed in the Prospectus and the Adjusted Use
Approved by the General Meeting.

As of December 31, 2023, the actual use of Proceeds from the
Initial Public Offering of H Shares as well as the unused amounts
and its expected timeline are set out as follows:
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2023 120235
1A1R FE8m 12A318
ABRALE L AEALHE
#EALHE 2EHLE Used Used Unused
Amount Amount  amount before duringthe ~ amount as at
before after January 1, Reporting ~ December 31,
the change the change 2023 Period 2023
AEBEEL  ARMBEER ARMEER  ARE@AEn  ARMEET EAEARH
BeRsE Use of proceeds 713 ltemizeduse ~ RMBinmilion RMBinmillion ~RMB inmillion ~RMB in million RMB inmillion  Expected timeline
BIIEEBEZFHATY  forenhancng  &EEEMEIFL Digitalizing our 178.2 282 72 03 07 024E12A31B
E-SRARPH relationships YEREARAAR member retal By December 31,
with our existing stores and 2024
customers and upgrading
further expanding their storefronts
our customer AT REMRE Offering solutions 1782 278.2 305 68.2 1796 20241283183
base VLS fo certain By December 31,
wholesalers 2024
BRRREAREA Strategically 8.1 59.1 144 = M7 0E1RAIBAH
E-SERENN expanding into By December 31,
hELBRERE northern and 2024
southern regions
of China where
there is great
potential for
further
development
EREPERENELR  Boanding client 89.1 169.1 334 56.0 800  2024E12A3187
REEZHZIA managers team By December 31,
VLS network with 2024
more digitalized
solutions
BB EEEEIANE  foroptimizngthe  ENMURMETEAE  Increasing %74 4174 934 1740 1500 2024F 1283184
capabiityand  BHEBAERME.  spending on By December 31,
effiiency of o RIEREANTH joint product 2024
supply chain EmtEA R&D with our
industry partners,
brand licensing
and tailored
manufacturing
ERRAEEAS Improving the 17822 882 2774 330 278 A4F12A3BE
EHETIA digitalization By December 31,
BRI and automation 2024
of order

and fulfilment
management
systems
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2023 #2023
1A1R FE8m 12A318
ABRALE L AEALHE
#EALHE 2EHLE Used Used Unused
Amount Amount  amount before duringthe ~ amount as at
before after January 1, Reporting ~ December 31,
the change the change 2023 Period 2023
AEBEEL  ARMBEER ARMEER  ARE@AEn  ARMEET EAEARH
BeRsE Use of proceeds 713 ltemizeduse ~ RMBinmilion RMBinmillion ~RMB inmillion ~RMB in million RMB inmillion  Expected timeline
BRENETARMTER  forincreasing  EBREMESaaSs Acquiring IT talents 1782 2.2 26 105 151 202412331 R4
FAORENREERE  investmentinthe  EREERZRAEE  for developing By December 31,
SaeS+5HETH Tinfrastructure A7 SaaS+ business 2024
of our platform and merchant
and enhancing solutions
SaaS+ business  FARFEEREHEALSE  Upgrading data 89.1 69.1 174 20 87 04E1RANEH
monefization A LiES infrastructure By December 31,
capabilty and enhancing 2024
data analysis
capabllities
EEFDRHREAEE  Continuously 89.1 59.1 10 13.2 %9 0UE1RANEH
RIMERRE upgrading By December 31,
fransaction 2024
and marketplace
technology and
infrastructure
BNEREBRERAL .  forsdlectvely  SERRADREEEE  Brand 89.1 149.1 120 a7 1094 20241273183
RATME pursling strategic manufacturers By December 31,
alliances, within each 2024
investments, or merchandise
acquisitions segment
£=FSaaSH IR Third-party SaaS 89.1 291 = = 21 04F12A31EH
RHHER technology and By December 31,
service providers 2024
EXHONE=HEEE  Thid-parly 8.1 8.1 - 85 806 204F12A3184
operators within By December 31,
the industry value 2024
chain
AneEse as working - - 178.2 318.2 1710 118 1354 20241283185
capital By December 31,
2024
At Total 1,782.3 1,7823 419.9 426.4 936.0

g ERAEHEEZEEANZENEAZER T

H P APTEL -

Note:

amounts listed therein are due to rounding.

Any discrepancies in the above table between total and sum of
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BhREERE PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

MR20234F - ARBIWEBEEERLEREZEE - In 2023, the Company had no arrangement for pre-emptive

NAIEREPBRZEEHERTEARGMNEKRIBA  rights and options. Neither the Articles of Association nor the

MR 2 FREAIMIR B IRREE R 2 BT - PRC laws stipulates that the Company shall give priority to
existing shareholders in offering new shares in proportion to their
shareholdings.

BBEEREBR TAX CONCESSION AND EXEMPTION

AAREFANBEMBPRAIFBEARAQAGZESMESA  The Company is not aware of any tax concession or exemption

ARG EHE R - WRBFREEE - 548 - & for any Shareholders who hold securities of the Company.

BEREBERMFIITEE M AREER (BIEE@E4A  Shareholders are advised to consult an expert if they are in any

B ReHER) RS F Ea T MEER - ##7%#A  doubt about the tax implications of purchasing, holding, disposing

BX o of and trading in shares or exercising any of their rights in relation
to them, including any right to tax concession.

ZEBEN DONATIONS

HE2023%F12831HILFE  REBELRZEZER  For the year ended December 31, 2023, the Group made
Hib BN ARKEISETT - charitable and other donations of approximately RMB35,000.
HE-BARRNEH CONTRACT WITH THE SINGLE LARGEST SHAREHOLDER
BRARFERATHEEI - RIREAR - AEBIHEE  Save as disclosed in this annual report, no material contracts were
E-—HAREIZBRSERLEREL - entered into by the Group with Mr. WANG Jianguo, the single

largest Shareholder, during the Reporting Period.

TR F AR NON-COMPETITION UNDERTAKING

AEFEEEEE BAREREZREHAETT  The Group has received confirmation by single largest

BEAENEREZ (FTERBMKERR) - B IEH  Shareholder in respect of compliance with the Non-Competition

TEENCEHNEBRABRRETTHRIEAFENME  Undertaking (as defined in the Prospectus) for the Reporting

S BUIFMITEEER  REHAN - E—H AW Period. Independent non-executive Directors have reviewed the

R B RN BRI RGE o compliance of single largest Shareholder with the Non-Competition
Undertaking. Independent non-executive Directors confirmed that,
single largest Shareholder did not breach the Non-Competition
Undertaking during the Reporting Period.

EEEN MANAGEMENT CONTRACT
RBEBHA - BERAEE2BRTMWEZELHZE  During the Reporting Period, no contracts were entered into in
BB RITHRIERFI G BEAE4 relation to the management and administration of the whole or any

substantial part of the business of the Group.
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BRARRLAHAESNENLRESHA - NAF
BHESRERAITAANARIFRER15.35% - &
EHR RREERATAY  ARRGHEEH

RIFBRNRERARFHRE -

EEFARER

ARBERFEBBREP AR THBASRERRE
B REERER A - RIS - AEELEBAL
MHEMRBLSEHER  MBRAKLLEREEEX
THEERRERRRF - MEXGFLR - BRREMM
o MEERATIORREF  PERITREFANE

8 o
ZoN

AEBEKLEAETERTEERIER - R
EHR - RNEERG IR RAER SRR - 25|
HITIT B E ARG & (EAA T & R S5 14 7T RE {8 5l
HHRAHAEENER - BHERRREE R EK
EXTHEE  BAKREEMEERTEHEET
ERERRER -

BREHRERNEESHE

R2023F12A31BEAREEREBERAI{TAE -
MEREFERSENEMEKRNEIE -

2023 FERRAE

ARF2023FERRAGHN2024F5 218 (£
Ho) 817 - BREERRAGNBEEET BB
Fir 483 (www.hkexnews.hk) & 282 B] 48 5k (www. htd.
cn)FIEE - WIRHARAR & RUEE A a8 THAR
IR -

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on the information publicly available to the Company,
and to the best of the Directors’ knowledge, public float of
the Company is 15.35% as of the Latest Practicable Date.
Our Directors confirm that the Company has maintained the
aforementioned minimum public float required by the Hong Kong
Stock Exchange as at the Latest Practicable Date.

LEGAL PROCEEDINGS AND COMPLIANCE

The Group may from time to time be involved in various legal
procedures, arbitrations or proceedings in the course of its
ordinary business. During the Reporting Period, the Group was not
involved in any legal procedures, arbitrations or proceedings that
we believe would have a material adverse effect on the business,
financial condition or operating performance, and to the best of
our knowledge, there was no risk of any such legal procedures,
arbitrations or proceedings.

The Group’s business operations are subject to applicable PRC
laws and regulations. During the Reporting Period, the Group has
not been involved in, nor does it involve in any non-compliance
incidents resulting in fines, enforcement actions or other penalties
that may individually or collectively have a material adverse
impact on the Group’s business, financial condition or operating
performance, and the Group has complied with applicable laws
and regulations in all material respects.

SIGNIFICANT EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING
PERIOD

No other significant events affecting the Group have occurred
since December 31, 2023 and up to the Latest Practicable Date.

2023 ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING

The Company’s 2023 annual general meeting will be held on
Tuesday, May 21, 2024. The notice convening the annual general
meeting has been published on the websites of the Hong Kong
Stock Exchange (www.hkexnews.hk) and the Company (www.htd.
cn) and dispatched to the H Shareholders by the mean of receipt
of communications chosen by the H Shareholders.
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CLOSURE OF SHARE TRANSFER REGISTRATION

To determine the eligibility to attend and vote at the 2023 annual
general meeting, the register of members of the Company will be
closed from Thursday, May 16, 2024 to Tuesday, May 21, 2024
(both dates inclusive), during which period the registration of
share transfers will be closed. To be eligible to attend and vote
at the annual general meeting, all completed transfer documents
accompanied by the relevant share certificates shall be lodged
to the H Share Registrar of the Company, Computershare Hong
Kong Investor Services Limited, at Shops 1712-1716, 17th Floor,
Hopewell Centre, 183 Queen's Road East, Wanchai, Hong Kong
(for H Shareholders), or the registered office of the Company, at
Huitongda Building, No. 50, Zhongling Street, Xuanwu District,
Nanjing, Jiangsu Province, PRC (for Domestic Shareholders) no
later than 4:30 p.m. on Tuesday, May 14, 2024 for handling share
transfer registration procedures.

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

During the Reporting Period and as at the Latest Practicable Date,
the members of the Board of Directors were as follows:

Chairman of the Board and Non-executive Director

Mr. WANG Jianguo

Executive Directors

Mr. XU Xiuxian (CEO)
Mr. ZHAO Liangsheng
Mr. SUN Chao (appointed on February 10, 2023)

Non-executive Directors (excluding the Chairman of the
Board)

Mr. CAl Zhonggiu
Mr. WANG Ran

Independent non-executive Directors

Ms. YU Lixin

Mr. LIU Xiangdong

Mr. DIAO Yang (appointed on November 14, 2023)
Mr. CHENG Zichuan (ceased on November 14, 2023)
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% BEER{

THRBENZE

BiE EWARBIE13.51B(1)1F * RARR2023FF

s HERE

REBERAIITEBSME TIE

£ EERARNRITHRAHIEFE13.51(2)1&FE (a)=
(e)EERFE(QBEFTHBENEHNT ¢

B20234F9 A it
ESWE -

2023%F9H20H

CHITEFEERAELLETHELE

CERBUFRTERRETELLE

EEEMARERALEXRETHEMESLFES
2% AREEZTENEZRETRE  AESE
EF - RN2023FE 11 A14BHBREASIE - &
BB TES  IBEERETAFE-REES
CRUIFNTES  THERRASEZRBZA
BEE-EEEgAHEmR2 AL -

EETHEELEH2024F1ARETARTANE
TRITERAR OB AR ES -

B E BT E S
13.51(B)(1) 1628
BRARET -

C ARBNAERE LR ANE
THENEE EEREAQATHR

CHANGES IN INFORMATION OF DIRECTORS,
SUPERVISORS AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE

Pursuant to Rule 13.51 B(1) of the Listing Rules, during the period
from the publication of the 2023 interim report of the Company to
the Latest Practicable Date, the following Directors, Supervisors
and chief executive of the Company have changed the information
required to be disclosed pursuant to paragraphs (a) to (e) and (g)
of Rule 13.51(2) as follows:

From September 2023, Mr. ZHAO Liangsheng, an executive
Director, ceased to serve as the secretary to the Board.

On September 20, 2023, as Mr. CHENG Zichuan, an independent
non-executive Director, did not attend the Board meetings in
person or entrust other Directors to attend the Board meetings for
two consecutive times, in order to ensure the normal operation
efficiency of the Board, the Board considered and approved
the removal of the independent non-executive Director at the
general meeting on November 14, 2023, and Mr. DIAO Yang was
appointed as an independent non-executive Director of the third
session of the Board for a term from the date of consideration and
approval of the appointment at the general meeting to the date of
expiry of the term of the third session of the Board.

Mr. WANG Xinghua, a Supervisor, has served as the deputy
director of the human resources administration center of the
Company since January 2024.

Save as disclosed above, the Company is not aware of the
changes to information in respect of the Directors, Supervisors
and chief executive of the Company required to be disclosed
pursuant to Rule 13.51(B)(1) of the Listing Rules.
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BEEREECZRESYL SERVICE CONTRACTS OF DIRECTORS AND
SUPERVISORS

ARRIEZEEREFI LA RAEHE (HF The Company enter into contracts with each of the Directors and

) ()VETFTHEBERZNRER  (HVETFRRE Supervisors in relation to, among other things, (i) compliance with

(i) R &R o relevant laws and regulations; (ii) compliance with the Articles of
Association; and (iii) arbitration clauses.

R
z @

N

AARHERREETWETIARRTAR—FRN The Company has not entered into a service contract with the

TIEEE CEEREERRIN) MR LRI RIS S 4 - Directors or Supervisors which is not terminable by the Company
within one year without payment of compensation (other than
statutory compensation).

HZE2023F12A31BILFE » EENEFEHBHN  Details of Directors and Supervisors’ remuneration for the
B HNARF IR A IS WKRMIFED © year ended December 31, 2023 are set out in Note 9 to the
consolidated financial statements of this annual report.
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EERFFNTERIZRLELE  BERKERA
TEHH BRTELERKRL68.14%HIRERE - &
RENMBEEREERHENE T RARANEMBR
KRG EATERIIEHIITERI10% N EHRERE - ZF
RAEFBEHINOT

INTERESTS OF DIRECTORS AND SUPERVISORS IN
MATERIAL TRANSACTIONS, ARRANGEMENTS AND
CONTRACTS

Save as disclosed in Note 37 to the consolidated financial
statements of this annual report and the below section headed
“Connected Transaction and Continuing Connected Transactions”,
to the knowledge of the Directors, none of the Directors,
Supervisors or entities connected with the Directors or Supervisors
had or has had a material interest, directly or indirectly, in
any material transaction, arrangement or contract in which the
Company or its subsidiaries or fellow subsidiaries was a party
subsisted during or at the end of the year ended December 31,
2023.

DIRECTORS’ RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE SHARES OR

DEBENTURES

At no time during the year ended December 31, 2023 has any
rights been granted to any Directors or their spouses or children
under the age of 18 to enable them to benefit from the purchase
of Shares or debentures of the Company, and such persons have
also failed to exercise those rights; and no arrangement has been
entered into by the Company or any of its subsidiaries or holding
companies or subsidiaries of the holding companies whereby the
Directors, their spouses or children under the age of 18 may have
access to the rights of any other legal entities.

INTERESTS OF DIRECTORS
BUSINESS

As of the Latest Practicable Date, Mr. WANG Jianguo, the
chairman of the Board and the non-executive Director, was
entitled to exercise approximately 68.14% voting rights in Five
Star Holdings, which in turn is also entitled to exercise or control
the exercise of 10% or more of the voting rights at any general
meeting of certain companies which have been engaged in the
sales of electrical appliances. Details of such companies are set
out below:

IN COMPETING
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APRAEE
EREEEIET
HY E R
Other positions
held by the
FridE M %R  Director/senior
TEER Total interests management of
BEREH Entity name Principal activities held the Company
HFERFESEEKE Hosjoy Comfortable Smart Home HEZERFA[EXEFEERE] REERFBELN FATEFIL
BROBERAR ([FER]) Co, Lid. (FEXRFEBERER  NES  BHIRNBELER 39.4% ERIFERIE
B BR2AR]) (‘Hosjoy”) 7 AMEERS  FKES - E  Approximately TES
BE R ARIRIRGEE —uA508F  39.4% by Five Mr. Wang, non-
HEGEREEERATR ##  Star Holdings executive
B TRERENFENS - TRERER Director,
With the mission of “making RRERELD served as a
home more comfortable 19% director at
and healthier”, Hosjoy Approximately Hosjoy
endeavors to provide one- 19% by Mr.
stop comfortable smart Wang and his
home solutions through four family member
major sectors: cooling and
heating system, fresh air
system, water purification
system and smart system
for purpose of improving the
environment of city families.
BN RESRAR2AT Suzhou Xinhongda Electrical SHEE R REZREE i A
(T&MHFRE]D Appliances Co., Ltd. (& /i Sales of electrical appliances 10% N/A
HREERERATF]) ("Suzhou 10% by Five Star
Xinhongda”) Holdings
EMMEBEZERMEERR  Taizhou Fuling Electrical HEE R BENFRERE  TEA
AE (BRNETRER Appliances Sales Co., Ltd. (&=  Sales of electrical appliances 100% N/A
—REEMBRA) MTEZERHEEERLF) (a 100% by Suzhou
wholly owned subsidiary of Xinhongda
Suzhou Xinhongda)
M MMEERIEEAMR  Yancheng Chengling Electrical HEER BNEFRERE  TEA
R (BN RER Appliances Sales Co., Ltd. (88 Sales of electrical appliances 100% N/A
—REEWBRAR) WMHEEREEERLAA) (a 100% by Suzhou
wholly owned subsidiary of Xinhongda

Suzhou Xinhongda)
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FHEZB e RUEERMAEENTFMHER RS
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BAl > EFRBANMEEERGH : (1)FRATEF
PEBHIR A EAR R RIERF © (2)AITESNE
B IR A F MR R AR B HME R IOERT -
TERESNHM - AMEFH  BANERAZEK
HPERHHEZERBEAEELEREARBAESE
RIRETE + RO)VBIIFRTESTNIRBEERR
AERETESEE  BERELRTHFIHKF

WHEEARRREBRIENETE

RBERR - EERARKSHFMATOFHMFE
FNAFRIR S P BRRMEIR10 -

RIBGEERTAZSFANEXEE. 1.5 {22023
F1I2AG B LGEERSAEEEXNENFFHE (5
AR BERBEF) 0T

FeE

Remuneration range

Save as disclosed in this annual report and the interests of the
Group held by the single largest Shareholder, for the year ended
December 31, 2023, the single largest Shareholder or any Director
has no interest in any business (other than the businesses of
the Group) that is subject to disclosure under Rule 8.10 of the
Listing Rules and that directly or indirectly competes or is likely to
compete with the businesses of the Group.

REMUNERATION POLICY

The Remuneration Committee is established to review the Group’s
remuneration policy and remuneration structure for all Directors
and senior management taking into account the Group’s operating
performance, individual performance of Directors and senior
management and comparable market practices.

Currently, the Directors receive remuneration based on the
following standards: (1) non-executive Directors will not receive
their remuneration from the Company during their terms of office;
(2) the remuneration of the executive Directors during their terms
of office shall be determined in accordance with the remuneration
management measures of the Company, which mainly consists of
basic remuneration, performance-based remuneration and welfare
income, among which, the performance-based remuneration
shall be determined mainly based on the operating results of the
Group and the individual performance; and (3) independent non-
executive Directors shall receive a fixed Director’'s fee from the
Company during their terms of office and the standard of the
Director’s fee shall be determined by reference to the average
market rate and taking into account the actual situation of the
Company.

Details of the remuneration of the Directors and the five highest
paid individuals during the Reporting Period are set out in Notes
9 and 10 to the consolidated financial statements of this annual
report.

According to code provision E.1.5 of the CG Code, the annual
remuneration range (including share-based compensation) for
senior management members for the year ended December 31,
2023 is as follows:

A

Number of Individuals

1,000,001,87C% 1,500,000 7T
2,000,001 7T % 2,500,000 7T
3,500,001 & 7T % 4,000,000 7T
4,000,001 &7 % 4,500,000 7T
4,500,001 7T £ 5,000,000 7T

HK$1,000,001-HK$ 1,500,000
HK$2,000,001-HK$2,500,000
HK$3,500,001-HK$4,000,000
HK$4,000,001-HK$4,500,000
HK$4,500,001-HK$5,000,000

- a4 AN =

ARBE2023FNMFELZMFHIA - LMEFZEHFA
TIBEARQTER

No payment was made by the Company in 2023 to induce such
person with high emolument to join in the Company.
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RETIREMENT AND EMPLOYEE BENEFITS SCHEME

Details of the retirement and employee benefits scheme of the
Company are set out in Note 7(b) to the consolidated financial
statements of this annual report.

During the Reporting Period, no forfeited contributions had been
used by the Group to reduce the existing level of contributions.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISIONS

The Company has maintained Directors liability insurance to
protect the Directors against any losses that may arise out of their
actual or alleged misconduct.

INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS OF THE
DIRECTORS, SUPERVISORS AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE
IN THE SHARES, UNDERLYING SHARES AND
DEBENTURES

As at December 31, 2023, the interests and short positions of the
Directors, Supervisors and chief executive of the Company in the
Shares, underlying Shares and debentures of the Company or
any of the associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV
of the SFO) which is required to be notified to the Company and
the Hong Kong Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of
Part XV of the SFO (including interests and short positions which
they were taken or deemed to have under such provisions of the
SFO) or which is required, pursuant to section 352 of the SFO, to
be entered in the register referred to therein, or which is required,
pursuant to the Model Code, to be notified to the Company and
the Hong Kong Stock Exchange (for this purpose, the relevant
provisions of the SFO will be interpreted as if they applied to the
Supervisors) were as follows:
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RARTRODPEENERR LR

INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS IN THE SHARES OF
THE COMPANY

RERf
WEEER REGBEN
B KB REL BREAEIL
#e B g ROBE EHEME ERilAGE) (Hzte)
Approximate
percentage of Approximate
shareholding in percentage of
the relevant shareholding in
class of Shares the total issued
Name Position Class of Shares  Number of Shares  Nature of interest (Note 2) Shares (Note 2)
TRE BERRIUTES HIk 39516334 EZMAA 21.92% 7.02%
WANG Jianguo  Chairman of the Board H Shares Beneficial owner
and Non-executive Director NER 114439526  E&nBBA 29.93% 20.34%
Domestic Shares Beneficial owner
Hik 2,991,750 RiEEE#ER (M) 1.66% 0.53%
H Shares Interest in a controlled
corporation (Note 3)
REMR 8,664,152  XiEEEER (M) 2.27% 154%

Domestic Shares

Interest in a controlled
corporation (Note 3)

#AE WTEZRERANE HiR 18,295,661 EXHEAA 10.15% 3.25%
XU Xiuxian Executive Director and H Shares Beneficial owner
Chief Executive Officer HER 52984339 EmnBABA 13.86% 9.42%

Domestic Shares Beneficial owner

£ EX Hik 745591  ERHEBA 0.41% 0.13%

LI Wei Supervisor H Shares Beneficial owner
KER 2,150,237  ERBAA 0.56% 0.38%
Domestic Shares Beneficial owner

M Notes:

1. FilESY ATFE - 1. All interests stated above are long positions.

2. MN2023%F12H31H ' B &THRMHEH A 2. As at December 31, 2023, the total number of issued Shares

562,569,837/ + H A 845180,266,339x HAX

#1382,303,498 RN E X °

3. IEEBBRAEER (TREERTEY
68.14% L =M A R)) BMEEHERAR
XEEPL(BRAE)9%KIE - mERAL
=EEPL (BAREY) BEEIFH2,991,759/%H
i % 8,664,152 8 NE R - At - SEEAEWER A
RERRHECEERERL (BRER) FIENK

DR R s o

was 562,569,837 Shares, including 180,266,339 H Shares and
382,303,498 Domestic Shares.

o Mr. Wang indirectly controlled 99% equity interest in Nanjing
Yuanbai Enterprise Management Centre (Limited Partnership)
through Five Star Holdings (a company in which Mr. Wang
was entitled to exercise approximately 68.14% voting rights).
Nanjing Yuanbai Enterprise Management Centre (Limited
Partnership) directly holds 2,991,759 H Shares and 8,664,152
Domestic Shares. Therefore, Mr. Wang was deemed to be
interested in the Shares held by Nanjing Yuanbai Enterprise
Management Centre (Limited Partnership).
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)89 SHARES OF EQUITY DERIVATIVES OF THE COMPANY
RE#T
REBER ReAEN
RANEREA KREAEA
e Bl sl RERHBE BEME BAL () (WiE2) &
Approximate
percentage of Approximate
shareholding in percentage of
Number of the relevant class shareholding in
underlying of Shares the total issued
Name Position Date of grant Shares  Nature of interest (Note 2) Shares (Note 2) ~ Note
53] RITEFRERHAE 2003F4F68 180000 ExEHA 0.10% 003% XBHRAEBL
XU Xiuxian Executive Director and April 6, 2023 Beneficial owner RSUs
Chief Executive 023%128278 160000 E&HEEA 0.09% 0.03%
Officer December 27, 2023 Beneficial owner
HRE I 20035468 100000 E=EHA 0.06% 002%  XRHRAEL
ZHAQ Liangsheng Executive Director April 6, 2023 Beneficial owner RSUs
2023%F12527H 90,000 EmEAA 0.05% 0.02%
December 27, 2023 Beneficial owner
s gz 023%4768 100000 E&EEA 0.06% 002%  XRARNER
SUN Chao Executive Director April 6, 2023 Beneficial owner RSUs
2023512527 60,000 EmEBA 0.03% 0.01%
December 27, 2023 Beneficial owner
e £z 200354768 80,000 EmfEAA 0.04% 001% RRHRRHEL
LI Wei Supervisor April 6, 2023 Beneficial owner RSUs
2023F12727H 50000 E&EAA 0.03% 0.01%
December 27, 2023 Beneficial owner
IHE £% 202354768 80,000 EmEBA 0.04% 001%  XRaRNHER
MAO Yijun Supervisor April 6, 2023 Beneficial owner RSUs
2023F12527H 55000 EmEAA 0.03% 001%
December 27, 2023 Beneficial owner
TEE S 202354768 50000 EmfEAA 0.03% 001%  XRARNHER
WANG Xinghua Supervisor April 6, 2023 Beneficial owner RSUs
2023%12R278 B0  ExEEA 0.02% 0.01%

December 27, 2023

Beneficial owner
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2~ R2023F12A31H  BEBETRHAERKA
562,569,837 % + H+ 81E180,266,339 % HAX

382,303,498 % A ER °

b EXFTIEEESN REEFTAREE£2023F 1248
31A ' EE EERAVAERTHABBRENR

AR EHEEEAE (TERESLE

EEPIEXVER)

eBfn - MR REEE EPT?EE‘H&%E%%‘EE*E

BEEMPEIEDIEXVIETREDE
LEBBI NI AERSAE (8

MAMEAR
EIRIERE %&Eﬁ

BIROIBRBIGNEFREREENESERAR) - X
RIBES M B GO 36215 R EAZ RN ZIEM
FriEE MM EREIORE - IRBFRETRIRER
HEARAREBHIPAHERIAR

FERREEMALTRARD RAAER DR E

BmRKRE

MR2023F12HA31H ' BEEFH -

£ -EERARARETHRAER

TIAE (&
SN A B4 4R

BAkDPHEEREZES LB RIIEXVEE2RES
’n\%BZMX/AL*ﬂ% CISE N B N

HAMALARBAREFLBE
ETZ%EEHHWE’M‘EmQ@WE :

5 {6151 55 336 1578

Notes:
1. All interests stated above are long positions.
2. As at December 31, 2023, the total number of issued Shares

was 562,569,837 Shares, including 180,266,339 H Shares and
382,308,498 Domestic Shares.

Save as disclosed above, to the knowledge of the Directors, as of
December 31, 2023, none of the Directors, Supervisors and chief
executive of the Company had or was deemed to have interests or
short positions in the Shares, underlying Shares and debentures
of the Company or any of its associated corporations (within the
meaning of Part XV of the SFO) which were required to be notified
to the Company and the Hong Kong Stock Exchange pursuant to
Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO (including their interests
and short positions deemed or taken under the relevant provisions
of the SFO), or which were required to be entered in the register
required to be kept by the Company under section 352 of the
SFO, or which were required to be notified to the Company and
the Hong Kong Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code.

INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS OF
SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS AND OTHER
PERSONS IN SHARES AND UNDERLYING SHARES

As at December 31, 2023, to the best of Directors’ knowledge,
the following persons (other than the Directors, Supervisors and
chief executive of the Company) had interests or short positions
in the Shares or underlying Shares, which would be required to
be notified to the Company and the Hong Kong Stock Exchange
under the provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO,
or which were required to be recorded in the register of the
Company required to be kept pursuant to section 336 of the SFO:



—BI=FFR
Annual Report 2023

EEEHRE
Report of the Board

REEEH REER
R dish BuigtL]
BAEAE  FREAESM
RHER RHBE RBEtE (it2) (mi2)
Approximate
percentage of Approximate
shareholding percentage of
in the relevant  shareholding in
Number of classof  the total issued
% Name Class of Shares Shares  Nature of interest Shares (Note 2) ~ Shares (Note 2)
MEEEHE (f33) Alibaba China (Note 3) Hi 24915812 EREBA 13.82% 443%
H Shares Beneficial Owner
MNBALEERERAA Hangzhou Haoyue Enterprise Management W&k 72156332  EnEAA 18.87% 12.83%
(MR ) (Fsts) Co., Lid. (‘Hangzhou Haoyue") (Note 3)  Domestic Shares Beneficial Owner
B8 (E)BEERAA (H33)  Taobao (China) Software Co., Lid. (Note 3)  HIR 4915812 REiEER 13.82% 4.43%
H Shares Interest in a controlled corporation
mER 72156332  RiEAEER 18.87% 12.83%
Domestic Shares Interest in a controlled corporation
FIXERTARAR (Hi3) Zhejiang Tmall Technology Hi% 2915812 RiEEEER 13.82% 4.43%
Co., Ltd. (Note 3) H Shares Interest in a controlled corporation
mER 72156332  RiEAEER 18.87% 12.83%
Domestic Shares Interest in a controlled corporation
Taobao China Holding Limited (F33) Taobao China Holding Limited (Note 3) Rk 2915812 REEEEA 13.82% 4.43%
H Shares Interest in a controlled corporation
mEfK 72156332 REEEER 18.87% 12.83%
Domestic Shares Interest in a controlled corporation
Taobao Holding Limited (Hfz3) Taobao Holding Limited (Note 3) Hik 2915812 RiEEEER 13.82% 4.43%
H Shares Interest in a controlled corporation
mEfK 72156332 REEEER 18.87% 12.83%
Domestic Shares Interest in a controlled corporation
MECELERKARAE (M)  Albaba Group Holding Limited (Note 3) ~ HIR 2915812 RiEEEER 13.82% 4.43%
H Shares Interest in a controlled corporation
mEfk 72156332 REEEER 18.87% 12.83%
Domestic Shares Interest in a controlled corporation
PROEFNERRERS Central SOEs Industrial Investment Rk 692105 E&EAA 3.84% 1.23%
RIGERAR (Kiik4) Fund for Poor Area Co., Ltd. (Note 4) H Shares Beneficial Owner
mEfk 0043418 EREAA 5.24% 3.56%
Domestic Shares Beneficial Owner
iR Wang Jian Hif 7455912 EREEA 4.14% 133%
H Shares Beneficial Owner
mEfK 21502364 EREAA 565% 3.84%

Domestic Shares

Beneficial Owner
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MEEERERRMEASHAE (FE)
HAERARRAMIRERMER AR D BIFE
H57.59% K% 35.75% 2 s o B (PE) ;M
BRA T EANTI R M AR R FIHATaobao
China Holding Limited®2&#74A + fiTaobao
China Holding LimitedfiTaobao Holding
Limited2#&# 48 ° Taobao Holding Limited
AMBEEEEEERBBRARNEEZENE
DA Bt - BE (RE) BEBERAE - T
KIERMABR AT - Taobao China Holding
Limited » Taobao Holding Limited }&zff £ EE
SEERERAAERANMEEEHE KM
N A R PR R -

PRMERNELREESRMDARAR (TR
TES ) AERASELXESCTREERAAE
B W) A NBRERE (EBHERERE -
RIBEEZN EEEE  REEER—BL
RHERRTS) HEH30.49%  SEREFERPES
5%ZE10% MR © R (i) B FIER 104 BHEIBARER
#H69.51%  SREFERTLESERIATH
i REESCHBEEREEEEEBEERES

B RAAES o

Notes:

All interests stated above are long positions.

As at December 31, 2023, the total number of issued Shares
was 562,569,837 Shares, including 180,266,339 H Shares and
382,303,498 Domestic Shares.

Each of Alibaba China and Hangzhou Haoyue is held as to
57.59% and 35.75% by Taobao (China) Software Co., Ltd. and
Zhejiang Tmall Technology Co., Ltd., respectively. Taobao
(China) Software Co., Ltd. and Zhejiang Tmall Technology Co.,
Ltd. are wholly owned by Taobao China Holding Limited, which
in turn is wholly owned by Taobao Holding Limited. Taobao
Holding Limited is a direct wholly-owned subsidiary of Alibaba
Group Holding Limited. Therefore, Taobao (China) Software
Co., Ltd., Zhejiang Tmall Technology Co., Ltd., Taobao China
Holding Limited, Taobao Holding Limited and Alibaba Group
Holding Limited are deemed to be interested in the shares
held by Alibaba China and Hangzhou Haoyue.

Central SOEs Industrial Investment Fund for Poor Area Co., Ltd.
("SOE IIF") was managed by SDIC Chuangyi Industry Fund
Management Co., Ltd. (B&RAIGEXESEEBRARF) and
was owned as to (i) 30.49% by six institutional shareholders
(mainly engaged in equity investment, equity management
consulting, telecom operations, energy investment and
integrated infrastructure services) each holding 5% to 10%
equity interest in SOE IIF, and (ii) 69.51% by the remaining 104
institutional shareholders each holding no more than 5% equity
interest in SOE IIF. SOE IIF is ultimately controlled by the State-
owned Assets Supervision and Administration Commission of
the State Council of the PRC (BB EEEEBEEELZER).
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Save as disclosed above, as of December 31, 2023, the Directors
were not aware of any persons (other than the Directors,
Supervisors and chief executive of the Company) who had an
interest or short position in the Shares or underlying Shares which
were required to be disclosed under Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV
of the SFO, or which were required to be entered in the register to
be kept by the Company under section 336 of the SFO.

EQUITY LINKED AGREEMENTS

The Company did not enter into, and did not have, any equity
linked agreements which would or might result in the issue of
Shares by the Company, or require the Company to enter into any
agreements which would or might result in the issue of Shares by
the Company, during the Reporting Period and up to the Latest
Practicable Date.

CONNECTED TRANSACTION AND CONTINUING
CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

Overview

During the Reporting Period, the Company entered into certain
connected transaction and continuing connected transactions
which are subject to the reporting, announcement and/or annual
review requirements under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules. The
Directors confirm that for the year ended December 31, 2023, the
Group has complied with the disclosure requirements specified
in Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules in respect of the following
connected transaction and continuing connected transactions and
has followed the pricing policies in accordance with the relevant
agreements.




EBERERBERATF
Huitongda Network Co., Lid.

EEERE
Report of the Board

HHREBEXRS
UEBRRFERTRE

R2023FE3H21H + KRB HEFZERF ZREK
i ((REBEBEHE]) - Bt - A2 AB&H
AERBAFZRERKGRAELEEIRTFZRIE
100% A ([WB=EE]) -

X GRERIEH

WEEEEMNREAARYES0,429.958 7T ' AR
BEES  WHUREFAINFHER - HF @ K
AEIEEEREWRERRERZBR20EIIEER
MFERI N LR EN20% @ WHEWEEE=K
REzBE20EITEB A FRIGER (B it
E/I80%) °

REREKRERE  FERAKRNQIGEE - BR
FERIEREZE2023F12A31BLLFE « BHE
2024F12A31 B IEFEREE2025F12H31H
IEFE (ABIE£ERHD ) AHOCERNFENE
([FEFFE]) MER T RETIAIEZ

Non-exempt Connected Transaction
Acquisition of Nanjing Hosjoy Engineering
Transaction overview

On March 21, 2023, the Company entered into an equity
acquisition agreement (the “Equity Acquisition Agreement”)
with Hosjoy, whereby the Company’s intention in respect of the
conditionally agreement to acquire and Hosjoy's intention in
respect of the conditionally agreement to sell 100% of Nanjing
Hosjoy Engineering’s equity interest (the “Acquisition”).

Consideration and terms of the transaction

The consideration for the Acquisition is RMB504,299,500,
which is paid with self-owned funds by the Company to Hosjoy
in cash. Among which, the Company shall pay 20% of the
aforesaid consideration to Hosjoy within 20 working days after
the effective date of the Equity Acquisition Agreement and the
remaining payment (i.e. 80% of the aforesaid consideration)
within 20 working days after the date on which the delivery of the
Acquisition is completed.

According to the Equity Acquisition Agreement, Hosjoy undertakes
to the Company that the net profits achieved on consolidated
basis (the “Committed Net Profit’) of Nanjing Hosjoy Engineering
for the year ended December 31, 2023, the year ending
December 31, 2024 and the year ending December 31, 2025
(collectively, the “Performance Commitment Period”) shall not
be less than the indicators as set out in the following table:

20234F 2024 F 20254

2023 2024 2025

ARBET ARBER ARBERT

BHREE Financial Year RMBO0’ 000 RMBO’ 000 RMBO0’ 000
AT Committed Net Profit 6,477.50 7,780.46 8,396.66

MFERRETKREERER =FREHEER
o R Z SR R AR B WU 160 5 MO 0 E AR 2 R
BT AETHE -

ARFERTEREZ2023F12A31BILEEFEAS
HORERFFE/FE AL RE -

WEEED N 2023FE5 A5 H MK - WEEHETK
% ERFERIREKARAGNKERR  BH
P EEHFARNEBOP K RE

If Hosjoy fails to meet the performance commitment accumulated
over the three-year Performance Commitment Period, Hosjoy shall
compensate the Company in cash in accordance with the terms of
the Equity Acquisition Agreement.

The net profit achieved on a consolidated basis of Nanjing Hosjoy
Engineering for the year ended December 31, 2023 met the above
commitment indicator.

The Acquisition was completed on May 5, 2023. Upon completion
of the Acquisition, Nanjing Hosjoy Engineering became a
subsidiary of the Company, and its financial results were
consolidated into the financial statements of the Group.
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Purpose and benefits of the transaction

Nanjing Hosjoy Engineering provides one-stop integrated
solution services on comfort and smart home, which may
potentially compete with some of the businesses of the Group.
The Acquisition is expected to reduce the potential competition
between the Group and single largest Shareholder. In addition,
the Company believes that the Acquisition may bring the following
benefits to the Group:

(1) Integrating the Group’s existing business network and
resources with Nanjing Hosjoy Engineering to further
develop upstream and downstream markets in depth,
provide a more comprehensive range of products to the
Group’s customers, and enhance the Group’s ability to
serve customer in lower-tier markets, so as to help the
Group enhance its competitiveness in markets in lower-tier
markets; and

Providing opportunities for the Group to explore new
markets or expand its existing customer base, as well as
achieving potential synergies through effective integration
of upstream and downstream resources and enhanced
business cooperation.

Connected relationship with the counterparty

As at the date of the transaction, Mr. Wang Jianguo was a
connected person of the Company in accordance with Chapter
14A of the Listing Rules as he was the chairman of the Board and
non-executive Director of the Company and in aggregate held
approximately 29.43% interest in the total issued share capital
of the Company and was also a substantial shareholder of the
Company. In addition, as at the date of the transaction, Mr. Wang
Jianguo and his family member together held approximately
64.77% interest in Hosjoy, which, is an associate of
Mr. Wang Jianguo and a connected person of the Company in
accordance with Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

therefore,

For further details of the Equity Acquisition Agreement and the
Acquisition thereunder, please refer to the announcement of the
Company dated March 21, 2023.
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IRRITERERS Non-exempt Continuing Connected Transactions

TXHINANRB RIS A TIEREHERERLS Below set out the details of certain non-exempt continuing

HIFEIS © connected transactions entered by the Company.
FHEBEFEHEER G Alibaba China Sales Framework Agreement

On December 21, 2021, the Company entered into the
sales framework agreement with Alibaba China (“Alibaba
China Sales Framework Agreement”), pursuant to
which, the Group agreed to provide Alibaba China and/
or its associates with goods (including but not limited to
household appliances and consumer electronics), for a
term from the Listing Date to December 31, 2023.

On August 23, 2022, the Board resolved and approved
revise the original annual caps under the Alibaba China
Sales Framework Agreement. The revised annual caps for
the transactions under the Alibaba China Sales Framework
Agreement for the years ended December 31, 2022 and
December 31, 2023 were RMB500 million and RMB800
million respectively.

Reasons and benefits for the transaction and revision of
the annual caps

(1) Alibaba China and/or its associates have been
purchasing certain goods from the Group during
their ordinary course of business given the price
advantage of the merchandise offered by the Group
compared to other market players. Furthermore,
the Group is authorized as designated agent or
seller of certain types and/or brands of goods in
certain areas. Therefore, Alibaba China and/or its
associates could only purchase such goods from
the Group. The transactions contemplated under
the Alibaba China Sales Framework Agreement are
made in the ordinary and usual course of business
of the Group on normal commercial terms;

(2) In 2022, the Group implemented omni-channel and
full-link strategy, and expanded a variety of sales
channels and product types. As Alibaba China
is a leading retail business entity, the Group will
gradually strengthen its strategic cooperation with
retail platforms such as Alibaba China as one of the
Group’s sales channels;
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(3) Based on the continued improvement of the supply
chain capacity of the Group (especially in the
household appliances and consumer electronics
industries) and its strategic cooperation with many
leading manufacturers in the upstream, such as
Gree, Midea, Joyoung and Apple, the Group will
realize mutual complement with Alibaba China and/
or its associates in the timely supply of certain
household appliances and consumer electronics
categories, as well as in the best-selling categories.

In conclusion, the Company needs to continue to conduct
the transactions under the Alibaba China Sales Framework
Agreement and revise the annual caps to meet the above
business needs.

Pricing basis

The prices of transactions contemplated under the Alibaba
China Sales Framework Agreement shall be determined by
negotiation on an arm’s length basis.

The price for selling goods to Alibaba China and/or its
associates by the Group shall be determined with reference
to the price of the goods that the Group could sell to the
independent third parties and prevailing market price.

Pricing procedures

The selling price of the goods are to be separately
negotiated for each sold by the parties based on the
principles that the selling price to be paid shall be
determined on normal commercial terms after arm’s
length negotiation, and shall be no less favourable
than the prevailing market price and the price offered
to independent third parties. The parties will enter
into separate sales order in respect of each sales in
accordance with the terms of the Alibaba China Sales
Framework Agreement.
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To ensure the selling price to Alibaba China and/or its
associates are fair and reasonable and comparable to
those offered to independent third parties, the Group will
compare the price in relation to the similar product type
and volume with at least two other independent companies
prior to entering into sales order with Alibaba China and/
or its associates so as to know the prevailing market
price. The Directors consider that the above procedures
can ensure that the transactions under the Alibaba China
Sales Framework Agreement will be conducted on normal
commercial terms and not prejudicial to the interests of the
Company and the Shareholders.

Annual cap and actual transaction amount

The annual cap and actual transaction amounts of the
transaction under the Alibaba China Sales Framework
Agreement were RMB800 million and RMB163.1 million
respectively for the year ended December 31, 2023.

Listing Rules Implications

As at the date of the transaction, as Alibaba China directly
holds approximately 17.26% of the total issued share
capital of the Company, it is a substantial shareholder of
the Company. Therefore, according to Chapter 14A of the
Listing Rules, Alibaba China is a connected person of the
Company. Accordingly, the transactions contemplated
under the Alibaba China Sales Framework Agreement
constitute continuing connected transactions of the
Company under the Listing Rules.

For details of the Alibaba China Sales Framework
Agreement and the transactions contemplated thereunder,
please refer to the Prospectus and the announcement of
the Company dated August 23, 2022.

In view of the expiry of the Alibaba China Sales Framework
Agreement and the annual caps on December 31, 2023,
the Company has renewed the sales framework agreement
(“New Sales Framework Agreement”) with Alibaba
China on September 20, 2023 and has proposed the
annual caps for the three years ending December 31,
2024, December 31, 2025 and December 31, 2026. For
details of the New Sales Framework Agreement and the
transactions contemplated thereunder, please refer to the
announcement of the Company dated September 20, 2023.
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Alibaba China Purchase Framework Agreement

On December 21, 2021, the Company entered into the
purchasing framework agreement with Alibaba China
(“Alibaba China Purchase Framework Agreement”’),
pursuant to which, the Group agreed to purchase goods
(including but not limited to household appliances and
consumer electronics) from Alibaba China and/or its
associates, for a term from the Listing Date to December
31, 2023.

On August 23, 2022, the Board resolved and approved
revise the original annual caps under the Alibaba China
Purchase Framework Agreement. The revised annual caps
for the transactions under the Alibaba China Purchase
Framework Agreement for the years ended December
31, 2022 and December 31, 2023 are RMB80 million and
RMB150 million respectively.

Reasons and benefits for the transaction and revision of
the annual caps

(1) The Group has been purchasing certain goods from
Alibaba China and/or its associates given the price
advantage of such goods offered by Alibaba China
and/or its associates compared to other market
players. The transactions contemplated under the
Alibaba China Purchase Framework Agreement are
made in the ordinary and usual course of business
of the Group and on normal commercial terms;

(2) After 10 years of development, as at December
31, 2022 the Group now serves more than 206
thousand member retail stores and boasts strong
channel extension capacity. With the increase of
per capita disposable income of rural residents,
the consumption potential of the lower-tiered city
market will be further released. And the Group
will constantly enhance the stickiness of member
retail stores through the supply chain + SaaS
services. To meet the diversified product demands
of member retail stores in the lower-tiered city
market, the Group will adopt the strategy of
multi-channel supply chain. Based on the price
advantage of Alibaba China and/or its associates
in certain commodities, the Group will purchase
certain commodities from Alibaba China and/or its
associates to solve the temporary demand of certain
member retail stores; and
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(3) The Company expects that the overall business
results of the Group will maintain stable growth
in the future. Taking into account the estimated
revenue growth of the Company and the temporary
product demands of the member retail stores in
the past, it is expected that the amount of the
purchase transactions with Alibaba China and/or its
associates will increase by a certain extent.

In conclusion, the Company needs to continue to conduct
the transactions under the Alibaba China Purchase
Framework Agreement and to revise the annual caps to
meet the above business needs.

Pricing basis

The prices of transactions contemplated under the Alibaba
China Purchase Framework Agreement shall be determined
by negotiation on an arm’s length basis.

The price for purchasing certain goods from Alibaba China
and/or its associates by the Group shall be determined with
reference to the price of the goods that the Group could
purchase from the independent third parties and prevailing
market prices.

Pricing procedures

The purchase price of the goods are to be separately
negotiated for each purchase by the parties based on
the principles that the purchase price payable shall be
determined on normal commercial terms after arm’s
length negotiation, and shall be no less favourable than
the prevailing market price and the price offered by
the independent third parties. The parties will enter into
separate purchase order in respect of each purchase in
accordance with the terms of the Alibaba China Purchase
Framework Agreement.
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To ensure the purchase price offered by Alibaba
China and/or its associates are fair and reasonable
and comparable to those offered by independent third
parties, the Group will compare the price in relation to the
similar product type and volume from at least two other
independent companies prior to entering into purchase
order with Alibaba China and/or its associates so as to
know the prevailing market price. The Directors consider
that the above procedures can ensure that the transactions
under the Alibaba China Purchase Framework Agreement
will be conducted on normal commercial terms and
not prejudicial to the interests of the Company and the
Shareholders.

Annual cap and actual transaction amount

The annual cap and actual transaction amounts of the
transaction under the Alibaba China Purchase Framework
Agreement were RMB150 million and RMB65.9 million
respectively for the year ended December 31, 2023.

Listing Rules Implications

As at the date of the transaction, as Alibaba China directly
holds approximately 17.26% of the total issued share
capital of the Company, it is a substantial shareholder of
the Company. Therefore, according to Chapter 14A of the
Listing Rules, Alibaba China is a connected person of the
Company. Accordingly, the transactions contemplated
under the Alibaba China Purchase Framework Agreement
constitute continuing connected transactions of the
Company under the Listing Rules.

For details of the Alibaba China Purchase Framework
Agreement and the transactions contemplated thereunder,
please refer to the Prospectus and the announcement of
the Company dated August 23, 2022.

In view of the expiry of the Alibaba China Purchase
Framework Agreement and the annual caps on December
31, 2023, the Company has renewed the purchase
framework agreement (“New Purchase Framework
Agreement”) with Alibaba China on September 20, 2023
and has proposed the annual caps for the three years
ending December 31, 2024, December 31, 2025 and
December 31, 2026. For details of the New Purchase
Framework Agreement and the transactions contemplated
thereunder, please refer to the announcement of the
Company dated September 20, 2023.
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(a)

Annual Review by Independent Non-executive Directors

Independent non-executive Directors have reviewed
aforementioned continuing connected transactions, and confirmed

such transactions are:

(i) entered into in the ordinary and usual course of business
of the Group;

(ii) conducted with normal commercial terms or better; and

conducted pursuant to agreements of relevant transactions,

with fair and reasonable terms and in the interests of the
Shareholders as a whole.

(iii)

Confirmation by the Auditor

The auditor of the Company has performed the relevant
procedures regarding the continuing connected transactions
of the Company in accordance with Hong Kong Standard
on Assurance Engagements 3000 (Revised) “Assurance
Engagements Other Than Audits or Reviews of Historical Financial
Information” and with reference to Practice Note 740 “Auditor’s
Letter on Continuing Connected Transactions under the Hong
Kong Listing Rules” issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified
Public Accountants. The auditor has issued an unqualified letter
containing findings and conclusions in respect of the continuing
connected transactions disclosed above in accordance with Rule
14A.56 of the Listing Rules.

The auditor has confirmed in a letter to the Board that, with
respect to the aforesaid continuing connected transactions
entered into in the year ended December 31, 2023:

nothing has come to the auditor’s attention that causes the
auditor to believe that the disclosed continuing connected
transactions have not been approved by the Board;

(a)
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for transactions involving the provision of goods or services
by the Group, nothing has come to the auditor’s attention
that causes the auditor to believe that the disclosed
continuing connected transactions were not, in all material
respects, in accordance with the pricing policies of the
Group;

nothing has come to the auditor’'s attention that causes the
auditor to believe that the disclosed continuing connected
transactions were not entered into, in all material respects,
in accordance with the relevant agreements governing
such non-exempt continuing connected transactions; and

with respect to the aggregate actual transaction amount of
each of the disclosed continuing connected transactions,
nothing has come to the auditor’s attention that causes the
auditor to believe that the actual transaction amount of the
disclosed continuing connected transactions has exceeded
the annual cap.

Related Party Transactions

Details of material related party transactions entered into by the
Group during the Reporting Period are disclosed in Note 37 to
the consolidated financial statements of this annual report. Save
as disclosed in the section headed “Connected Transaction and
Continuing Connected Transactions” of this annual report, related
party transactions disclosed in Note 37 to the consolidated
financial statements of this annual report do not constitute
connected transactions under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules,
or are exempt from the reporting, announcement, annual review
and independent Shareholders’ approval requirements under the
Listing Rules. The Company had complied with the disclosure
requirements under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules and
disclosure was made in this annual report.

Save as disclosed in the section headed “Connected Transaction
and Continuing Connected Transactions” of this annual report,
during the Reporting Period, the Company had no connected
transactions or continuing connected transactions which were
required to be disclosed pursuant to the provisions of Chapter
14A of the Listing Rules relating to the disclosure of connected
transactions and continuing connected transactions.
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=B ED AUDITOR
RIE BRI SR BRI EBRRE&H  The Company’'s accompanying financial statements prepared in
EE5 B S SBAER © accordance with IFRSs, have been audited by KPMG.

EERSTMEBEREE2023FERRAEE  KPMG will retire at the forthcoming 2023 annual general meeting

I AERTFBEEBEIREM - 2023FEMREAELH  and is eligible and willing to offer itself for re-election. A resolution

RERZRELEEREGTANE BT RZERD will be proposed at the 2023 annual general meeting to re-appoint
KPMG as the auditor.

ARBAMTZEE K PMEFTEIELAT (F%REE  ShineWing Certified Public Accountants LLP ({57 P& 5TEIE
AR ) N2020F ERE RS 4 RIFRIT - Fr (5% EBA %)), the former auditor of the Company was retired
from the conclusion of the 2020 annual general meeting.

B EN  ARRRNBEZFIARAEFTBZE  Save as disclosed above, the Company has not changed auditor

Bl o for the past three years.
ErEES AUDIT COMMITTEE
AAFDER FHRAEI21ERIESTEZES ©  The Company has established an Audit Committee in compliance
WBRLCEEATAGITHBESE - EtEZ8€  with Rule 3.21 of the Listing Rules and set its terms of reference

=R EMAR  BNEEHLLE (ZFE)  EHE%LE  in compliance with the CG Code. The Audit Committee consists

FEmRLE - BN ZEENEFAEBH  EX of three members, namely Ms. YU Lixin (Chairlady), Mr. WANG

T AHE EMBAEI102)EREI21EFHEE#E Ran and Mr. LIU Xiangdong. The Audit Committee is chaired

EeMARMEEESEMENBELIFNTES - by Ms. YU Lixin, who is an independent non-executive Director
with appropriate accounting and related financial management
expertise as required under Rule 3.10(2) and Rule 3.21 of the
Listing Rules.

BiZHEMwmE B LZESCEHARAREHZE  Following discussions with the auditor, the Audit Committee has
2023F 12 A1 AL FELEANESHIBRE - | reviewed the Company's audited consolidated financial statements
AEZESCRAARATEANGTRALRERWF  for the year ended December 31, 2023. The Audit Committee has
WARTEEEREERANISPEIENSTIE - HRA  reviewed the accounting principles and practices adopted by the
NRRMNEAEE L EE2EEFELZEE Y Company and discussed matters relating to the Company’s risk
M EERE RS o management and internal controls. There were no disagreements
between the Board and the Audit Committee with respect to the
accounting treatment method adopted by the Company.

RATCIREEEGBRELEHEEE E 2023512  The Company has prepared its annual results for the year ended
R31BIEFEZ2FEE - December 31, 2023 in accordance with IFRS.

RERESS On behalf of the Board
EER Chairman

AEEEE Mr. WANG Jianguo
FE R Nanjing, the PRC

20243 H27H March 27, 2024
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In 2023, in strict accordance with the Company Law of the PRC,
the Articles of Association, the Rules of Procedure of the Board of
Supervisors of the Company and relevant laws and regulations,
the Board of Supervisors supervised and inspected the legal

operation, financial position, operation and implementation of

the management policy in a responsible manner to the Company
and all Shareholders, conscientiously performing its due duties
and promoting the operation and development of the Company.
The 2023 Report of the Board of Supervisors is set out below for

deliberation.

DAILY WORK OF SUPERVISORS IN 2023

In 2023, the Board of Supervisors held a total of 6 meetings,
attended 3 meetings of the Board held in the form of off-
line meetings, 3 meetings of the Board held in the form of
correspondence voting, attended 3 general meetings, and

conducted due diligence review on relevant resolutions, details of

which are as follows:

HEEZERE FIRESERY, JIERRAERH
CEL CEL 8 SRERRY

Attendances/

Number of
Meetings of Attendances/ Attendances/
the Board of Number of Board Number of General
EEpE Name of Supervisors the Supetrvisors Meetings Meetings
FHELE Mr. WANG Xinghua 6/6 6/6 3/3
FERE Mr. LI Wei 6/6 6/6 313
EEELE Mr. MAO Yijun 6/6 6/6 3/3
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INDEPENDENT OPINIONS OF THE BOARD OF
SUPERVISORS ON MATTERS RELATING TO THE
OPERATION AND MANAGEMENT OF THE COMPANY
FOR 2023

)

(1

()

Basic evaluation of the operation and management
behavior plus performance for 2023

From the perspective of effectively safeguarding the
interests of the Company and the rights and interests of
the Shareholders, the Board conscientiously performed
its supervisory duties. The Board of Supervisors was of
the view that the Board had conscientiously implemented
the resolutions of the general meetings and diligently
performed its duties. The resolutions were in compliance
with the Company Law of the PRC and the Articles of
Association, without detriment to the interests of the
Company and the Shareholders. The management of
the Company conscientiously implemented the Board
resolutions, without incurring illegal and unlawful acts in the
operation, and successfully completed the business plans
formulated at the beginning of the year.

Inspection of the Company’s financial position

During the Reporting Period, the Board of Supervisors
carefully and effectively supervised, inspected and
reviewed the Company’s financial position, financial
system and operating results by reviewing the Company’s
financial statements, audit reports, etc., and believed that
the Company’s financial system was sound, the financial
management system was perfect, the financial operation
was standard, and the financial position was good. KPMG
audited the Company’s 2023 annual financial report and
issued a “standard unqualified” auditor’s report, which
truly and accurately reflected the financial position and
operating results of the Company.

Use of proceeds

During the Reporting Period, the Board of Supervisors
effectively supervised the use and management of
the Company’s proceeds and was of the opinion that
the Company rationally used and effectively managed
the proceeds. The use of the proceeds was legal and
compliant, and the actual investment projects of the
proceeds were consistent with that disclosed in the
prospectus. The change in the use of proceeds complied
with relevant procedures in accordance with the law, and
there was no act that was detrimental to the interests of the
Shareholders.
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Connected transactions of the Company

During the Reporting Period, the Board of Supervisors
verified the connected transactions of the Company, and
was of the view that the connected transactions of the
Company were reasonable and necessary and in line with
the needs of the Company’s business development, the
decision-making procedures of connected transactions
were legal and compliant, the pricing of connected
transactions was fair, and there was no act that harmed the
interests of the Shareholders.

Acquisition and disposal of assets

During the Reporting Period, the Company did not dispose
of any significant assets. On March 21, 2023, the Board
considered and approved the Resolution on the Acquisition
of Equity Interest in a Subsidiary of Hosjoy Comfortable
Smart Home Co., Ltd. and Connected Transaction. The
fair consideration of the acquisition was conducive to the
integration of the Group’s business resources and the
enhancement of the Group’s ability to serve the lower-tier
market, and there was no act that harmed the interests of
the Shareholders.

Audit opinions on the RSU Scheme

During the Reporting Period, the Company granted two
phases of RSUs. The grant of RSUs by the Company
can establish and improve the Company’s long-term
incentive and restraint mechanism, fully mobilise the work
enthusiasm of employees, help boost the Company’s
operating performance, and is conducive to the long-
term sustainable development of the Company, without
prejudice to the interests of the Company and all
Shareholders. The Board of Supervisors reviewed the
RSUs and was of the view that the appraisal system was
comprehensive, integrated and operable, and the appraisal
indicators were designed to be scientific and reasonable,
which were binding on incentive participants and made it
feasible to achieve the appraisal purpose of the Incentive
Scheme.
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(VIl) Opinions on the evaluation of the Company’s internal
control

The Board of Supervisors carefully reviewed the Board’s
2023 Evaluation Report on Internal Control and the
construction and operation of the Company’s internal
control system and was of the opinion that the Company
had established a relatively sound and reasonable internal
control system and implemented it in operation activities.
This prevented corporate operational risks, ensured the
orderly and effective conduct of various business activities
of the Company, and safeguarded the interests of the
Shareholders.

HIGHLIGHTS OF THE WORK OF BOARD OF
SUPERVISORS IN 2024

In 2024, the Board of Supervisors will continue to perform
its duties under relevant laws and regulations, the Articles
of Association and the Rules of Procedure of the Board of
Supervisors of the Company, fully exercise its rights conferred
by laws and regulations, faithfully and diligently perform its
supervisory duties, improve its supervisory capabilities, and
better supervise the Company’s finance, risk control and
Directors and senior management. At the same time, it will keep
acquiring business knowledge, improve the comprehensive
ability of Supervisors, effectively safeguard the legitimate rights
and interests of the Shareholders, and promote the steady
development of the Company.

On behalf of the Board of Supervisors
Chairman of Board of Supervisors
Mr. WANG Xinghua

Nanjing, the PRC
March 27, 2024
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICE

The Company is committed to achieving high standards of
corporate governance to protect the Shareholders’ interests and
enhance the corporate value. The Company has adopted the CG
Code as the basis of corporate governance of the Company and
established a good corporate governance system. The Board is of
the view that the Company has complied with all applicable code
provisions of the CG Code during the Reporting Period.

The Company will continue to review and monitor its corporate
governance practices to ensure compliance with the CG Code.

The Board is responsible for performing the functions as set out
in code provision A.2.1 of the CG Code. The Board will review
the Company’s corporate governance policies and practices, the
training and continuous professional development of Directors
and senior management, the Company’s policies and practices on
compliance with legal and regulatory requirements, compliance
with the Model Code and the Employee Written Guidelines, and
the Company’s compliance with the CG Code and disclosures
made in this Corporate Governance Report.

CORPORATE PURPOSE, VALUES AND CULTURE

Always keeping in mind the corporate mission of “Making Farmers’
Life Better”, the Group adheres to the entrepreneurial mentality
and deepens the awareness of innovation to enhance its creative
ability. This allows the Group to empower the township family-run
retail stores and the member retail stores to grow bigger, better
and stronger using its supply chain and digital services.

Upholding the core value of “Together for Shared Value and
Growth”, the Group has gradually established and improved
a series of policy systems, internal control systems, and
management mechanisms and processes for the major
stakeholders involved in good corporate governance policies
and measures: Shareholders, the Board and its committees,
management and staff, and other stakeholders (including
customers, local communities, industry peers, regulatory
authorities, etc.), to comprehensively prevent and resolve all kinds
of risks.

MODEL CODE FOR SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS

The Company adopts the Model Code as its code of conduct for
securities transactions by the Directors and Supervisors.
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After making specific enquiries to all Directors and Supervisors,
all Directors and Supervisors have confirmed that they have
complied with the provisions set out in the Model Code during the
Reporting Period, except for the inability to obtain the confirmation
from Mr. CHENG Zichuan, a former independent non-executive
Director.

The Company has also established written guidelines for securities
transactions by relevant employees who may have inside
information about the Company on terms no less stringent than
the Model Code (the “Guidelines for Securities Transactions by
Relevant Employee”). The Company has not been aware of any
non-compliance by employees with the Guidelines for Securities
Transactions by Relevant Employee.

LIST OF DIRECTORS, SUPERVISORS AND SENIOR
MANAGEMENT
The following table sets out the information of the Directors,

Supervisors and senior management of the Company during the
Reporting Period:

HA EARQARIEENRE ZTHH

Name Position in the Company Date of appointment
s

Directors

B EERFINTES 2015411 A16H
WANG Jianguo Chairman of the Board and Non-executive Director November 16, 2015
"AEE WITES 201511 A16H
XU Xiuxian Executive Director November 16, 2015
ribntes WITES 20219F5H10H
ZHAO Liangsheng Executive Director May 10, 2021

i WITES 20232 H10H
SUN Chao Executive Director February 10, 2023
B FERITEF 202165H10H
CAl Zhonggqiu Non-executive Director May 10, 2021

T EHMITES 2022411 A28 H
WANG Ran Non-executive Director November 28, 2022
R BIERTES 202246 A17H
YU Lixin Independent non-executive Director June 17, 2022
ks BIUFNITES 2021458108
LIU Xiangdong Independent non-executive Director May 10, 2021

1% BIUFMITER 2023%F 11 A14H
DIAO Yang Independent non-executive Director November 14, 2023
BFE BIUFNTES 202155100 (202311 A 14 A EH{E)

CHENG Zichuan

Independent non-executive Director

May 10, 2021 (ceased on November 14,
2023)
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Name Position in the Company Date of appointment
EE

Supervisors

T HiEE BEE 201511 H16H
WANG Xinghua Supervisor November 16, 2015
& BF 202046 A29 A

LI Wei Supervisor June 29, 2020
EEE E= 202145H10R
MAOQ Yijun Supervisor May 10, 2021
SREEABR

Senior Management

"EE BEREHITE 2010 12A6H
XU Xiuxian Chief Executive Officer December 6, 2010
bt BREMBE LEIEE 20131 H1H
ZHAO Liangsheng Chief Financial Officer and Vice President January 1, 2013
yiiigEEan BIAAE 201591 H4H

XING Jianhong
FBE

XING Jun

bryl

SUN Chao
718

NI Juan

BEARWE
Joint Company
Secretaries

= B
TANG Min
=2

AU Wai Ching

Vice President

b B R E REIRE

Co-Chief Financial Officer and Vice President

Bl
Vice President
EEoWENIBE

Secretary to the Board and Vice President

BREARME
Joint Company Secretary
BN EIME
Joint Company Secretary

January 4, 2015

2022%6 A17H (20243 A8 HET)
June 17, 2022 (ceased on March 8, 2024)
20157 A15H

July 15, 2015

20239 H20H

September 20, 2023

20221 H13H
January 13, 2022
202241 F13H
January 13, 2022
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Biographical details of the Directors, Supervisors and senior
management are set out in the section headed “Directors,
Supervisors and Senior Management” of this annual report.
The Board is responsible, and has the general authority for, the
management and operation of the Company. The Directors are
appointed for a term of three years and are eligible for re-election
upon expiry of their term of office. The independent non-executive
Directors shall not hold office for more than six consecutive years.

During the Reporting Period, the Board has complied with the
Listing Rules in relation to the appointment of at least three
independent non-executive Directors (representing at least one-
third of the Board) and at least one independent non-executive
Director with appropriate professional qualifications or accounting
or related financial management expertise.

The Company has received from each of the independent non-
executive Directors a written annual confirmation of his/her
independence in accordance with the independence guidelines
set out in Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules. The Company considers
all the independent non-executive Directors to be independent.

None of the Directors of the Company has any personal
relationship (including financial, business, family or other material/
relevant relationships) with any other Directors or chief executive.

All Directors, including the independent non-executive Directors,
bring valuable business experience, knowledge and expertise in
different areas to the Board to enable its efficient and effective
operation. The independent non-executive Directors are invited to
serve on the Audit Committee, the Remuneration Committee and
the Nomination Committee.



BRBIE RO
ARRBBATHEIRRAEESSIABLESR

1. REZEERSFENETENEEAKRLE
SMIFMITERENBIUMN - LERBIIFNTT
BEEMMAELE -

2. AR EFLIFNTESFRE MR
EI13RMEEB LN AL AHEER
E - ARARRERBUIFNTEZTES

o

Kt

3. ENBRERENEREARE AR AR RS
R FEARAE-—RABRRK HE—
BABRRETHEBARERR S RER
BWES EBHEMRE-—SABRRE &
BEARZGNHABESTERAZRZNERE -

4. ESEeIREFELRBUFNTESTSR

5. CHREEEREERBEARTIREBITRE
B AISSRKBUEEZRR (ANE) -

EZEeOFRIER/KEFEIABIERNK
# - N TEILERTESZEL BRAREY
% REBMESRBINPBLIERER -

—BI=FFR
Annual Report 2023

TEERBRE
Corporate Governance Report

MECHANISMS TO ENSURE INDEPENDENT VIEWS

The Company ensures independent views and input are available
to the Board via the below mechanisms:

1. The Board composition and the independence of the
independent non-executive Directors, in particular the
proportion of independent non-executive Directors, should
be reviewed by the Nomination Committee on an annual
basis.

2. A written confirmation was received by the Company under
Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules from each of the independent
non-executive Directors in relation to his/her independence
to the Company. The Company considers all independent
non-executive Directors to be independent.

& In view of good corporate governance practices and
to avoid conflict of interests, the Directors who are also
directors and/or senior management of the Company’s
single largest Shareholder and/or certain subsidiaries of
the single largest Shareholder, would abstain from voting in
the relevant Board resolutions in relation to the transactions
with the single largest Shareholder and/or its associates.

4. The chairman of the Board shall meet with independent
non-executive Directors at least once annually.

58 All members of the Board can seek independent
professional advice when necessary to perform their
responsibilities in accordance with the Company’s policy.

The Board reviews the mechanisms for ensuring independent
views and input are available to the Board on an annual basis,
whether in terms of proportion, recruitment and independence of
independent non-executive Directors, and their contribution and
access to external independent professional advice.
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BOARD RESPONSIBILITIES AND DELEGATION OF
AUTHORITY

The Board is responsible for the leadership and control of the
Company, directing and supervising the affairs of the Company
and acting in the best interests of the Company and the
Shareholders.

The Board is responsible for and has general authority over the
management and operation of the business of the Company,
including the determination of the business of the Company
strategy and investment plans, the implementation of resolutions
passed at general meetings and the exercise of other powers,
functions and duties conferred by Articles of Association. The
Board is also responsible for formulating and reviewing the
Company’s policies and practices with respect to corporate
governance, risk management and internal controls, and legal and
regulatory compliance.

The Board stands at the core of the Company’s corporate
governance structure and there is a clear division of
responsibilities between the Board and the senior management
of the Company. The Company has clearly delineated the
responsibilities of the general meeting, the Board, the Board of
Supervisors and the senior management. The general meeting
is the highest authority of the Company, and the Board is
accountable to the general meeting. The Board has established
four specialized committees, which operate under the leadership
of the Board and advise the Board on its decisions. The Board of
Supervisors oversees the Board and senior management in the
performance of their duties, as well as the financial activities, risk
management and internal controls of the Company. Under the
leadership of the Board, the senior management is responsible
for the implementation of the Board’s resolutions and for the daily
operations and management of the Company, and reports to the
Board and the Board of Supervisors.

CHAIRMAN OF THE BOARD AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE
OFFICER

The roles of the chairman and chief executive officer are
separate and are not performed by the same individual as
this ensures better checks and balances and hence better
corporate governance. Mr. WANG Jianguo holds the position
of the chairman, who is primarily responsible for the strategic
development of the Group and the effective operation of the
Board. Mr. XU Xiuxian serves as the chief executive officer, who is
primarily responsible for the overall management and operation of
the Group.
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BEEEZ TR BOARD DIVERSITY POLICY

RIE EHRBNE13.9215 - IREREZESEZHITARM  Inaccordance with Rule 13.92 of the Listing Rules, the Nomination
EEEWMEZ TR - EHEARAIMIEREE Committee shall formulate a policy concerning diversity of
B ARRIEERRE - &8 A 7 - %EF A  the Board members. In formulating its nomination policy, the
=B FRESEFTAGEHZ 0 AR  Company has created measurable targets in the following areas,
BANEBEEEREE TELER  #HESES BYM - including expertise, experience, knowledge, professional skills,
FREZEEZREKRT  FEEYAFFEZREE  education background, independence, age, etc. In doing so, the
HEESHELHEEER - HE=ESEURIZticim  Company can ensure its Directors reach the eligible level in terms
5 ETEBRE—PHTE  ESSRNEERMERE  of their expertise, industrial experience, education background,
AEFEBRANAEZE=SR  EREEEEEREEINLZ  independence, age and other factors, which enable them to make
HEXERLY - EFLHEL2ERFMHENBHLEURE  corresponding contributions to the Board whenever necessary
RINEB R REBAIARRERMERNZ TLA@EE  and practicable. With regards to gender diversity on the Board,
T BRAEABHEFSEMRTAEMFES - our board diversity policy further provides that the Board shall
RERK - BEREAGEME NXAEIERZ Tttt  take opportunities to increase the proportion of female members
RAENEETCBESETANAAEE  NAF  over time when selecting and making recommendations on
i suitable candidates for Board appointments. The Board would
ensure that appropriate balance of gender diversity is achieved
with reference to stakeholders’ expectation and international
and local recommended best practices, with the ultimate goal of
bringing the Board to gender parity. Going forward and with a
view to developing a pipeline of potential successors to the Board
that may meet the targeted gender diversity ratio set out below,
the Company will:

(i) SEENT R DEEFTSRELIU#ET () continue to make appointments based on merits with
L reference to board diversity as a whole;

(i) BBRBETRMEANMET  WEEHREAR (i) take steps to promote gender diversity at all levels of the
NEIEEBHRAMRZ T Company by recruiting staff of different gender;

(iiy ZEMEZ=QRB/EBUVERERERNZ (i)  consider the possibility of nominating female management
MEERES TR & staff who has the necessary skills and experience to the

Board; and

(iv) REBREZIE#SNEEIIZES THIEM (v) provide career development opportunities and more

BZER BERARESESATEEXIA resources in training female staff with the aim of promoting
RAEIEEE #MELARAREFREIHE them to the senior management or board of the Company
ELUESREBRERESSBEHETANA so that the Company will have a pipeline of female senior
7R o management and potential successors to the Board in a

few years’ time.
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Nomination Committee is responsible for ensuring diversity within
the Board members and will use its best efforts to identify and
recommend suitable candidates, including female candidates,
for the Board’s consideration. We also welcome candidates of
different genders to apply for our mid to senior level positions. The
ultimate decision of the appointment will be based on merits and
the contribution the selected candidates could bring to the Board
and management team. The Board believes that such merit-
based selection criteria will best enable the Company to serve the
Shareholders and other stakeholders going forward. The Company
and the Nomination Committee regularly review its nomination
policy and are open to adopt measurable objectives based on the
Company’s future business needs while aligning with the current
statutory requirements and sound corporate governance.

At present, members of our Board consisted of 1 female and
8 males, aged from 36 to 63 and with education background
and professional experience covering management, economy,
finance, law, financial, etc. The Company has fully considered the
diversified requirements of Board members in terms of gender,
age, region, education background and professional experience.
The Company confirmed that the composition of the Board
satisfies the requirements regarding diversity of board of directors
(including gender diversity) set out in the Listing Rules. In the
future, the Company will continue to identify and appoint female
Director, with appropriate qualification and experience, in the
Board. The Directors will exercise fiduciary duties in the process,
acting in the best interests of the Company and the Shareholders
as a whole when making the relevant appointments.

In addition to the Board level, the Company also values diversity
across all levels of its employees (including gender diversity).
Please refer to the section headed “Relationship with Stakeholders
- Employees” in this annual report for the details (including gender
ratio, etc.) of all employees (including senior management).
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Continuing Professional Development for Directors

Each newly appointed Director, including Mr. SUN Chao and
Mr. DIAO Yang, has been provided with necessary induction
and information to ensure that they have a proper understanding
of the Company’s operations and businesses as well as their
responsibilities under the relevant statutes, laws, rules and
regulations. Both Mr. SUN Chao and Mr. DIAO Yang confirmed
that they (i) obtained the legal opinion referred to in Rule 3.09D
of the Listing Rules in February 2023 and November 20283,
respectively, and (ii) understand their obligations as a Director of
a listed issuer under the Listing Rules.

Directors shall participate in appropriate continuing professional
development in accordance with code provision C.1.4 of the CG
Code to develop and update their knowledge and skills to ensure
informed and relevant contribution to the Board. Seminars are
also arranged on a regular basis to update the Directors from time
to time on the latest developments and changes in the Listing
Rules and other relevant legal and regulatory requirements to
ensure that they have a proper understanding of the Company’s
operations and business and their obligations under the relevant
statutes, laws, rules and regulations. The Directors are also
provided with regular updates on the performance, position and
prospects of the Company to enable the Board as a whole and
each of the Directors to discharge their duties. The Company’s
solicitors and joint company secretaries update and provide
written training materials to the Directors from time to time on their
roles, functions and responsibilities.




EEEAKRBERAT
Huitongda Network Co., Lid.

TEERBE
Corporate Governance Report

BEANSYRFERAARAIRIEBESMNEN  Directors are required to submit to the Company details of the
HIE USARRRGFESNEEREE - W training they have received in each financial year in order for the

EHA - ARRRTHEFHFIBRMAT ¢

Company to keep proper training records of the Directors. During
the Reporting Period, the training for Directors conducted by the
Company was as follows:

FRBREEEXRRE
(Ht&E)

Director Continuing
Professional
Development Involved

EEnE Name of Directors (Note)
EERFRHFPTES: Chairman and Non-executive Director:

TR E Mr. WANG Jianguo a,b
HITESE Executive Directors:

BEBLE Mr. XU Xiuxian a,b
itz Beteivka =S Mr. ZHAO Liangsheng a,b
FIBE A (2023F2 A10BEERT) Mr. SUN Chao (appointed on February 10, 2023) a,b
FHITEE Non-executive Directors:

AP A Mr. CAl Zhonggiu a,b
FAEAE Mr. WANG Ran a,b
BAUFHTES: Independent Non-executive Directors:

BBt Ms. YU Lixin a,b
e EE s Mr. LIU Xiangdong a,b
A% e (202311 A14BEEE) Mr. DIAO Yang (appointed on November 14, 2023) a,b
EFERE (2023F 11 14 BEIME) Mr. CHENG Zichuan (ceased on November 14, 2023) RIETER

Not confirmed

MEE -

Notes:
QMBMESAIRENERRARREKAEBY a Participating in the training offered by the law firm and related
7= to the Company’s business
MiEZEaE (BECETREE BEFHE b: Reading materials on a variety of topics, including corporate

LR R E A ARRAR) MR

governance issues, Directors’ duties, Listing Rules and other
relevant laws
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Board Meetings

Notice of all regular Board meetings of the Company shall be
given to all Directors at least 14 days in advance to give them an
opportunity to attend the regular meetings and place matters on
the agenda.

For other Board meetings and Board committee meetings, the
Company generally gives a reasonable notice. The meeting
agenda and accompanying Board papers are sent to the
Directors or Board committee members at least three days prior
to the Board meeting or Board committee meeting to ensure that
the Directors have sufficient time to review the papers and are
well prepared to attend the Board meeting or Board committee
meeting. If a Director or Board committee member is unable to
attend a meeting, he/she will be informed of the matters to be
discussed and will have an opportunity to inform the Chairman
of his/her views prior to the meeting. Minutes of the meetings
shall be kept by the Joint Company Secretaries and copies are
circulated among all Directors for information and records.

Minutes of Board meetings and Board committee meetings shall
record in detail the matters considered and decisions made by the
Board and Board committees, including any issues raised by the
Directors. Minutes of each Board meeting and Board committee
meeting are drafted and sent to the Directors for their comments
within a reasonable time after the date of the meeting. Minutes of
the Board meetings are open for inspection by all Directors.
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REEER - ARRIHEEBITTeNEEEHILAM3  During the Reporting Period, 6 Board meetings were held and 3

RERAE  SEEREFTCEZRBREKREMHE  general meetings were convened, and the attendance records of

R - each Director at the Board meetings and the general meetings
above are as follows.

BEHERY SERHESERY
Attendances in person/
Number of Meetings
EEpR Name of Directors eligible to attend
Exg BRRRE
Board meetings General meetings

EERFIYITESE: Chairman and Non-executive Director:

TEE LA Mr. WANG Jianguo 6/6 3/3
HITES Executive Directors:

BREBXE Mr. XU Xiuxian 6/6 3/3
A E Mr. ZHAO Liangsheng 6/6 2/2

FERSCHE (20232 A10EBEZE(E)  Mr. SUN Chao
(appointed on February 10, 2023)

FEHITESE Non-executive Directors:
BhIEE Mr. CAl Zhonggiu 6/6 3/3
FHEEE Mr. WANG Ran 6/6 3/3
BUFHTES: Independent Non-executive Directors:
BBzt Ms. YU Lixin 6/6 3/3
Bl RS- Mr. LIU Xiangdong 6/6 3/3
A5k E (2023F 11 H14BEZE) Mr. DIAO Yang

(appointed on November 14, 2023) 0/0 0/0
BFEHR4 (2023F11 A14BEE) Mr. CHENG Zichuan

(ceased on November 14, 2023) 2/6 1/3

REZFSHHE AR LSEEREMEA During the Board meetings, the senior management of the
EERHATINEBEEREEER - #Hiy7ESE  Company provides the Directors with information on the business
TMEEEIEMITEER N » LERHESEHATIER  activities and development of the Company in a timely manner.
BRERIEBEETIEER o The Executive Directors also frequently communicate with the

Non-executive Directors to obtain their views on the Company’s

business development and operations.
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BOARD COMMITTEES

In accordance with relevant PRC laws, regulations, the Articles of
Association and the corporate governance practice prescribed in
the Listing Rules, we have formed four Board committees, namely
the Strategy Committee, the Audit Committee, the Nomination
Committee and the Remuneration and Appraisal Committee.

STRATEGY COMMITTEE

The Strategy Committee consists of three Directors, including one
executive Director and two non-executive Directors, namely Mr.
WANG Jianguo, Mr. XU Xiuxian and Mr. WANG Ran. Mr. WANG
Jianguo serves as the chairman of the committee. The primary
duties of the Strategy Committee include (but are not limited to):

1. studying and regularly advising on our business objectives
and medium to long-term development strategy in
accordance with operation and the changes in the market;

2. reviewing annual business plans and any material change
or adjustment in implementation and advise the Board
accordingly;

& regularly assessing and inspecting the implementation of

the above issues after they have been approved by the
Board and report to the Board; and

4. handling other matters required by laws, regulations, rules,
normative documents, regulatory rules of the jurisdictions
where the Shares are listed, the Articles of Association or
as authorised by the Board.
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During the Reporting Period, the Strategy Committee held 3 meetings.

The primary duties of the Strategy Committee in 2023 included the
following:

° Review of the report on the implementation of the
development and investment plan for 2022;

° Review of the 2022 Environmental, Social and Governance
Report.
° Review of the 2024 development investment plan;

The following is the attendance of each member during the
Reporting Period:

BEHERY,

BERHESERH

Attendances in person/

Number of Meetings

EENE Name of Directors eligible to attend
TFRELE (EF) Mr. WANG Jianguo (Chairman) 3/3
BREExE Mr. XU Xiuxian 3/3
EHREAE Mr. WANG Ran 3/3
ETEE® AUDIT COMMITTEE

BB -RERAR  BERHTEER
MAEBILIEMITES - MEBH L  EHELE -
&%‘JF’J%?‘EE c BRBMALEEZZEENIRE -
B ZEENIEREBE (BRRR)
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TR
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AR ) RSB RS HIEBER - XTI
T

BERNRBNGETBR - MBAR - BH =R
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The Audit Committee consists of three Directors, including an
executive Director and two independent non-executive Directors,
namely Ms. YU Lixin, Mr. WANG Ran and Mr. LIU Xiangdong. Ms.
YU Lixin serves as the chairlady of the committee. The primary
duties of the Audit Committee include (but are not limited to):

1. to review annually the performance of the external audit
firm, submit a summary of the annual audit work of the
Company conducted by the external audit firm during the
year to the Board;

2. to communicate between the Company’s internal audit
department and external audit firm;

38 to, on an as-needed basis, formulate and implement policy
on the provision of non-audit services by the external audit
firm (including its affiliates);

4. to review the Company’s accounting policies, financial
position, financial reporting procedures and financial
controls; to review completeness, accuracy and fairness
of the financial statements, the quarterly (if any), half-year
and annual reports and accounts of the Company and
review significant financial reporting comments contained
therein, as well as the disclosure of the Company’s financial
information;
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to discuss with the external auditor about issues and areas
of concern arising from the audit on half-year and full-year
accounts of the Company and any other matters that the
external auditor may wish to discuss;

to examine the financial policies, internal audit system,
internal control system and risk management system of the
Company and provide opinions and recommendations for
improvements;

to establish relevant procedures and ensure the impartial
and independent investigation and resolution of the
matters;

to advise and ensure that the Board takes effective
remedial measures for the Company’s failure to comply
with the requirements of the Listing Rules regarding the
establishment of an audit committee;

to complete other tasks assigned by the Board;

to discharge other duties imposed by the laws, regulations
and normative documents, regulatory bodies including
the Hong Kong Stock Exchange and the Securities and
Futures Commission of Hong Kong, as well as the Articles
of Association and the rules of procedures of the Board;

To develop and review the Company’s policies
and practices on corporate governance and make
recommendations to the Board;

To review and supervise the training and continuous
professional development of Directors and senior
management;

To review and supervise the Company’s policies and
practices on compliance with legal and regulatory
requirements;

To supervise the work of the internal audit department of
the Company, and to provide opinions and suggestions
on the assessment and change of the head of the internal
audit department of the Company;

To supervise potential improprieties of the Company’s
employees in financial reporting, internal control or other
aspects; and

To review the Company’s compliance with the CG Code
and disclosure in the Corporate Governance Report.



EEEAKRBERAT
Huitongda Network Co., Lid.

TEERRE
Corporate Governance Report

Hf - B ZEBERTBT7 XEE Bt
2023 FMEBTERIENA TR ¢

ER2022FFEME - BRLEED
R HEehkERlRE EFg

R RBBEEE DM
E 012023 F P MR E R P HIRE D
BEREERERERH LR R

HRIMNEZHED - BRRENTE  RER
EEKM B 2RENFELRB RS
BVBSAE RN -

During the Reporting Period, the Audit Committee held 7
meetings. The Audit Committee’s major work during the year 2023
includes the following:

° reviewing the 2022 annual report, including the Corporate
Governance Report, the ESG Report, the Directors’ Report
and the financial statements, as well as the related results

announcement;

° reviewing the 2023 interim report and interim results
announcement;

° reviewing the renewal of caps for continuing connected

transactions; and

° in relation to the external auditor, reviewing their plans,
reports and management letter, fees, involvement in non —
audit services, and their terms of engagement.
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UTREZENRERRLFEGRIBFN The following is the attendance of each member during the
Reporting Period:

BEHERE
REREESRRE
Attendances in person/
Number of Meetings

g Name of Directors eligible to attend
EBHzL (£F) Ms. YU Lixin (Chairlady) 7/7
Bl R EAE Mr. LIU Xiangdong 717
THEE Mr. WANG Ran 7/7
REZEE NOMINATION COMMITTEE

BEEEem=-RKESAK B —LIEHTES  The Nomination Committee consists of three Directors, including

LGB IEITES BB EE - THELER an executive Director and two independent non-executive

AEE L E c ABEEEFZEZESNIE - 124 Directors, namely Mr. DIAO Yang, Mr. WANG Ran, and Mr.

ZEENTERSVIE (BTER) : LIU Xiangdong. Mr. DIAO Yang serves as the chairman of the
committee. The primary duties of the Nomination Committee
include (but are not limited to):

1. MERBTES  SREBASHEEEZELE 1. to consider and draw up the criteria and procedures for
MREFTRESSRYIER  ZEENEER selecting Directors and senior management and make
FETERR Xt - HEESUARBEL recommendations thereon to the Board. Factors to be
B considered include but are not limited to culture, education

background and experience of occupation;

2. BELhYEEKNESEARE  MEEQRELE 2 to identify qualified candidates for directorship and

REER HEF (LHEESER)REAE recommend candidates to the Board, and exam the
TEREWIRHES candidates running for the positions of the Directors

(especially the chairman of the Board) and make
recommendations thereon;
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to identify candidates for senior management, exam
the candidates running for the positions of the senior
management of the Company (especially the general
manager) and make recommendations thereon;

to review the independence of the independent non-
executive Directors;

to review the structure, size and composition (including
the skills, knowledge and experience) of the Board at least
once a year and make recommendations to the Board
on any proposed change to the Board to implement the
Company’s strategies, and to assess the structure of the
committees under the Board, recommend members to the
relevant committees from the directors, and submit to the
Board for approval;

to establish the plan for reserving potential directors and
senior management and make updates from time to time;

to evaluate the performance of the directors and make
advice or recommendations on the replacement,
reappointment or succession of directors (including the
chairman and the chief executive officer) based on the
evaluation results;

to formulate and (as appropriate) review the policy on
Board diversity from time to time adopted by the Board,
and to review the progress on achieving the objectives
and make disclosure of the relevant policy reviewed by
the Committee or its summary in the annual report of the
Company; and

other matters required by relevant laws, administrative
regulations, the Listing Rules and the Articles of
Association and authorized by the Board.
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RWERME - IRBRLZESRITR2REE - During the Reporting Period, the Nomination Committee held 2
meetings.
REZEER2023FMEETERTBEUTRIA The primary duties of the Nomination Committee in 2023 included

the following:

. R EEGHIREE AR ARKRKEZITT e Reviewing the structure, size, composition and diversity of
it the Board;
J BB IERITESHE LN & o Reviewing the independence of independent non-executive

Directors; and

. HERYMEERNEFAE RNEZFRDL o Identifying qualified candidates for directorships and
REER - making recommendations to the Board for nomination.
NTREZEaNREPHRERERBR The following is the attendance of each member during the

Reporting Period:

FEHERE
BEREESRAH
Attendances in person/
Number of Meetings

EEnE Name of Directors eligible to attend

AR E (£E) (2023411 A14HEZ(E) Mr. DIAO Yang (Chairman) 0/0
(appointed on November 14, 2023)

MR E Mr. LIU Xiangdong 2/2

FHEE Mr. WANG Ran 2/2

BFE%4 (2023611 A14BEIE) Mr. CHENG Zichuan 1/2

(ceased on November 14, 2023)
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Nomination Procedures

The Company has also adopted procedures for nomination
and election of Directors. The policy sets out the criteria and
procedures for selection and performance evaluation and provides
guidance to the Board on the nomination and appointment of
Directors. The Board believes that a clear selection process
facilitates corporate governance, ensures the continuity of Board,
maintains the leadership of Board, and enhances the efficiency
and diversity of the Board.

Both the Nomination Committee and the Board can nominate
candidates for Directors. When evaluating the suitability of
recommended candidates and their potential contributions to the
Board, the Nomination Committee may refer to certain selection
criteria such as integrity, professional qualifications and skills,
achievements and experience in the Internet and technology
fields, commitment and related contributions. The Nomination
Committee shall report the evaluation results to the Board on the
appointment of suitable Director candidates and provide relevant
recommendations for the Board to make decisions and formulate
a general election plan. The Board shall bear the ultimate
responsibility for the selection and appointment of Directors.
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REMUNERATION AND APPRAISAL COMMITTEE

The Remuneration and Appraisal Committee consists of three
Directors, including one executive Director and two independent
non-executive Directors, namely Mr. LIU Xiangdong, Mr.
XU Xiuxian, and Ms. YU Lixin. Mr. LIU Xiangdong serves as
the chairman of the committee. The primary duties of the
Remuneration and Appraisal Committee include (but are not
limited to):

1. to formulate remuneration policy, make recommendations
to the Board and oversee the implementation in respect
of the overall remuneration policy and structure of the
Directors and senior management (including but not limited
to the performance appraisal criteria, procedures and key
appraisal system, and major incentive and penalty plans
and systems, etc.) and setting up formal and transparent
procedures, based on the major scope, responsibility and
importance of the respective positions of the Directors
and senior management and the remuneration of the same
position paid by comparable companies;

2. to review and approve proposals on management’s
remuneration according to the corporate goals and
objectives developed by the Board;

& to examine the performance of duties by the Directors
and senior management, conduct annual performance
appraisals of them, and formulate annual incentives
schemes which shall be submitted to the Board for
approval and implementation;

4. to supervise the implementation of the remuneration system
of the Company;

(5 to recommend to the Board the remuneration packages
offered to individual executive Directors and senior
management, including benefits in kind, pension and
compensation (including compensation paid for loss or
termination of office or appointment), and to recommend
to the Board concerning remuneration offered to non-
executive Directors;
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11.

12.

13.

to consult the chairman of the Board or the general
manager in respect to the compensation proposed for
other executive Directors. The Remuneration and Appraisal
Committee shall seek independent professional opinions if
necessary;

to consider salaries paid by comparable companies,
time commitment and responsibilities, and employment
conditions elsewhere in the Group;

to review and approve compensation payable to the
executive Directors and senior management for any loss
or termination of office or appointment to ensure that it is
consistent with contractual terms and is otherwise fair and
not excessive;

to review and approve compensation arrangements relating
to dismissal or removal of the Directors for misconduct to
ensure that they are consistent with contractual terms and
are otherwise reasonable and appropriate;

to ensure that any Directors or his/her associate(s),
as defined in the Listing Rules, shall not participate
in determining his/her own remuneration, and that the
remuneration of non-executive Directors who are also
members of the Remuneration and Appraisal Committee
shall be determined by other members of the Remuneration
and Appraisal Committee;

to review incentives schemes and Directors’ service
contracts;

to review and approve matters relating to share schemes
under Chapter 17 of the Listing Rules; and

other matters required by laws, regulations, department
rules, relevant regulatory rules of the securities regulatory
authorities and the stock exchanges in the place where
the Company’s securities are listed and authorized by the
Board.
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REEHE - FNEETZESETH4 X EE > During the Reporting Period, the Remuneration and Appraisal
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following:

° reviewing and recommending to the Board in respect of
the remuneration policies and structure of the Company
to ensure that the Company’s remuneration packages are
competitive to recruit the best talents in the industry and to
retain key staff;

° reviewing and recommending to the Board on the
remuneration packages for the Directors;

. assessing performance and, reviewing and approving
adjustments to the remuneration packages for the members
of the senior management team;

° reviewing and approving compensation awards granted to
senior management team, recognising their contributions
to the Company and providing incentives for future
performances; and

° reviewing and approving the grant of RSUs.

The following is the attendance of each member during the
Reporting Period:

BEHERY,
BERHESERY
Attendances in person/
Number of Meetings

EEpR Name of Directors eligible to attend
BIMRELE (EFF) Mr. LIU Xiangdong (Chairman) 4/4
BEBLEAE Mr. XU Xiuxian 4/4

BBzt Ms. YU Lixin 4/4
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RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL

The Board has established a risk management and internal control
system in accordance with the requirements of the CG Code,
and is responsible for independently reviewing the adequacy and
effectiveness of the Company’s risk management and internal
control system, continuously monitoring and reviewing the
effectiveness of its operation at least once a year. The system
is designed to manage, rather than eliminate, the risk of failure
to achieve business objectives, promote effective and efficient
operations, provide reasonable assurance of financial reporting
reliability and compliance with applicable laws and regulations,
and safeguard the Company’s assets. The Board can only make
reasonable but not absolute assurances that there will be no
material misrepresentation or loss.

Characteristics of risk management and internal control
organizational system

The Company has established a sound risk management and
internal control organizational system, including the Board of
Directors, the Audit Committee, the Board of Supervisors, the
Company’s management, office of the Board, internal control
management center and other departments according to the
requirements of code provision D.2 of the CG Code, so as to
ensure that the Company has sufficient resources, employee
qualifications and experience, sufficient training courses and
relevant budget.

The Company has formulated risk management policies and
procedures, clarified the risk management structure and
responsibility permissions, established three lines of defense for
risk management and control, identified major risks that hinder the
realization of objectives, and controlled them within acceptable
levels to ensure the achievement of business objectives, the
improvement of operational efficiency, and the reliability of
financial reports and compliance with national regulations and
other compliance requirements.

First line of defense:

The first line of defense is mainly implemented by the Company’s
business departments, which are responsible for daily operations
and for designing and implementing control measures to address
risks.
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Second line of defense:

The second line of defense is mainly implemented by the
Company’ s internal control management center, financial
management center, system operation department and other
departments with similar functions. This line of defense is
responsible for the formulation of policies related to operations,
finance, compliance and litigation, information security and
internal control of the Company, as well as planning and
implementing the construction of the overall risk control system.
To ensure the implementation of such systems, the second line
of defense also assists and supervises the first line of defense in
establishing and improving risk management and internal control
systems.

Third line of defense:

The third line of defense mainly consists of the internal audit
team, the Audit Committee and the Board of Supervisors. The
Board of Directors shall assume the ultimate responsibility
for the establishment and improvement of the Company's risk
management and internal control system and the implementation
of risk management, and shall serve as the highest decision-
making body for the risk management and internal control of the
Company.

The Audit Committee is responsible for performing the functions
as set out in code provision A.2.1 of the CG Code. The Audit
Committee will review the Company’s corporate governance
policies and practices, the training and continuous professional
development of Directors and senior management, the Company’s
policies and practices on compliance with legal and regulatory
requirements, compliance with the Model Code and the Employee
Written Guidelines, and the Company’s compliance with the CG
Code and disclosures made in this Corporate Governance Report.

The Board has reviewed the risk management and internal
monitoring during the Reporting Period. The results of the
Company’s risk management and internal control during the
Reporting Period show that the Company does not have any major
risk monitoring errors, nor does it find any major risk monitoring
weaknesses. The Board considers that the risk management
and internal control systems of the Company are effective and
adequate.
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The Company has put in place appropriate internal control
procedures and guidelines to avoid improper handling of inside
information which may constitute insider trading or breach of any
other statutory duty. At any time, access to inside information
is limited to the relevant personnel (i.e. the Directors, senior
management and relevant employees of the Company) and as the
situation requires until it is disclosed or released in accordance
with applicable laws and regulations. Directors, senior
management and relevant employees of the Company who are in
possession of potential inside information and/or inside information
are required to take reasonable steps to ensure that adequate
safeguards are in place to ensure the strict confidentiality of inside
information and that recipients understand their responsibility to
keep the information confidential.

DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITY FOR THE FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

The Directors acknowledge their responsibility for preparing the
financial statements of the Company for the year ended December
31, 2023.

The Board shall be responsible for presenting a clear and
understandable assessment of annual and interim reports, inside
information and other disclosures required under the Listing
Rules and other regulatory requirements. The senior management
has provided to the Board such interpretations and information
as are necessary to enable the Board to carry out an informed
assessment of the Company’s financial statements and position,
which are submitted to the Board for approval.

The Directors are not aware of any event or circumstance of
material uncertainties that may cast significant doubt on the
Company'’s ability to continue as a going concern.

The auditor’s statement of reporting responsibilities on the
Company’s consolidated financial statements for the year
ended December 31, 2023 are set out in the section headed
“Independent Auditor’'s Report” of this annual report.
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AUDITOR’S REMUNERATION

The auditor’s remuneration for audit and non-audit services
provided to the Company during the year ended December 31,
2023 is set out below:

SE(AR%ETR)
PR 7% %8 51 Service categories Amount (RMB’000)
EiT IR Audit services 7,100
H it T 5t A% Other audit services 1,500
JERFTARTE (BaE) Non-audit services (Note) 580
Bt Total 9,180

i3
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ZEELBRDG/ R EEEEE - LS
TR A3 29 R T o

Note: Non-audit services include financial due diligence advisory
and tax related services.

JOINT COMPANY SECRETARIES

Ms. TANG Min, the joint company secretary, is responsible for
advising the Board on corporate governance matters and ensuring
that the Board policy and procedures, and the applicable laws,
rules and regulations are followed.

In order to uphold good corporate governance and ensure
compliance with the Listing Rules and applicable Hong Kong
laws, the Company also engages Ms. AU Wai Ching from SWCS
Corporate Services Group (Hong Kong) Limited, which is a
corporate service provider, as one of its joint company secretaries
to assist Ms. TANG Min to discharge her duties as company
secretary of the Company. The key contacts of Ms. AU Wai Ching
in the Company is Ms. TANG Min.

For the year ended December 31, 2023, Ms. TANG Min and Ms.
AU Wai Ching have participated in relevant professional training
for no less than 15 hours to comply with rule 3.29 of the Listing
Rules.
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COMMUNICATION WITH SHAREHOLDERS AND
INVESTOR RELATIONS

The Company considers that effective communication with
Shareholders is essential for enhancing investor relations and
understanding of the Group’s business, performance and
strategies. The Company also recognizes the importance of timely
and non-selective disclosure of information, which will enable
the Shareholders and investors to make informed investment
decisions.

The annual general meeting of the Company provides opportunity
for the Shareholders to communicate directly with the Directors.
The chairman of the Board, and the chairmen of the Board
committees will attend the annual general meeting to answer
the Shareholders’ questions. Auditors will also attend the annual
general meeting to answer questions on the conduct of the
audit, the preparation and content of the auditor’'s reports, the
accounting policies and auditors’ independence.

To promote effective communication and establish a two-
way relationship and communication between the Company
and the Shareholders, the Company adopts a Shareholders’
communication policy and maintains a website at (www.htd.cn), where
up-to-date information on the Company’s business operations
and developments, financial information, corporate governance
practices and other information are available for public access.

The Company endeavours to maintain an on-going dialogue with
Shareholders and in particular, through annual general meeting
and other general meetings.

During the Reporting Period, the Company actively expanded the
communication channels with investors, and maintained good
communication and interaction with investors through various
forms such as results briefings, operation tracking exchange
meetings, investor reception day and large-scale offline exchange
activities, brokerage strategy meetings, and analyst surveys. In
addition, the Company responded to investors’ questions in time
through the investor relationship mobile and email, and submitted
reasonable suggestions to the management.
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Shareholders Communication Policy

The Company has established a shareholder communication
policy to ensure that Shareholders’ comments and concerns are
properly addressed. The Board shall regularly review the policy
on an annual basis to ensure its effectiveness.

As part of its regular review, the Board has reviewed the
shareholder communication policy for the Year and is of the view
that they are effective and adequately implemented.

Shareholders’ Rights

According to the Articles of Association, the procedures for
Shareholders to convene an extraordinary general meeting, to
make inquiries and to make suggestions at the general meeting
are as follows:

1) Convene an extraordinary general meeting

Shareholders who individually or collectively hold more
than 10% of the Company’s Shares may sign one or several
written requests in the same format to request the Board
to convene an extraordinary general meeting or a class
general meeting, and clarify the topics of the meeting. The
Board shall, in accordance with the provisions of laws,
administrative laws and regulations, the Listing Rules
and the Articles of Association of the Company, provide
written feedback on whether or not to agree to hold an
extraordinary general meeting or a class general meeting
within 10 days after receiving the request.

If the Board agrees to convene an extraordinary general
meeting or a class general meeting, a notice of the meeting
shall be issued within 5 days after the resolution of the
Board is passed. Changes made to the original request in
the notice shall be approved by relevant Shareholders.
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If the Board does not agree to hold the extraordinary
general meeting or the class general meeting or fails to
give a reply within 10 days after receipt of the proposal,
Shareholder(s) severally or jointly holding no less than
10% Shares of the Company shall be entitled to propose
in writing to the Board of Supervisors to convene an
extraordinary general meeting or a class general meeting.

If the Board of Supervisors agrees to convene the
extraordinary general meeting or the class general
meeting, it shall serve a notice of such meeting within
5 days after receipt of the said request. In the event
of any change to the original proposal, the consent of
relevant Shareholder(s) shall be obtained. If the Board of
Supervisors fails to issue the notice for the Shareholders’
general meeting or the class general meeting within the
specified time, the Board of Supervisors shall be deemed
as failing to convene or preside the general meeting or
the class general meeting. The Shareholder(s) severally or
jointly holding no less than 10% Shares of the Company
for no less than 90 consecutive days may convene and
preside over such meeting on his or their own.

Make enquiries to the Board

Shareholders who intend to make enquiries about the
Company to the Board may send their enquiries to the
Investor Relations Department of the Company by email
at ir@htd.cn. The Company will not handle verbal or
anonymous enquiries in general.

Make recommendations to the general meeting

Shareholders who individually or collectively hold more
than 3% of the Company’s Shares may put forward an
interim proposal and submit it to the convener in writing 10
days before the general meeting. The convener shall issue
a Supplementary notice of the general meeting within 2
days after receiving the proposal, notify other Shareholders
and submit the interim proposal to the general meeting for
approval.
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A written notice shall be given at least 20 days prior to the
convening of the annual general meeting, and at least 15
days prior to the convening of the extraordinary general
meeting. Where laws, regulations and the securities
regulatory authority of the place where the Company’s
stocks are listed provide otherwise, such provisions shall
prevail.

To safeguard Shareholders’ interests and rights, a separate
resolution will be proposed for each matter at general meetings,
including the election of individual Directors.

All resolutions put forward at general meetings will be voted on by
poll pursuant to the Listing Rules and poll results will be posted on
the websites of the Company and the Hong Kong Stock Exchange
in a timely manner after each general meeting.

AMENDMENT OF THE ARTICLES OF ASSOCIATION

The Company held the 2023 second extraordinary general
meeting on November 14, 2023, at which the amendments to the
Articles of Association were considered and approved, with effect
from November 14, 2023. For details, please refer to the circular
of the Company dated October 20, 2023 and the poll results
announcement of the Company dated November 14, 2023.

The latest Articles of Association were published on the website of
the Hong Kong Stock Exchange on November 14, 2023.
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*

EHET

To the shareholders of Huitongda Network Co., Ltd.*
(Incorporated in the People’s Republic of China with limited
liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of FEifiE
M4 R% 3 B PR A A Huitongda Network Co., Ltd.* (“the Company”)
and its subsidiaries (‘the Group”) set out on pages 124 to 288,
which comprise the consolidated statement of financial position
as at December 31, 2023, the consolidated statement of profit
or loss, the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income, the consolidated statement of changes
in equity and the consolidated cash flow statement for the year
then ended and notes, comprising material accounting policy
information and other explanatory information.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a
true and fair view of the consolidated financial position of the
Group as at December 31, 2023 and of its consolidated financial
performance and its consolidated cash flows for the year then
ended in accordance with International Financial Reporting
Standards (“IFRSs”) issued by the International Accounting
Standards Board (“IASB”) and have been properly prepared in
compliance with the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance.

*

For identification only.
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BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards
on Auditing (“HKSAs") issued by the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA"). Our responsibilities
under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s
responsibilities for the audit of the consolidated financial
statements section of our report. We are independent of the Group
in accordance with the HKICPA's Code of Ethics for Professional
Accountants (“the Code”) together with any ethical requirements
that are relevant to our audit of the consolidated financial
statements in the People’s Republic of China (“PRC”) and we have
fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with these
requirements and the Code. We believe that the audit evidence
we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis
for our opinion.

KEY AUDIT MATTER

Key audit matter is the matter that, in our professional judgement,
was of most significance in our audit of the consolidated financial
statements of the current period. This matter was addressed in the
context of our audit of the consolidated financial statements as a
whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide
a separate opinion on this matter.

117
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Recognition of revenue from merchandise sales

Refer to Note 5 to the consolidated financial statements and the
accounting policies on pages 133 to 179.

The Key Audit Matter

The principal activities of the Group are sales of a comprehensive
suite of merchandise in lower tier cities and rural areas in the PRC
and provision of intelligent business and marketing subscription
service, offering merchant solutions and rendering other various
related services.

The Group recognized revenue from merchandise sales of
RMB81,616 million for the year ended December 31, 2023.
Management evaluates the terms of individual contracts to
determine the Group’s performance obligations and appropriate
timing of revenue recognition.

Revenue from merchandise sales is recognized at the point in
time when the control of the merchandise has been transferred to
customers, being when the goods are delivered and accepted.

We identified the recognition of revenue from merchandise sales
as a key audit matter because revenue generated therefrom
accounts for the majority of the Group’s revenue and involves
large number of individual sales orders and because revenue
is one of the key performance indicators of the Group which
increases the risk of misstatement of the timing and amount of
revenue recognized by management to meet specific targets or
expectations.
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How the matter was addressed in our audit

Our audit procedures to assess the recognition of revenue from
merchandise sales included the following:

° obtaining an understanding of and assessing the
design, implementation and operating effectiveness of
management's key internal controls in relation to revenue
recognition;

° inspecting sales contracts, on a sample basis, to
understand the terms of the sales transactions including
the terms of delivery and acceptance and any sales
return, rebate and/or discount arrangements to assess if
the Group’s revenue recognition accounting policy was
in accordance with the requirements of the prevailing
accounting standards;

° comparing sales transactions recorded during the year,
on a sample basis, with invoices, sales contracts, and
customer acceptance records, where appropriate, to
assess whether the related revenue was recognized
in accordance with the Group’s revenue recognition
accounting policy;

° confirming, on a sample basis, the amount of sales
transactions for the year ended December 31, 2023 directly
with customers and inspecting underlying documentation
relating to reconciling differences between the transaction
amounts confirmed by customers and the Group's
accounting records;

° comparing, on a sample basis, specific revenue
transactions recorded before and after the year end date
with the underlying sales contracts, customer acceptance
records and other relevant supporting documents
to determine whether the related revenue had been
recognized in the appropriate financial year; and

° inspecting manual adjustments to revenue during the
financial year which met specific risk-based criteria,
enquiring of management about the reasons for such
adjustments and comparing details of the adjustments with
relevant underlying documentation.
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INFORMATION OTHER THAN THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND AUDITOR’S REPORT
THEREON

The directors are responsible for the other information. The other
information comprises all the information included in the annual
report, other than the consolidated financial statements and our
auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not
cover the other information and we do not express any form of
assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial
statements, our responsibility is to read the other information and,
in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially
inconsistent with the consolidated financial statements or our
knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be
materially misstated.

If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that
there is a material misstatement of this other information, we are
required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this
regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF THE DIRECTORS FOR THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors are responsible for the preparation of the
consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view
in accordance with IFRSs issued by the IASB and the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance and for
such internal control as the directors determine is necessary to
enable the preparation of consolidated financial statements that
are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors
are responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as a
going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going
concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless
the directors either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease
operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

The directors are assisted by the Audit Committee in discharging
their responsibilities for overseeing the Group’s financial reporting
process.
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether
the consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to
issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. This report is
made solely to you, as a body, and for no other purpose. We do
not assume responsibility towards or accept liability to any other
person for the contents of this report.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance but is not a
guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs
will always detect a material misstatement when it exists.
Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered
material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably
be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken
on the basis of these consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise
professional judgement and maintain professional scepticism
throughout the audit. We also:

° Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of
the consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud
or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive
to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient
and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The
risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting
from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as
fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions,
misrepresentations or the override of internal control.

° Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to
the audit in order to design audit procedures that are
appropriate in the circumstances but not for the purpose of
expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Group'’s
internal control.

° Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used
and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and
related disclosures made by the directors.
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° Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of
the going concern basis of accounting and, based on the
audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty
exists related to events or conditions that may cast
significant doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as a
going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty
exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s
report to the related disclosures in the consolidated
financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate,
to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the
audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s
report. However, future events or conditions may cause the
Group to cease to continue as a going concern.

. Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content
of the consolidated financial statements, including the
disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial
statements represent the underlying transactions and
events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

° Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the
financial information of the entities or business activities
within the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated
financial statements. We are responsible for the direction,
supervision and performance of the Group audit. We
remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among
other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and
significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in
internal control that we identify during our audit.

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that we
have complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding
independence and communicate with them all relationships and
other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our
independence and, where applicable, actions taken to eliminate
threats or safeguards applied.
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RERFZESEHEBNEER - RAEEYHAHL  From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee, we
AU BBENBARAEENEE - AMHEMKBEE  determine those matters that were of most significance in the
EritEE o RPEZBAREPHMZESE B audit of the consolidated financial statements of the current
EEARERTIAHFLAHEEEMSEIE - REMWZE  period and are therefore the key audit matters. We describe these
REERAT MR REBEHAERMKEFEBES  matters in our auditor’'s report unless law or regulation precludes
EERHAMERBBELN AR - HIFURTE  public disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely rare
TREERERERZEE - circumstances, we determine that a matter should not be
communicated in our report because the adverse consequences
of doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public
interest benefits of such communication.

HEARBI ZEARENETEEABARMEITL ©  The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent
auditor’s report is Chan Ting Yuen.

EEREMEHR KPMG

HEDI AT Certified Public Accountants
A PR 8th Floor, Prince’s Building
EITE1055 10 Chater Road
RFKRE8E Central, Hong Kong

20243 H27H March 27, 2024
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss

B E2023F 12 A31 B L FE (AARKEIR)
for the year ended December 31, 2023 (Expressed in Renminbi)

20234 20224
2023 2022
kg ARET T ARETIT
Note RMB’ 000 RMB’000
(&E5)
(restated)
(Mi3E4)
(Note 4)
WA Revenue 5 82,432,520 82,105,987
AR AR Cost of revenue (79,692,796) (79,517,886)
EF Gross profit 2,739,724 2,588,101
HaA Other revenue 6(a) 44,941 45,667
Hih s F58 Other net gain 6(b) 132,358 172,287
TR Research and development costs (93,502) (113,234)
HEREIHERE Selling and marketing expenses (1,380,775)  (1,356,381)
THRMEMEERET Administrative and other operating expenses (373,844) (401,327)
B 5 NHERGRERERE |Impairment loss on trade and other receivables 7(c) (274,889) (220,463)
KeERHE Profit from operations 794,013 714,650
U ON Finance income 7(a) 263,295 225,869
U AW Finance costs 7(a) (259,457) (286,551)
BFISUA (BRAR) S5 Net finance income/(costs) 3,838 (60,682)
e & A R] (B548),/FE  Share of (losses)/profits of associates 16 (829) 76
RR B A1 Profit before taxation 7 797,022 654,044
FRiSHE Income tax 8 (99,723) (96,225)
FEFNE Profit for the year 697,299 557,819
U AL FE4h Attributable to:
RARIREREA Equity shareholders of the Company 448,275 316,378
FEER A & Non-controlling interests 249,024 241,441
FEFME Profit for the year 697,299 557,819
BREF Earnings per share 11
ER(ARETT) Basic (RMB) 0.80 0.63
e (AR%T) Diluted (RMB) 0.80 0.63

£ 1335288 E MM iR A EM BIREN—3H -

statements.

The notes on pages 133 to 288 form part of these financial
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B ZE2023%F12 431 B LFE (AARKFIR)
for the year ended December 31, 2023 (Expressed in Renminbi)

2023%F 20224
2023 2022
Hfat AR¥T T ARBT T
Note RMB’ 000 RMB’000
(g=:75)
(restated)
(BF5E4)
(Note 4)
FERHE Profit for the year 697,299 557,819
FREMEEmKE Other comprehensive income for the year
(BiIEBEE) (after tax adjustments)
R sEEF 72 /Eam  Item that may be reclassified subsequently
HH - to profit or loss:
HENEEEHWIEAREE  Exchange difference on translation of financial
(NSNS e 35 statements of a subsidiary with functional
M currency other than Renminbi (13) -
FREMEZEREE Other comprehensive income for the year (13) =
FREZEKREHEE Total comprehensive income for the year 697,286 557,819
BT ALER: Attributable to:
RARREREA Equity shareholders of the Company 448,262 316,378
FEPERR R Non-controlling interests 249,024 241,441
FRE2EWEAE Total comprehensive income for the year 697,286 557,819

F133E 288 E MM iR R ZEM HIREM—3 D -

The notes on pages 133 to 288 form part of these financial
statements.
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(AARKETITR)
(Expressed in Renminbi)

20234 20224
2023 2022
Mt AR¥T T AR¥EFTT
Note RMB’ 000 RMB’000
(&E5)
(restated)
(F7E4)
(Note 4)
FREEE Non-current assets
Y BE R&E Property, plant and equipment 12 81,725 77,077
FREEE Right-of-use assets 13 78,293 106,875
wEME Investment property 14 25,298 15,881
REE R E 2 Interests in associates 16 11,831 9,660
R—HEeERAMNER Interests in a joint venture 17 14,700 =
AR EEFEAHEZE T AE Financial assets at fair value through other
el ENEREE comprehensive income 18 2,000 2,000
UAREEFEREZS) A AE Financial assets at fair value through
HiEENEREE profit or loss 19 898,163 547,987
EHREFER Pledged deposits 23(b) 20,000 820,000
TERIFER Time deposits 23(c) 430,000 320,000
BEBIEEE Deferred tax assets 32(b) 98,587 96,199
1,660,597 1,995,679
RBEE Current assets
ARBEFEEEZET A Financial assets at fair value through
EHARNEREE profit or loss 19 2,434,550 2,329,220
5E Inventories 20 2,581,063 2,553,074
B 5 R IE & B R Trade and bills receivables 21 2,830,982 3,206,462
FENFIE - 12e M EMEWFIE Prepayments, deposits and other receivables 22 9,312,440 9,037,748
PR Il 75 5% Restricted deposits 23(a) 2,220 5,255
EIREFER Pledged deposits 23(b) 5,682,725 4,329,686
EHTFR Time deposits 23(c) 848,600 1,845,981
REMRSEZEY Cash and cash equivalents 24(a) 3,748,938 4,082,240
AT Uz [ % IE Taxation recoverable 32(a) 7,955 3,396
27,449,473 27,393,062

F133E 288 E MM iR A EH HHREMH—3 D -

statements.

The notes on pages 133 to 288 form part of these financial



—BI=FFR
Annual Report 2023 127

e AR R R
Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

(AAREEZIR)
(Expressed in Renminbi)

2023 % 20224
2023 2022
izt AR¥T T AREFIT
Note RMB’ 000 RMB’000
(&5)
(restated)
(B5E4)
(Note 4)
REBAE Current liabilities
RITER R HMER Bank loans and other borrowings 25 368,605 698,783
KEAMBRRIEZERIRERE  Loans from non-controlling
= shareholders of subsidiaries 26 16,553 16,207
HEAE Lease liabilities 27 35,374 43,726
UAREERFEBEZET A Financial liabilities at fair value through
EHEZNEMEaR profit or loss 28 = 89,381
B HENFEMENREE Trade and bills payables 29 15,516,038 15,071,382
H At T RUE R FERT B A Other payables and accruals 30 908,618 903,954
EREE Contract liabilities 31 2,426,677 2,821,954
FERIRIE Taxation payable 32(a) 44,912 58,261
19,316,777 19,703,648
REBEERR Net current assets 8,132,696 7,689,414
HEERRBAME Total assets less current liabilities 9,793,293 9,685,093
FRBERE Non-current liabilities
RITERREMER Bank loans and other borrowings 25 241,600 =
HEAE Lease liabilities 27 39,664 57,923
EEWA Deferred income 33 17,000 17,000
298,264 74,923
EEFH NET ASSETS 9,495,029 9,610,170

E133E 288 E MM T ZEMIBEIREN—HBH © The notes on pages 133 to 288 form part of these financial
statements.
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e BN R

Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

(AARETIR)

(Expressed in Renminbi)

2023%F 20224
2023 2022
kg ARET T ARBT T
Note RMB’ 000 RMB’000
(gE75)
(restated)
(B&E4)
(Note 4)
EXRFEE CAPITAL AND RESERVES
%N Share capital &5 562,570 562,570
JERER Treasury shares 35 (92,903) =
&t Reserves 35 7,302,792 7,538,716
KATREFEA Total equity attributable to equity
SR shareholders of the Company 7,772,459 8,101,286
TR ER Non-controlling interests 1,722,570 1,508,884
A TOTAL EQUITY 9,495,029 9,610,170
REREN2024F3 A27 Bt R IZHETIZE - Approved and authorized for issue by the board of directors on
March 27, 2024.
#®EE ) Xu Xiuxian )
) )
) )
) 5% ) Directors
BHEE ) Zhao Liangsheng )
) )
) )
) )
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statements.
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity

B ZE2023%F12 431 B LFE (AARKFIR)
for the year ended December 31, 2023 (Expressed in Renminbi)

ADARERRES
Attributable to equity shareholders of the Company
HE
Hit Bx EER  BARE  RERE  ERRE ZiFE gt FEREE  BREE
PRC Non-
Share  Treasury Capital  statutory  Exchange  Accumulated controlling Total
Nofe capital shares reserve reserve reserve losses Total interest equity

AR¥TR ARMTR ARBTR ARBTR ARMTR  ARMTR  ARBTR  ARMTR ARETR
RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000 RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000

202351 A1RMEL  Balance at January 1, 2023

(&E5) (restated) 562,570 - 8,635,930 12,139 - (1,109,353) 8,101,286 1,508,884 9,610,170
NNERERD: Changes in equity for 2023;
A Proft for the year - - - - - WS M85 90N 69720
Efp2Eka Other comprehensive income - = = - (13) - (13) - (13)
2AkEEE Total comprehensive income - - - - (13) 448,275 448,262 249,024 697,286
LRBHTOERAR  Business combination under common
contol 4 - - (U801 - - - (0 - (601)
WE-FIMBATZES  Acuisiion of interests in a subsidiary - - - - - - - 2,000 2,000
BERARH Purchase of own shares () - (92,009 - - - - (92,003) - (92,009
FARERITE Capital contribution from non-
controlling interests - - 8,467 - - - 8,467 76,837 85,304
WEsnhEs Acquisition of non-controlling interests 35/ - - (25494 - - - (64943)  (45398)  (300,341)
HEMBAER Disposal of interests in subsidiaries ~ 24/¢) - - - - - - - (35,649)  (35,649)
HRERAEERER  Appropriation of dividends to non-
PRRE controlling shareholders of
subsidiaries - - - - - - - (38,385)  (38,385)
FRRERHEMER  Liabities waived by non-controlling
interests - - 8,211 - - - 8,211 5474 13,685
Wik BERMRE Equity setiled share-based
BERS fransactions 4 - - 21,791 - - - 21,791 - 27,191
REEERABERE  Vesting of equity interests under
BERE Employee Share Purchase Plan 3¢ - - 2,302 - - - 2,302 (217) 2,085
R2023E12F31 REVER  Balance at December 31, 2023 562,570 (92,903) 7,951,744 12,139 (13) (661,078) 7,772,459 1,722,570 9,495,029

F133E 288 E MM iR iR E M I IREM — 3 H © The notes on pages 133 to 288 form part of these financial
statements.
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Huitongda Network Co., Lid.

MEEREBER

Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity

BZE20235F12 A31 B LFE (AARKFIR)
for the year ended December 31, 2023 (Expressed in Renminbi)

ARARRRRER
Attributable to equity shareholders of the Company

HE #/

it R EREE  AEBR ES: @t FBkER  (BR)ER

PRC Non- Total

Share Capital statutory  Accumulated controlling equity/

Note capital reserve reserve losses Total interests (deficit)

ARETT ARETR ARETR  ARETT ARETR ARETT  ARETR

RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000

H202E1R1AKES  Balance at January 1, 2022 508658 (2,101,931 S (1482185 (3075458) 1358012 (1,717446)

AREHTHERAN Business combination under common control 4 = 48430 8,716 50877 117,023 84781 201804
R202251 A1 R MER Balance at January 1, 2022 (restated)

(8883) 508,658  (2,053,501) 8,716 (1422,308) (2.958,435) 1442793  (1,515,642)
A2EFEREE Changes in equity for 2022:

EMRENEEE Total comprehensive income for the year = S = 316,378 316378 241441 557,819
DG Appropriation of reserve = = 3423 (3423) = = =
BREALHEERS Issue of ordinary shares by initial public offering,

LRR - RONATE net of issuance costs 35(c) 53912 1,770,231 = - 1824143 - 1824143
FERERTE Capital contribution from non-controlling interests = = = = - 34,993 34,993
PARETEENAEAES  Reclassification of redeemable capital

contributions as equity - 9119275 - - 9119275 9,119,275
R ER Acquisition of non-controlling interests 35(e) - (203830) S - (203830)  (31854)  (235,684)
HENBLAER Disposal of interests in subsidiaries 24fe) = = = = - (148248)  (148,248)
RNBREFERRE Appropriation of dividends to non-controlling

PIRRE shareholders of subsidiaries - - - (30011)  (30,011)
WRABERMRELETS  Equity settled share-based transactions - 3,755 = 5 3,755 5 3,755
e E A AR Acquisition of interests in subsidiaries - = = = = (230) (230)
R2022%12531 A4S Balance at December 31, 2022 (restated)

(fE5) 562,570 8,635,930 12,139 (1,109,353) 8,101,286  1508,884 9,610,170
5133E 288 BB ZE T HHREMN—E D ° The notes on pages 133 to 288 form part of these financial

statements.
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mEHERER
Consolidated Cash Flow Statement

B ZE2023%F12 431 B LFE (AARKFIR)
for the year ended December 31, 2023 (Expressed in Renminbi)

20235 20224
2023 2022
Mt AR¥T T ARBEFIT
Note RMB’ 000 RMB’000
(& E7)
(restated)
(Ht3T4)
(Note 4)
ReEEY Operating activities
KEASRSE Cash generated from operations 24(b) 591,594 388,289
BEARHIE Tax paid 32(a) (120,784) (126,822)
RETHMBRSTE Net cash generated from operating activities 470,810 261,467
REEE Investing activities
UG BEEE ~ BB MR EC Payment for the acquisition of property, plant
and equipment (32,958) (54,988)
HEYE - HEKZEE  Proceeds from disposal of property, plant
FRIE and equipment 6,702 1,282
BEUAAEBEFE2HBEES Payment for purchases of financial assets
SFPABEMNEREEMNNI measured at fair value through profit or loss (6,865,468)  (8,658,400)
HENUAAEEFEAH Proceeds from disposal of financial assets
BEEt A ERNEREE measured at fair value through profit or loss
FriSsa 6,568,666 8,638,169
RIREKEEE F58 Net settlement of future contracts 6,339 (182)
TFHFFRIINESLIEE  Net settlement of forward exchange contract
HEE for time deposits (152,513) -
HEWBRRMSRIEFEE  Net proceeds from disposal of interests in
subsidiaries 24(e) 51,930 101,933
UG BERKT B A RIERS M URFUFERE  Net receipts from acquisition of interest in
a subsidiary 2,000 2
U g B X R R O 1SR Payment for acquisition of interests in
an associate (3,000) (7,000)
Wi E & ERRTR Payment for acquisition of interests in a
joint venture (14,700) -
TEEATFFOR A (1) Decrease/(increase) in time deposits 1,029,688 (1,179,322)
2 W F 8 Interest received 346,168 119,349
REZEBHE,(FTA) Net cash generated from/(used in)
HEFE investing activities 942,854 (1,039,157)
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statements.

The notes on pages 133 to 288 form part of these financial
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mEHERER
Consolidated Cash Flow Statement

B E2023F 12 A31 B L FE (AARKEIR)
for the year ended December 31, 2023 (Expressed in Renminbi)

2023%F 20224
2023 2022
M et AR¥T T ARBEFTT
Note RMB’ 000 RMB’000
(F&&E7))
(restated)
(Ft3E4)
(Note 4)
ALEE B Financing activities
ENHEREHNELRLS Capital element of lease rental paid 24(c) (49,421) (54,118)
ENEEHSNMNEE S Interest element of lease rental paid 24(c) (3,998) (4,689)
IR ITE R R EMER Proceeds from new bank loans and other
ﬁﬂgﬁé’\ borrowings 24(c) 6,076,153 3,460,563
ERRITERREAMER Repayment of bank loans and other borrowings  24(c) (6,168,722)  (2,899,324)
Eﬁﬂw Interest paid 24(c) (256,148) (189,421)
REMBRARIFFERIEE 2 New loans from non-controlling shareholders
FIEER of subsidiaries 24(c) 42,544 182,007
BB E AR RE R Repayment of loans from non-controlling
shareholders of subsidiaries 24(c) (41,861) (185,799)
RITEFEAINES D4 E Net settlement of forward exchange contract
R for bank loans 6,072 7,962
RITERERFFIE N Increase in pledged deposits for bank facilities (502,000) (120,000)
l«M*E,%;CLAHQTﬁﬁ%ﬁ%E’] Proceeds from equity settled share-based
R G TSR transactions - 7,151
IR ITE Capital contributions from non-controlling
interests 85,304 34,993
W BB I B R 2 A 3R Payment for acquisition of non-controlling
interests (328,514) (230,250)
WEs H RIS T B AR Net payment for acquisition of interests in
BTSSR subsidiaries under common control (476,014) =
BEAFRMD AR Payment for purchase of own shares 35(d) (92,903) =
BBE N AFRBERETEBEK Proceeds from issue of ordinary shares by
FRISRIE - BITANFRE initial public offering, net of issuance costs 35(c) - 1,824,143
10 B 8 T?F? &R Payment of dividends to non-controlling
AR B shareholders of subsidiaries (37,469) (14,382)
BEEE (FrA), e Net cash (used in)/generated from financing
REFHE activities (1,746,977) 1,818,836
HERBRESEEYW (L),  Net (decrease)/increase in cash and cash
B0 F R equivalents (333,313) 1,041,146
FORERASEEY Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning
of the year 24(a) 4,082,240 3,024,477
EXguE Effect of foreign exchange rate changes 11 16,617
FRESRBESEEY Cash and cash equivalents at the
end of the year 24(a) 3,748,938 4,082,240

F133E 288 E MM iR ZEM HIRERH—3H -

statements.

The notes on pages 133 to 288 form part of these financial
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Notes to the Financial Statements

(BREEHERIN - AAREKZ5)
(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

GENERAL INFORMATION

MEREMERMAR2AR Huitongda Network Co., Ltd. (the
“Company”) was established in the People’s Republic
of China (the “PRC”) on December 6, 2010 as a limited
liability company. Upon approval by the Company’s board
meeting held on November 16, 2015, the Company was
converted from a limited liability company into a joint stock
limited liability company. The Company’'s H shares were
listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange of Hong
Kong Limited on February 18, 2022.

The Company and its subsidiaries (together, “the Group”)
are principally engaged in sales of a comprehensive suite
of merchandise in the PRC and provision of intelligent
business and marketing subscription service, offering
merchant solutions and rendering other various related
services. The information of the principal subsidiaries is set
out in Note 15.

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(a) Statement of compliance

These financial statements have been prepared
in accordance with all applicable International
Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRSs”), which
collective term includes all applicable individual
International Financial Reporting Standards,
International Accounting Standards (the “IASs”)
and Interpretations issued by the International
Accounting Standards Board (the “IASB”) and
the requirements of the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance. These financial statements also comply
with the applicable disclosure provisions of the
Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on The
Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited. Material
accounting policies adopted by the Group are
disclosed below.

The IASB has issued certain amendments to IFRSs
that are first effective or available for early adoption
for the current accounting period of the Group.
Note 2(c) provides information on any changes in
accounting policies resulting from initial application
of these developments to the extent that they are
relevant to the Group for the current accounting
period reflected in these financial statements.
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Notes to the Financial Statements
(BrREHERIN  UAREZS)

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

2 BEREHEE (&)

(b)

MBHRERERE

HZE2023F 12 A31 BILFERNELRA
PR BIERNEE R AN EE S
DEIRAELERRERS -

AEEZERNGEVBREMES
HVIE B (£ A Bl I iR B 5 5 B BB AR RE
MEHNBERNKEELENER ([T
BEEK ) REE - ARRMINEEEK
AR - GAFBHRENUARKZ
5 WRIEEFEANTAE - UA
REZ7 -

A BREMRANBEERES
FRASESE + {00 T AT AR
B -

RELTT & BIFR B 75 3RS E R B TS 3R
REZEHEEFELAE & RRK
& MEFHE - At BRREFE
HERNERAREE - A - AR
FXHE2REHE - ZEMFTRBBR
RIRBBELRIEABERLTHE
EREEZZHRAMARMIEL - H
ERBRERECEMRREEZE
ERBEZREEED B2 £ -
BERSERATEEA NN ZFMH -

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Basis of preparation of the financial
statements

The consolidated financial statements for the year
ended December 31, 2023 comprise the Group
and the Group’s interests in associates and a joint
venture.

[tems included in these consolidated financial
statements of each entity in the Group are
measured using the currency that best reflects the
economic substance of the underlying events and
circumstances relevant to the entity (“functional
currency”). The functional currency of the Company
is RMB. The consolidated financial statements are
presented in RMB, rounded to nearest thousands,
which is the presentation currency.

The measurement basis used in the preparation
of the financial statements is the historical cost
basis except as set out in the accounting policies
hereunder.

The preparation of financial statements in conformity
with IFRSs requires management to make
judgements, estimates and assumptions that affect
the application of policies and reported amounts
of assets, liabilities, income and expenses. The
estimates and associated assumptions are based
on historical experience and various other factors
that are believed to be reasonable under the
circumstances, the results of which form the basis
of making the judgements about carrying values of
assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent
from other sources. Actual results may differ from
these estimates.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

2

(BREEHERIN - AAREKZ5)
(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

(b)

Basis of preparation of the financial
statements (continued)

The estimates and underlying assumptions are
reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to
accounting estimates are recognized in the period
in which the estimate is revised if the revision affects
only that period, or in the period of the revision and
future periods if the revision affects both current
and future periods.

Judgements made by management in the
application of IFRSs that have significant effect
on the financial statements and major sources of
estimation uncertainty are discussed in Note 3.

On March 21, 2023, the Group conditionally agreed
to acquire the entire equity interest of Nanjing
Hosjoy Engineering Technology Co., Ltd., which is
an investment holding company established in the
PRC and has a number of subsidiaries principally
engaged in sales of household appliances in the
PRC, from Hosjoy Comfortable Smart Home Co.,
Ltd. at a consideration of RMB504,299,500. The
acquisition was completed on May 5, 2023.
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AARKEZ5)

2 BEREHEE (&)

(b)

BB RERERE ()

WIEEKE  BREFFRIEMERE
BARKEMBAR (5[ BERIF
ERIREER])RKALEENME
NAE - HREREFERTIZEERAE
SERNEBAHARAREERLLE
RAES . AEFREYIRERE - B
W EE R ERITREERRE S
RARZEHERBNEBKEH  FCOE
REEGHMAG ([FEGHEA
& ) B E T8 5| EERAFHEH
BHAEHE -

Bt - AEBEZEEMBHRRE A
BHEFTERRR - BB AHNKE
RENEREIHE—EFE - RIE
REEHINAE  AREFFRTE
SENEEFRRAREGREEELET
BHAR - BRIFAHERAETEL
K&k BT ARZES - TRIGE
PBRROL RSB NE BN E
BERLBHABNAHE

2 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

(b)

Basis of preparation of the financial
statements (continued)

Upon completion of the acquisition, Nanjing Hosjoy
Engineering Technology Co., Ltd. and its subsidiary
(together, “Nanjing Hosjoy Engineering Group”)
became subsidiaries of the Group. As Nanjing
Hosjoy Engineering Group and the Group was
ultimately controlled by Mr. Wang Jianguo before
and after the business combination and the control
is not transitory, the acquisition of Nanjing Hosjoy
Engineering Group was considered as a business
combination involving entities under common
control, and Accounting Guideline 5, Merger
Accounting for Common Control Combinations,
issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants (“HKICPA”) has been applied.

The consolidated financial statements of the
Group have been therefore prepared using the
merger basis of accounting as if the current group
structure had been in existence throughout the
periods presented. The net assets of Nanjing Hosjoy
Engineering Group have been consolidated using
the existing book values from the perspective of
ultimate controlling party. Comparative amounts in
the consolidated financial statements are presented
as if the entities or businesses had been combined
at the beginning of the comparative period unless
the combining entities or businesses first came
under common control at a later date.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

(BREEHERIN - AAREKZ5)
(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

2 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

(b)

Basis of preparation of the financial
statements (continued)

The consolidated statement of profit or loss and
the consolidated statement of profit or loss and
other comprehensive income include the results
of combining entities or businesses from the
earliest date presented or since the date when the
combining entities or businesses first came under
the common control, where this is a shorter period,
regardless of the date of the common control
combination. The consolidated statement of profit
or loss and the consolidated statement of profit or
loss and other comprehensive income also take into
account the profit or loss attributable to the non-
controlling interest recorded in the consolidated
financial statements of the controlling party. The
effects of all transactions between the combining
entities or businesses, whether occurring before
or after the common combination, are eliminated.
The opening balance at January 1, 2022 have
been restated, with consequential adjustments to
comparatives for the year ended December 31,
2022 (see Note 4).

A uniform set of accounting policies is adopted
when preparing the consolidated financial
statements. The details of the restated balances
have been disclosed in Note 4 to these financial
statements.
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AARKEZ5)

2 BEREHEE (&)

(c)
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2 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

(c)

Changes in accounting policies

The IASB has issued the following new and
amended IFRSs that are first effective for the current
accounting period of the Group. Of these, the
following developments are relevant to the Group’s
financial statements:

° IFRS 17, Insurance contracts

° Amendments to |AS 8, Definition of
Accounting Estimates

. Amendments to IAS 1 and IFRS Practice
Statement 2, Disclosure of Accounting
Policies

° Amendments to |IAS 12, Deferred Tax related
to Assets and Liabilities arising from a Single
Transaction

° Amendments to |AS 12, /nternational Tax
Reform — Pillar Two Model Rules

In July 2023, the HKICPA published “Accounting
implications of the abolition of the Mandatory
Provident Fund (MPF) - Long Service Payment
(“LSP”) offsetting mechanism in Hong Kong” that
provides guidance on the accounting considerations
relating to the abolition of the mechanism
arrangement for employers using the accrued
benefits derived from mandatory MPF contributions
to offset severance payment and LSP.
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EREFTEE (&) 2 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

(c) EFtEX2H (&) (c) Changes in accounting policies (continued)
Br TSPl BN AAS BT B BR B 7 o5 Apart from the impacts of the adoption of the
RN BN ZFEBEREANEER amended IFRSs discussed below, none of these
MBS 2T A S BN A H s AT developments have had a material effect on how the
MR EERMERAH AR LEER Group's results and financial position for the current
M2 NEBUWEREANANSEME or prior periods have been prepared or presented.
1 R A AR R FT AT 2 Al 2 R o The Group has not applied any new standard or

interpretation that is not yet effective for the current
accounting period.

R ERE 15 RERGBRES Amendments to IAS 1 and IFRS Practice Statement
ERERBAFE2R (BEIAX) + 25 2, Disclosure of Accounting Policies

B

HEBEEREBEBRERNS IR The amendments require entities to disclose
B UHHESHBERBEEERAEZEE material accounting policy information and provide
MR SIIRMIES] - ARBEEENE guidance on applying the concept of materiality
RECHBONSHBERER - TRAE to accounting policy disclosure. The Group has
HEZEBE -5 e revisited the accounting policy information it has

been disclosing and considered it is consistent with
the amendments.

Best ERE 1258 (BRTAK) » A7 Amendments to IAS 12, Income taxes: Deferred tax
W HE-—XGELMNEERARE related to assets and liabilities arising from a single
B E transaction

ZEER RN T VIR ERRRNE The amendments narrow the scope of the initial
R ENEARNEVIIR R E A recognition exemption such that it does not apply
HEMEEERETENRS - flHE to transactions that give rise to equal and offsetting
EMREEE RHEERREAEM temporary differences on initial recognition such as
T MEEREREEERBEEAEM leases and decommissioning liabilities. For leases
I RFLERAREMBRERER - M and decommissioning liabilities, the associated
FRRATERRR/EZANRER deferred tax assets and liabilities are required to
sk AR EB D R EE © Bt be recognized from the beginning of the earliest
FIEEMRSIME @ ZFETEAR comparative period presented, with any cumulative
FrE25| & FHRRGRBEENRS - effect recognized as an adjustment to retained

earnings or other components of equity at that date.
For all other transactions, the amendments are
applied to those transactions that occur after the
beginning of the earliest period presented.
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2 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

(c)

(d)

Changes in accounting policies (continued)

Prior to the amendments, the Group did not
apply the initial recognition exemption to lease
transactions and had recognized the related
deferred tax, except that the Group previously
determined the temporary difference arising from
a right-of-use asset and the related lease liability
on a net basis on the basis they arise from a single
transaction. Following the amendments, the Group
has determined the temporary differences in relation
to right-of-use assets and lease liabilities separately.
The change primarily impacts disclosures of
components of deferred tax assets and liabilities
in Note 32(b), but does not impact the overall
deferred tax balances presented in the consolidated
statement of financial position as the related
deferred tax balances qualify for offsetting under
IAS 12.

Subsidiaries and non-controlling interests

Subsidiaries are entities controlled by the Group.
The Group controls an entity when it is exposed to,
or has rights to, variable returns from its involvement
with the entity and has the ability to affect those
returns through its power over the entity. The
financial statements of subsidiaries are included in
the consolidated financial statements from the date
on which control commences until the date on which
control ceases.

Intra-group balances and transactions, and any
unrealized income and expenses (except for foreign
currency transaction gains or losses) arising from
intra-group transactions, are eliminated. Unrealized
losses resulting from intra-group transactions are
eliminated in the same way as unrealized gains
but only to the extent that there is no evidence of
impairment.
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2 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

(d)

Subsidiaries and non-controlling interests
(continued)

For each business combination, the Group can
elect to measure any non-controlling interest (“NCI")
either at fair value or at the NCI's proportionate
share of the subsidiary’s net identifiable assets.
NCI is presented in the consolidated statement
of financial position within equity, separately from
equity attributable to the equity shareholders of
the Company. NCI in the results of the Group are
presented on the face of the consolidated statement
of profit or loss and the consolidated statement
of profit or loss and other comprehensive income
as an allocation of the total profit or loss and total
comprehensive income for the year between NCI
and the equity shareholders of the Company.
Loans from holders of NCI and other contractual
obligations towards these holders are presented as
financial liabilities in the consolidated statement of
financial position in accordance with Notes 2(p) or
(r) depending on the nature of the liability.

Changes in the Group’s interests in a subsidiary that
do not result in a loss of control are accounted for
as equity transactions.

When the Group loses control of a subsidiary,
it derecognizes the assets and liabilities of
the subsidiary, and any related NCI and other
components of equity. Any resulting gain or loss is
recognized in profit or loss. Any interest retained
in that former subsidiary is measured at fair value
when control is lost.

In the Company’s statement of financial position,
an investment in a subsidiary is stated at cost less
impairment losses (see Note 2(k)(ii)), unless it is
classified as held for sale (or included in a disposal
group classified as held for sale).




EEEAKRBERAT
Huitongda Network Co., Lid.

B 5 ¥ R B

Notes to the Financial Statements

(RSB -
(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

AARKEZ5)

2 ERETTEHE (&)

(e)

BENRREERE

BERRIEARERARAHITH K
REBREERTE N (MIFEHIK
HEAZES)NER - SLEEEEAR
B ARNRABHKRESE  BAE
B ARABHZ LI FEEZHE
A MIFHZLHNEEZARENIL
HEAREAERBOTH

BEATRAELENEDZRMAE
BAAR  BRIFEBEDEARBIEL
E(HFADERFELENHEA
A o ERVIRKAER - EF 8%
RHRA - BEfR - SREMB|MERETA
AEEREZFRREARNER R
Hivzmas ((EtheEk=sl) B
EBARFELHFEHRILEZA -

EAKERGEBERBHERBZAR
HEBDENERR - REBAER
BRET @ WRILERE—FTERE -
HAREE D ERERIEEEERR
RPILE R B FRANERSN o ik
T ARENESARIEERETE
WIREREE  ZREE LBRALE
BERBERRHALEEENREFE
—HoMmEREMRBES (H%F
HtRHigEs (ER) RAEHE
EEERAR) (RKE2k)i)

2 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

(e)

Associates and joint ventures

An associate is an entity in which the Group or the
Company has significant influence, but not control
or joint control, over the financial and operating
policies. A joint venture is an arrangement in
which the Group or the Company has joint control,
whereby the Group or the Company has the rights
to the net assets of the arrangement, rather than
rights to its assets and obligations for its liabilities.

An interest in an associate or a joint venture is
accounted for using the equity method, unless it is
classified as held for sale (or included in a disposal
Group classified as held for sale). They are initially
recognized at cost, which includes transaction
costs. Subsequently, the consolidated financial
statements include the Group’s share of the profit
or loss and other comprehensive income (“OCI”) of
those investees, until the date on which significant
influence or joint control ceases.

When the Group’s share of losses exceeds its
interest in the associate or the joint venture, the
Group’s interest is reduced to nil and recognition of
further losses is discontinued except to the extent
that the Group has incurred legal or constructive
obligations or made payments on behalf of the
investee. For this purpose, the Group’s interest is
the carrying amount of the investment under the
equity method, together with any other long-term
interests that in substance form part of the Group’s
net investment in the associate or the joint venture
after applying the ECL model to such other long-
term interests where applicable (see Note 2(k)(i)).
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BEAREBE (F) 2 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

(e) HELATREELE(HFH) (e) Associates and joint ventures (continued)
NEREARNERE AT ZHR S Unrealized gains arising from transactions with
FIEEMRER K - WRASER equity-accounted investees are eliminated against
WIRENAINERBIRERE - K& the investment to the extent of the Group's interest
BB ZEE— A RNIEHEARERRK in the investee. Unrealized losses are eliminated in
@ EEEWEMEDTR the same way as unrealized gains, but only to the

extent there is no evidence of impairment.

(h HiEHRE (f)  Other investments in securities
AEEBE@ABELFRE (RWBAA - The Group’s policies for investments in securities,
BERNRIREERENRERIN other than investments in subsidiaries, associates
BOREST o and joint ventures, are set out below.
BEARENAEBAERE HER Investments in securities are recognized/
BE B TURER,RIEHER - &) derecognized on the date the Group commits to
FHEARBEMNEERERSKAT] purchase/sell the investment. The investments are
IR MU AARBEFEEEZSHTA initially stated at fair value plus directly attributable
EHER (UWAAREBEFEAEE transaction costs, except for those investments
ATAEHIER) ATEMIRERN - Z measured at fair value through profit or loss (FVPL)
ERENZHRAEENRIBRER o for which transaction costs are recognized directly
FEAEENAETemIARAAE in profit or loss. For an explanation of how the
BEREE - F2HME36(e) - %F Group determines fair value of financial instruments,
RERBERUTARAR(BTES see Note 36(e). These investments are subsequently
HME) ° accounted for as follows, depending on their

classification.
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2 BEAREBE (#) 2 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
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(f) Other investments in securities (continued)

(i)

Non-equity investments

Non-equity investments are classified into
one of the following measurement categories:

= amortized cost, if the investment is
held for the collection of contractual
cash flows which represent solely
payments of principal and interest.
Expected credit losses, interest
income calculated using the effective
interest method (see Note 2(v)(ii)
(c)), foreign exchange gains and
losses are recognized in profit or loss.
Any gain or loss on derecognition is
recognized in profit or loss.

- fair value through other
comprehensive income (FVOCI) -
recycling, if the contractual cash
flows of the investment comprise
solely payments of principal and
interest and the investment is held
within a business model whose

Bt AR 2 HE objective is achieved by both the
(L2anEETE2HE collection of contractual cash flows

BHEAEMBE R
=) (88 .-
HFHEEER A8
WA (ERERA X
ERTE) MEEH Y R
&5 18 70 48 o5 B R 3 A

and sale. Expected credit losses,
interest income (calculated using
the effective interest method) and
foreign exchange gains and losses
are recognized in profit or loss and
computed in the same manner as

BLEEKN A ES if the financial asset was measured
REEMRB SR at amortized cost. The difference
B nEEEEE between the fair value and the
B 7 FA] Y 2= BE R E At amortized cost is recognized in OCI.

EEKETER - E
RIPHERIRER - R
Hit 2 HE =R
CENEDZIEERE

When the investment is derecognized,
the amount accumulated in OCI is
recycled from equity to profit or loss.



—BI=FFR
Annual Report 2023

B 5 ¥ R B

Notes to the Financial Statements

(BREEHERIN - AAREKZ5)
(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

BEAREBE (F) 2 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
() HbFEHFKRE (FE) (f)  Other investments in securities (continued)
(i) IR IRE () (i) Non-equity investments (continued)
- I B NFFE R E = FVPL if the investment does not meet
B A BK A A 7 BB AT the criteria for being measured at
ERHEFHAHEAM amortized cost or FVOCI (recycling).
2H W (AT 818) & Changes in the fair value of the
EMEE - ANLAR investment (including interest) are
EBEETEEHEEF recognized in profit or loss.
ANE B (LAARE
Bt 2B EEEH A
EHER)GE - RA
WAREBEEZE (B

ME) RIBEER -

(i) REKE (ii)  Equity investments

RBRABLFNRESERARNAEE An investment in equity securities is
FFTEBEFHIAESES - RIER classified as FVPL unless the investment is
BWIHFFEEERE - ERUIFHER not held for trading purposes and on initial
B AEBEATARUEEBREETERE recognition the Group makes an irrevocable
BUAAREEFEBEZEHT AR election to designate the investment at
2EMZE (TAEE)  UBARE FVOCI (non-recycling) such that subsequent
ENEEZFSREME2ERGER - changes in fair value are recognized in OCI.
ERRETIRER T AEEEL - Such elections are made on an instrument-
EERTARARERARETER by-instrument basis, but may only be made if
FA{ER o WEBEEA—HETER the investment meets the definition of equity
B RHER  RAABERE T from the issuer’s perspective. If such election
AEE) AN RE RS RBEN is made for a particular investment, at the
BEre@@iEaEn - RaRAH time of disposal, the amount accumulated
FIREMKRE (PO BEAUNARE in the fair value reserve (non-recycling) is
B2 EEEHAAEHBRIUR transferred to retained earnings and not
ABEFEEHEEZHTALMEERK recycled through profit or loss. Dividends
=) RIEEERAEMAMKA (RH T from an investment in equity securities,
2(v)(ii)(b)) ° irrespective of whether classified as at FVPL

or FVOCI, are recognized in profit or loss as
other income (see Note 2(v)(ii)(b)).

(9) fTE£mIA (g) Derivative financial instruments
AEBREMESR T AEUEEEN The Group holds derivative financial instruments
BERHDO - WESOTEBRESRE to manage its foreign currency risk exposures.
EARE —EBHRYE - AlALSTENT Embedded derivatives are separated from the host
BEBUVREANLEBETENE contract and accounted for separately if the host
IH o contract is not a financial asset and certain criteria

are met.
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2 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

(9)

(h)

Derivative financial instruments (continued)

Derivatives are initially measured at fair value.
Subsequently, they are measured at fair value with
changes therein recognized in profit or loss, except
where the derivatives qualify for cash flow hedge
accounting or hedges of net investment in a foreign
operation.

Investment property

Investment properties are stated at cost less
accumulated depreciation and impairment losses.
Any gain or loss on disposal of investment property
is recognized in profit or loss. Rental income from
investment properties is recognized in accordance
with Note 2(v)(ii)(a).

Depreciation is calculated to write off the cost of
items of investment property less their estimated
residual value, if any, using the straight-line method
over their estimated useful lives, and is generally
recognized in profit or loss.

The estimated useful lives for the current and
comparative periods are as follows:

fEst T EAES

Estimated useful life

B3
Buildings

24%514F
24 — 51 years

PFrEDE - AIERFHRRBREERR
EHEAMFHL AR (WER) -

Depreciation methods, useful lives and residual
values are reviewed at each reporting date and
adjusted if appropriate.



2 BEREHEE (&)

(U]

M BERRE

ME - BEIEE(BIEEREEE
(RMIsE2())) iR A (BIEEAE
B AR) BRI E R R
BEEE58R (R MEE2(Kk)(ii)) °

W% BEMRBEEENEEID
BRSO ERFES - BRZFA
SERMERNEE (E2AEKE D
B o

%)
) A

HEME - BERRERENEFK
M EENMEE P RER -

WETRME - BFE&REEBEB NG
A A FEHAEREREEMEE
AR E Mt RIREE (B)FFE
BBFRBERTER - EHREBRS

—BI=FFR
Annual Report 2023

B 5 ¥ R B

Notes to the Financial Statements

(BREEHERIN - AAREKZ5)
(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

2 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

()

Property, plant and equipment

The property, plant and equipment, including right-
of-use assets (see Note 2(j)), are stated at cost,
which includes capitalized borrowing costs, less
accumulated depreciation and any accumulated
impairment losses (see Note 2(k)(ii)).

If significant parts of an item of property, plant
and equipment have different useful lives,
they are accounted for as separate items (major
components).

then

Any gain or loss on disposal of an item of property,
plant and equipment is recognized in profit or loss.

Depreciation is calculated to write off the cost of
items of property, plant and equipment less their
estimated residual values, if any, using the straight
line method over their estimated useful lives and is

AR ESET - generally recognized in profit or loss. The estimated
useful lives for the current and comparative periods
are as follows:

AT EAFH

Estimated useful life

BF Buildings 20%F
20 years

HEWMEEE Leasehold improvements 7R JE % 8 BB K Ak 51 A] {8 R 4F BB
(ARG EAB%E)

The shorter of the unexpired

term of lease and the

estimated useful lives

B Electronic equipment 3E10%F

3 - 10 years

RAL - BB RPFDHE Furniture, fixtures and office equipment 3ZE104F

3 - 10 years

RE Motor vehicles 54F
5 years

W25 Machinery 104F
10 years

EREEE Right-of-use assets RIEEA

Over the lease term

147
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2 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

()

()

Property, plant and equipment (continued)

Depreciation methods, useful lives and residual
values are reviewed at each reporting date and
adjusted if appropriate.

No depreciation is provided in respect of
construction in progress.

Leased assets

At inception of a contract, the Group assesses
whether the contract is, or contains, a lease. This is
the case if the contract conveys the right to control
the use of an identified asset for a period of time
in exchange for consideration. Control is conveyed
where the customer has both the right to direct the
use of the identified asset and to obtain substantially
all of the economic benefits from that use.

(i) As a lessee

lease
component(s) and non-lease component(s),

Where the contract contains

the Group has elected not to separate non-
lease components and accounts for each
lease component and any associated
non-lease components as a single lease
component for all leases.

At the lease commencement date, the Group
recognizes a right-of-use asset and a lease
liability, except for leases that have a short
lease term of 12 months or less and leases
of low-value assets. When the Group enters
into a lease in respect of a low-value asset,
the Group decides whether to capitalize
the lease on a lease-by-lease basis. If not
capitalized, the associated lease payments
are recognized in profit or loss on a

systematic basis over the lease term.
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2 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

(i) Leased assets (continued)

(i)

As a lessee (continued)

Where the lease is capitalized, the lease
liability is initially recognized at the present
value of the lease payments payable over
the lease term, discounted using the interest
rate implicit in the lease or, if that rate cannot
be readily determined, using a relevant
incremental borrowing rate. After initial
recognition, the lease liability is measured
at amortized cost and interest expense
is recognized using the effective interest
method. Variable lease payments that do not
depend on an index or rate are not included
in the measurement of the lease liability, and
are charged to profit or loss as incurred.

The right-of-use asset recognized when a
lease is capitalized is initially measured at
cost, which comprises the initial amount
of the lease liability adjusted for any
lease payments made at or before the
commencement date, plus any initial direct
costs incurred and an estimate of costs to
dismantle and remove the underlying asset
or to restore the underlying asset or the
site on which it is located, less any lease
incentives received. The right-of-use asset is
subsequently stated at cost less accumulated
depreciation and impairment losses (see
Notes 2(i) and 2(k)(ii)).
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2 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

(i) Leased assets (continued)

(i)

As a lessee (continued)

Refundable rental deposits are accounted
for separately from the right-of use assets
in accordance with the accounting policy
applicable to investments in non-equity
securities carried at amortized cost (see
Notes 2(f)(i), 2(v)(ii)(c) and 2(k)(i)). Any
excess of the nominal value over the initial
fair value of the deposits is accounted for
as additional lease payments made and is
included in the cost of right-of-use assets.

The lease liability is remeasured when there
is a change in future lease payments arising
from a change in an index or rate, if there
is a change in the Group’s estimate of the
amount expected to be payable under a
residual value guarantee, or if the Group
changes its assessment of whether it will
exercise a purchase, extension or termination
option. When the lease liability is remeasured
in this way, a corresponding adjustment is
made to the carrying amount of the right-of-
use asset, or is recorded in profit or loss if
the carrying amount of the right-of-use asset
has been reduced to zero.



2 EXREEE (&)
() HEEEE)

(i)

1ERZABA (&)

HERBTINAEEE] (35H
EfHENAELHE (WHERL
REES LT RME) LR ES
(MEZMERT WL IEIER—TBESS
HEAR)) BENE - &
IERT HEREMERT A
A BIRELETHEN KR
THERERLEFTIRERER
AT E—HFIINER AR
COVID-19Z EEZEE BT
EEBETBHRELENE 165
TAEF46BERFT Sk K TR
HERE - EZFBERT + &
SEEFMAZERET L &
FEHeREREAEERE
5 WHRBEAES R AN SN
SRE A A B R R Y
BEFHAHETERSNRK -

RiFEMBHARRA - KEE

SFHRT @A RS HREEN
BHNREEE -

—BI=FFR
Annual Report 2023

B 5 ¥ R B

Notes to the Financial Statements

(BrZHHERI - UARKZT)

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

2 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

(i) Leased assets (continued)

(i)

As a lessee (continued)

The lease liability is also remeasured
when there is a lease modification, which
means a change in the scope of a lease
or the consideration for a lease that is not
originally provided for in the lease contract,
if such modification, is not accounted for
as a separate lease. In this case the lease
liability is remeasured based on the revised
lease payments and lease term using a
revised discount rate at the effective date
of the modification. The only exceptions are
rent concessions that occurred as a direct
consequence of the COVID-19 pandemic
and met the conditions set out in paragraph
46B of IFRS 16 Leases. In such cases, the
Group has taken advantage of the practical
expedient not to assess whether the rent
concessions are lease modifications, and
recognized the change in consideration as
negative variable lease payments in profit
or loss in the period in which the event or
condition that triggers the rent concessions
occurred.

In the consolidated statement of financial
position, the current portion of long-term
lease liabilities is determined as the present
value of contractual payments that are due
to be settled within twelve months after the
reporting period.
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2 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

(i) Leased assets (continued)

(ii)

As a lessor

The Group determines at lease inception
whether each lease is a finance lease or
an operating lease. A lease is classified as
a finance lease if it transfers substantially
all the risks and rewards incidental to the
ownership of an underlying assets to the
lessee. Otherwise, the lease is classified as
an operating lease.

When a contract contains lease and non-
lease components, the Group allocates
the consideration in the contract to each
component on a relative stand-alone selling
price basis. The rental income from operating
leases is recognized in accordance with Note

2(v)(ii)(a).

When the Group is an intermediate lessor,
the sub-leases are classified as a finance
lease or as an operating lease with reference
to the right-of-use asset arising from the head
lease. If the head lease is a short-term lease
to which the Group applies the exemption
described in Note 2(j)(i), then the Group
classifies the sub-lease as an operating
lease.
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2 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

(k) Credit losses and impairment of assets

(i)

Credit losses from financial instruments

The Group recognizes a loss allowance
for expected credit losses (“ECL"s) on the
financial assets measured at amortized cost
(including cash and cash equivalents, and
trade and other receivables) and non-equity
securities measured at FVOCI (recycling)
(see Note 2(f)(i)).

Measurement of ECLs

ECLs are a probability-weighted estimate
of credit losses. Generally, credit losses
are measured as the present value of all
expected cash shortfalls between the
contractual and expected amounts.

The expected cash shortfalls are discounted
using the following rates if the effect is
material:

- fixed-rate financial assets and trade
and other receivables: effective
interest rate determined at initial
recognition or an approximation
thereof;

- variable-rate financial assets: current
effective interest rate.
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2 BEAREBE (#) 2 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
(k) EEFEREERE(E) (k) Credit losses and impairment of assets
(continued)
(i) THTAFEER (&) (i) Credit losses from financial instruments
(continued)
TEAEE BB E (&) Measurement of ECLs (continued)
HFITEHEEBEREED The maximum period considered when
SERAEATEERARREER estimating ECLs is the maximum contractual
BHRRE QM - period over which the Group is exposed to
credit risk.
TEEEEERERATER —E ECLs are measured on either of the following
HEAEGE bases:
= 12 ABHEER - 12-month ECLs: these are the portion
BEWmERE (% of ECLs that result from default events
HEREE)(HITA that are possible within the 12 months
WIEETFE DR 12(E after the reporting date (or a shorter
A) %1218 AR aE period if the expected life of the
EREMHTE A E instrument is less than 12 months);
SHEHEEEE & and
= THIEHEESE = lifetime ECLs: these are the ECLs that
EEBEEBERN result from all possible default events
MAEE 2 EHF 5 over the expected lives of the items to
NFTB A B ELE which the ECL model applies.
mMER BB EEES

B
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2 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

(k) Credit losses and impairment of assets
(continued)

(i) Credit losses from financial instruments
(continued)

Measurement of ECLs (continued)

The Group measures loss allowances at an
amount equal to lifetime ECLs, except for the
following, which are measured at 12-months
ECLs:

- financial instruments that are
determined to have low credit risk at
the reporting date; and

- other financial instruments for which
credit risk (i.e. the risk of default
occurring over the expected life of the
financial instrument) has not increased
significantly since initial recognition.

Loss allowances for trade receivables are
always measured at an amount equal to
lifetime ECLs.
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2 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

(k) Credit losses and impairment of assets
(continued)

()

Credit losses from financial instruments
(continued)

Measurement of ECLs (continued)

Significant increases in credit risk

When determining whether the credit risk
of a financial instrument (including a loan
commitment) has increased significantly
since initial recognition and when measuring
ECLs, the Group considers reasonable and
supportable information that is relevant and
available without undue cost or effort. This
includes both quantitative and qualitative
information and analysis, based on the
Group’s historical experience and informed
credit assessment, that includes forward-
looking information.

The Group assumes that the credit risk on a
financial asset has increased significantly if it
is more than 6 months past due.

The Group considers a financial asset to be
in default when:

- the debtor is unlikely to pay its credit
obligations to the Group in full, without
recourse by the Group to actions such
as realizing security (if any is held); or

- the financial asset is 3 years past due.
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2 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

(k) Credit losses and impairment of assets
(continued)

()

Credit losses from financial instruments
(continued)

Measurement of ECLs (continued)

Significant increases in credit risk (continued)
ECLs are remeasured at each reporting
date to reflect changes in the financial
instrument’s credit risk since initial
recognition. Any change in the ECL amount
is recognized as an impairment gain or
loss in profit or loss. The Group recognizes
an impairment gain or loss for all financial
instruments with a corresponding adjustment
to their carrying amount through a loss
allowance account, except for investments
in non-equity securities that are measured
at FVOCI (recycling), for which the loss
allowance is recognized in OCI and
accumulated in the fair value reserve
(recycling) does not reduce the carrying
amount of the financial asset in the statement
of financial position.
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2 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

(k) Credit losses and impairment of assets
(continued)

()

Credit losses from financial instruments
(continued)

Measurement of ECLs (continued)

Credit-impaired financial assets

At each reporting date, the Group assesses
whether a financial asset is credit-impaired.
A financial asset is credit-impaired when
one or more events that have a detrimental
impact on the estimated future cash flows of
the financial asset have occurred.

Evidence that a financial asset is credit-
impaired includes the following observable
events:

- significant financial difficulties of the
debtor;

- a breach of contract, such as a
default or being more than 3 years
past due;

- the restructuring of a loan or advance
by the Group on terms that the Group
would not consider otherwise;

- it is probable that the debtor will
enter bankruptcy or other financial
reorganization; or

- the disappearance of an active market
for a security because of financial
difficulties of the issuer.
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2 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

(k) Credit losses and impairment of assets
(continued)

()

(1)

Credit losses from financial instruments
(continued)

Measurement of ECLs (continued)

Write-off policy

The gross carrying amount of a financial
asset, lease receivable or contract asset
is written off to the extent that there is
no realistic prospect of recovery. This is
generally the case when the asset becomes
five years past due or when the Group
otherwise determines that the debtor does
not have assets or sources of income that
could generate sufficient cash flows to repay
the amounts subject to the write-off.

Subsequent recoveries of an asset that was
previously written off are recognized as a
reversal of impairment in profit or loss in the
period in which the recovery occurs.

Impairment of other non-current assets

At each reporting date, the Group reviews
the carrying amounts of its non-financial
asset (other than property carried at revalued
amounts, investment property, inventories
and other contract costs, contract assets and
deferred tax assets) to determine whether
there is any indication of impairment. If
any such indication exists, then the asset’s
recoverable amount is estimated.
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2 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

(k) Credit losses and impairment of assets
(continued)

(1)

Impairment of other non-current assets
(continued)

For impairment testing, assets are grouped
together into the smallest group of assets
that generates cash inflows from continuing
use that are largely independent of the cash
inflows of other assets or cash-generating
units (“CGU"s). Goodwill arising from a
business combination is allocated to CGUs or
groups of CGUs that are expected to benefit
from the synergies of the combination.

The recoverable amount of an asset or CGU
is the greater of its value in use and its fair
value less costs of disposal. Value in use is
based on the estimated future cash flows,
discounted to their present value using a pre-
tax discount rate that reflects current market
assessments of the time value of money and
the risks specific to the asset or CGU.

An impairment loss is recognized if the
carrying amount of an asset or CGU exceeds
its recoverable amount.

Impairment losses are recognized in profit or
loss. They are allocated first to reduce the
carrying amount of any goodwill allocated
to the CGU, and then to reduce the carrying
amounts of the other assets in the CGU on a
pro rata basis.
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2 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

(k) Credit losses and impairment of assets
(continued)

(1)

(iii)

Impairment of other non-current assets
(continued)

An impairment loss in respect of goodwill is
not reversed. For other assets, an impairment
loss is reversed only to the extent that the
resulting carrying amount does not exceed
the carrying amount that would have
been determined, net of depreciation or
amortization, if no impairment loss had been
recognized.

Interim financial reporting and impairment

Under the Rules Governing the Listing
of Securities on the Stock Exchange of
Hong Kong Limited, the Group is required
to prepare an interim financial report in
compliance with |IAS 34, Interim financial
reporting, in respect of the first six months
of the financial year. At the end of the
interim period, the Group applies the same
impairment testing, recognition, and reversal
criteria as it would at the end of the financial
year (see Notes 2(k)(i) and (ii)).
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2 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

U]

(m)

(n)

Inventories

Inventories are measured at the lower of cost and
net realizable value.

Cost is calculated using the first-in-first-out formula
and comprises all costs of purchase of goods after
deducting discounts from suppliers, and other costs
incurred in bringing the inventories to their present
location and condition.

Net realizable value is the estimated selling price in
the ordinary course of business less the estimated
costs of completion and the estimated costs
necessary to make the sale.

Contract liabilities

A contract liability is recognized when the customer
pays non-refundable consideration before the
Group recognizes the related revenue (see Note
2(v)(i)). A contract liability is also recognized if
the Group has an unconditional right to receive
non-refundable consideration before the Group
recognizes the related revenue. In such latter cases,
a corresponding receivable is also recognized (see
Note 2(n)).

Trade and other receivables

A receivable is recognized when the Group has an
unconditional right to receive consideration and only
the passage of time is required before payment of
that consideration is due.
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BEAREBE (F) 2 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

(n) EZRHEMEWREE) (n)  Trade and other receivables (continued)
TEEARMEKDNE S EKFIEL Trade receivables that do not contain a significant
FRARFHERTE - BEEARME financing component are initially measured at
B B8 5 FE UL R I I E th FE WK IE their transaction price. Trade receivables that
N ERAARBEMNZ ZHAGTE  FT contain a significant financing component and
AR IBRERIREERAIE (R other receivables are initially measured at fair
MiEE2(k) (i) - BREBAHNRERE value plus transaction costs. All receivables are
MEEZRARBEFEEHEEHTA subsequently stated at amortised cost (see Note
HtzmkawsmEE (1] 8#E) 2(k)(1)). Receivables that are held for collection of
i #5748 B JE W - contractual cash flows and for selling the financial

assets are measured at fair value through other
comprehensive income (recycling).

(o) HERBELZEEY (0) Cash and cash equivalents
RekAeSEYRERITRFER Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash at bank
® - FHRRITREMSEEENE and on hand, demand deposits with banks and
HATF SR - DA AT BERF S R 5 B AN BIER other financial institutions, and other short-term,
Re - EEZHERGMEEBAEL highly liquid investments that are readily convertible
= AR AEI AR E S HA s m e 3% into known amounts of cash and which are subject
& -BHekReZEWTHEREER to an insignificant risk of changes in value, having
E518 (AL EE2(k) (i) ° been within three months of maturity at acquisition.

Cash and cash equivalents are assessed for ECL
(see Note 2(k)(i)).

(p) EZRHMEMSIRIE (p) Trade and other payables
B S REAMENFIBVSRAAER Trade and other payables are initially recognized at
TR - VT HERE - BHREMER fair value. Subsequent to initial recognition, trade
FIBRE SR ARTRR - HEMBLIR R E and other payables are stated at amortized cost
WAREK - BIREZSEIE - unless the effect of discounting would be immaterial,

in which case they are stated at invoice amounts.
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2 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

(q)

Capital contributions

The Company entered into a series of investment
agreements with certain independent investors,
pursuant to which, these investors agreed to make
cash investments to the Company to acquire the
equity interest of the Company (collectively referred
as “Pre-IPO Investments”).

Capital contributions from the Pre-IPO Investments
are classified as financial liabilities or equity in
accordance with the substance of the contractual
arrangements and the definitions of a financial
liability and an equity instrument.

Capital contributions from the Pre-IPO Investments
are classified as equity if they are non-
redeemable by the Company or redeemable only
at the Company’s option. Dividends on capital
contributions from the Pre-IPO Investments
classified as equity are recognized as distributions
within equity.

Capital contributions from the Pre-IPO Investments
are classified as financial liabilities if they are
redeemable on a specific date or at the option of
the shareholders (including options that are only
exercisable in case of triggering events having
occurred). The liability is recognized and measured
in accordance with the Group’s policy for interest-
bearing borrowings set out in Note 2(r) and
accordingly dividends thereon are recognized on
an accrual basis in profit or loss as part of finance
costs.
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AARKZ5)

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

(r

(s)

Interest-bearing borrowings

Interest-bearing borrowings are measured initially
at fair value less transaction costs. Subsequently,
these borrowings are stated at amortized cost using
the effective interest method. Interest expense is
recognized in accordance with Note 2(y).

Employee benefits

()

(1)

Short term employee benefits and
contributions to defined contribution

retirement plans

Short-term employee benefits are expensed
as the related service is provided. A liability
is recognized for the amount expected to
be paid if the Group has a present legal or
constructive obligation to pay this amount
as a result of past service provided by
the employee and the obligation can be

estimated reliably.

Contributions to local retirement schemes
pursuant to the relevant labor rules and

regulations in the

jurisdictions in which the

Group’s subsidiaries located are recognized
as an expense in profit or loss as incurred.

Share-based payments

The grant-date fair value of equity-settled
share-based payments granted to employees
is measured by reference to the market price
or the valuer’'s valuation of the underlying
shares. The amount is generally recognized

as an expense,

with a corresponding

increase in equity, over the vesting period of
the awards. The amount recognized as an
expense is adjusted to reflect the number
of awards for which the related service
conditions are expected to be met, such that
the amount ultimately recognized is based on
the number of awards that meet the related
service conditions at the vesting date.
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2 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

(s)

®)

Employee benefits (continued)
(iii) Termination benefits

Termination benefits are expensed at the
earlier of when the Group can no longer
withdraw the offer of those benefits and
when the Group recognizes costs for a
restructuring.

Income tax

Income tax expense comprises current tax and
deferred tax. It is recognized in profit or loss
except to the extent that it relates to a business
combination, or items recognized directly in equity
or in OCI.

Current tax comprises the estimated tax payable or
tax recoverable on the taxable income or loss for
the year and any adjustments to the tax payable
or receivable in respect of previous years. The
amount of current tax payable or receivable is the
best estimate of the tax amount expected to be paid
or received that reflects any uncertainty related
to income taxes. It is measured using tax rates
enacted or substantively enacted at the reporting
date. Current tax also includes any tax arising from
dividends.

Current tax assets and liabilities are offset only if
certain criteria are met.
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2 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

(t)

Income tax (continued)

Deferred tax is recognized in respect of temporary
differences between the carrying amounts of assets
and liabilities for financial reporting purposes and
the amounts used for taxation purposes. Deferred
tax is not recognized for:

- temporary differences on the initial
recognition of assets or liabilities in a
transaction that is not a business combination
and that affects neither accounting nor
taxable profit or loss and does not give rise
to equal taxable and deductible temporary
differences; and

- temporary differences related to investment
in subsidiaries, associates and joint venture
to the extent that the Group is able to control
the timing of the reversal of the temporary
differences and it is probable that they will
not reverse in the foreseeable future.

The Group recognized deferred tax assets and
deferred tax liabilities separately in relation to its
lease liabilities and right-of-use assets.

Deferred tax assets are recognized for unused tax
losses, unused tax credits and deductible temporary
differences to the extent that it is probable that
future taxable profits will be available against
which they can be used. Future taxable profits
are determined based on the reversal of relevant
taxable temporary differences. If the amount of
taxable temporary differences is insufficient to
recognize a deferred tax asset in full, then future
taxable profits, adjusted for reversals of existing
temporary differences, are considered, based on
the business plans for individual subsidiaries in the
Group. Deferred tax assets are reviewed at each
reporting date and are reduced to the extent that it
is no longer probable that the related tax benefit will
be realized; such reductions are reversed when the
probability of future taxable profits improves.
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2 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

(t)

(u)

Income tax (continued)

The amount of deferred tax recognized reflects the
tax consequences that would follow from the manner
in which the Group expects, at the reporting date,
to recover or settle the carrying amount of its assets
and liabilities.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset only if
certain criteria are met.

Provisions and contingent liabilities

Generally provisions are determined by discounting
the expected future cash flows at a pre-tax rate that
reflects current market assessment of the time value
of money and the risks specific to the liability.

Where it is not probable that an outflow of economic
benefits will be required, or the amount cannot be
estimated reliably, the obligation is disclosed as a
contingent liability, unless the probability of outflow
of economic benefits is remote. Possible obligations,
whose existence will only be confirmed by the
occurrence or non-occurrence of one or more future
events are also disclosed as contingent liabilities
unless the probability of outflow of economic
benefits is remote.

Where some or all of the expenditure required to
settle a provision is expected to be reimbursed
by another party, a separate asset is recognized
for any expected reimbursement that would be
virtually certain. The amount recognized for the
reimbursement is limited to the carrying amount of
the provision.
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BEAREBE (F) 2 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
(v) WARHAMER (v) Revenue and other income
AEEFHEREEBRBIETREES Income is classified by the Group as revenue when
B RERGSAMALREEE it arises from the sale of goods, the provision of
FRASEEENREYBEAKA - services or the use by others of the Group's assets
under leases in the ordinary course of the Group’s
business.
RS BEIWA R H A UGS FERIE Further details of the Group’s revenue and other
BE—FRFENT income recognition policies are as follows:

(i) XK EHEEF S AR A (i) Revenue from contracts with customers
EE MR E SRR E Revenue is recognized when control over
ETEHREEERMN AR E a product or service is transferred to the
S (TEERRE=ZFKR customer, or the lessee has the right to
WER) BB ERPEMEA use the asset, at the amount of promised
BEREAEBER - WA T AR consideration to which the Group is expected
R oo WATB IR ER s E M to be entitled, excluding those amounts
HER - WEHREMNE ST collected on behalf of third parties. Revenue
e excludes value added tax or other sales
taxes and is after deduction of any trade

discounts.

WMENFTREREPIRME Where the contract contains a financing
BI2EAMERBENZH component which provides a significant
BEF D - AR ARER S5 financing benefit to the customer for more
RIREE  WEAREFH than 12 months, revenue is measured at
BERER ST RMEAALIRE the present value of the amount receivable,
AR38 - BF B ARERFE discounted using the discount rate that
EEBRE - MEHNFHBRAR would be reflected in a separate financing
SEREHEARENRHORE transaction with the customer, and interest
o - RIIRIREZ & DRI income is accrued separately under the
ABEREBRFEEFENE effective interest method. Where the contract
HEaBEFREEMNFEHAZ - & contains a financing component which
5 B FI A3 B R B 7 o 5 ZE A provides a significant financing benefit
F155E6IRMAIITIET A to the Group, revenue recognized under
o e EHA121E A kA that contract includes the interest expense
T AT EREKRFE D accreted on the contract liability under
ERIFZEREEHE - the effective interest method. The Group

takes advantage of the practical expedient
in paragraph 63 of IFRS 15 and does not
adjust the consideration for any effects of a
significant financing component if the period
of financing is 12 months or less.



EEEAKRBERAT
Huitongda Network Co., Lid.

B 5 ¥ R B

Notes to the Financial Statements

(B =HHEBPIN

2 ERETTEHE (&)
WA R H At ez ()

(v)

RAREZ5)
(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

(i)  KEHEELEHNUA (&)

(a)

RHEBERA

AEEERHEERR
RBALRBERA
BFrekEERBE
TREAFE - X 5%
BRSKRAZZER
7 on 35 & P S IA &
BEWA -

EAKEEREFA
B - i g SR
ARBBRARTIRR
BMEERR - Bmid
EM/BARE RN
A miEbE (BEmD
BRI RERT) BB
EIRGRERR ©

B WATIRAEE
WHEREEA &
AEREFERBED
A B WA ERRE
BEHREBANR S H®
R MEWAREE
THENBEEBRD LN
FEREERER

2 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

(v) Revenue and other income (continued)
(i) Revenue from contracts with customers
(continued)

(a)

Revenue from commerce business

The Group directly sells and enables
merchants to sell their products to
transaction users through business-
to-business commerce platforms.
Revenue from commerce business
primarily comprised revenue from
merchandise sales and commission
income.

Revenue from merchandise sales
and related costs is recognized on a
gross basis when the Group acts as a
principal. Revenue from merchandise
sales is recognized at the point in time
when the control of the merchandise
has been delivered, being when the
goods are delivered and accepted.

Commission income is recognized
for transactions where the Group is
not the primary obligor, is not subject
to inventory risk and does not have
latitude in establishing prices and
selecting suppliers. Commission
income is recognized on a net basis
which is based on a fixed percentage
of the sales amount.
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2 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

(v) Revenue and other income (continued)

(i) Revenue from contracts with customers
(continued)

(b)

Revenue from service business and
other services

The Group provides intelligent
business and marketing Software-as-
a-Service plus (“SaaS+”") subscription
service to the merchants, offers
merchant solutions and renders other
various related services.

The Group offers SaaS+ products and
services to subscribing merchants.
Revenue of SaaS+ subscription
includes fixed subscription fees
and service fees for value-added
solutions under various modules,
such as online storefront build-up
and promotional activities. Revenue
of fixed subscription fees is generally
recognized over time on a ratable
basis over the contract term beginning
on the date that the service is made
available to the customer. Revenue of
service fees for value-added solutions
is recognized at the point in time when
the performance obligations for the
services performed are completed.
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2 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

(v) Revenue and other income (continued)
(i) Revenue from contracts with customers
(continued)

(b)

Revenue from service business and
other services (continued)

The Group earns revenue by offering
the merchant solutions and other
related services including various
value-added services to address
paying merchants or marketers’ online
and offline operation needs, including
marketing digitalization, targeted
advertisement and other relevant
services. Revenue of merchant
solutions and other related services
is generally recognized at the point
in time when the performance
obligations for the services performed
are completed.

(i) Revenue from other sources and other
income

(a)

Rental income from operating leases

Rental income from operating leases
is recognized in profit or loss on a
straight-line basis over the term of the
lease. Lease incentives granted are
recognized as an integral part of the
total rental income, over the term of
the lease. Variable lease payments
that do not depend on an index or a
rate are recognized as income in the
accounting period in which they are
earned.
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2 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

(v)
(ii)

Revenue and other income (continued)

Revenue from other sources and other

income (continued)

(b)

Dividends

Dividend income is recognized in
profit or loss on the date on which the
Group’s right to receive payment is
established.

Interest income

Interest income is recognized using
the effective interest method. The
“effective interest rate” is the rate
that exactly discounts estimated
future cash receipts through the
expected life of the financial asset
to the gross carrying amount of the
financial asset. In calculating interest
income, the effective interest rate
is applied to the gross carrying
amount of the asset (when the asset
is not credit-impaired). However, for
financial assets that have become
credit-impaired subsequent to
initial recognition, interest income is
calculated by applying the effective
interest rate to the amortized cost
of the financial asset. If the asset is
no longer credit-impaired, then the
calculation of interest income reverts
to the gross basis.
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2 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

(v)

(w)

Revenue and other income (continued)

(i) Revenue from other sources and other
income (continued)

(d) Government grants

Government grants are recognized
in the statement of financial position
initially when there is reasonable
assurance that they will be received
and that the Group will comply with
the conditions attaching to them.
Grants that compensate the Group
for expenses incurred are recognized
as income in profit or loss on a
systematic basis in the same periods
in which the expenses are incurred.
Grants that compensate the Group for
the cost of an asset are recognized
as deferred income and subsequently
recognized in profit or loss over the
useful life of the asset.

Research and development costs

Research and development costs comprise all
expenses that are directly attributable to research
and development activities or that can be allocated
on a reasonable basis to such activities. Research
and development costs are recognized as expenses
in the period in which they are incurred.
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2 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

(x)

Translation of foreign currencies

Transactions in foreign currencies are translated
into the respective functional currencies of Group
companies at the exchange rates at the dates of the
transactions.

Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in
foreign currencies are translated into the functional
currency at the exchange rate at the reporting
date. Non-monetary assets and liabilities that
are measured at fair value in a foreign currency
are translated into the functional currency at the
exchange rate when the fair value was determined.
Non-monetary assets and liabilities that are
measured based on historical cost in a foreign
currency are translated at the exchange rate at the
date of the transaction. Foreign currency differences
are generally recognized in profit or loss.

However, foreign currency differences arising from
the translation of an investment in equity securities
designated as at FVOCI are recognized in OCI.

The assets and liabilities of foreign operations,
including goodwill and fair value adjustments
arising on acquisition, are translated into RMB at the
exchange rates at the reporting date. The income
and expenses of foreign operations are translated
into RMB at the exchange rates at the dates of the
transactions.

Foreign currency differences are recognized in OCI
and accumulated in the exchange reserve, except to
the extent that the translation difference is allocated
to NCI.
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2 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

(x)

(v)

Translation of foreign currencies (continued)

When a foreign operation is disposed of in its
entirety or partially such that control, significant
influence or joint control is lost, the cumulative
amount in the exchange reserve related to that
foreign operation is reclassified to profit or loss as
part of the gain or loss on disposal. On disposal
of a subsidiary that includes a foreign operation,
the cumulative amount of the exchange differences
relating to that foreign operation that have been
attributed to the NCI shall be derecognized, but
shall not be reclassified to profit or loss. If the Group
disposes of part of its interest in a subsidiary but
retains control, then the relevant proportion of the
cumulative amount is reattributed to NCI. When the
Group disposes of only part of an associate or joint
venture while retaining significant influence or joint
control, the relevant proportion of the cumulative
amount is reclassified to profit or loss.

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs that are directly attributable to the
acquisition, construction or production of an asset
which necessarily takes a substantial period of
time to get ready for its intended use or sale are
capitalized as part of the cost of that asset. Other
borrowing costs are expensed in the period in which
they are incurred.
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2 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

(2

Asset acquisition

Groups of assets acquired and liabilities assumed
are assessed to determine if they are business or
asset acquisitions. On an acquisition-by-acquisition
basis, the Group chooses to apply a simplified
assessment of whether an acquired set of activities
and assets is an asset rather than business
acquisition, when substantially all of the fair value
of the gross assets acquired is concentrated
in a single identifiable asset or group of similar
identifiable assets.

When a group of assets acquired and liabilities
assumed do not constitute a business, the overall
acquisition cost is allocated to the individual
identifiable assets and liabilities based on their
relative fair values at the date of acquisition. An
exception is when the sum of the individual fair
values of the identifiable assets and liabilities
differs from the overall acquisition cost. In such
case, any identifiable assets and liabilities that are
initially measured at an amount other than cost in
accordance with the Group’s policies are measured
accordingly, and the residual acquisition cost is
allocated to the remaining identifiable assets and
liabilities based on their relative fair values at the
date of acquisition.
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2 BEAREBE (#) 2 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

(aa)

(a)

BB

fHBIA T AL - BIZA L3
AT ZMHEREEARE

(i)

2% ] o FE R 22 il AN &2
= ;

HAKBARE

(aa)
(a)

Related parties

A person, or a close member of that person’s
family, is related to the Group if that person:

(i)

has control or joint control over the
Group;

(i) za (i) has significant influence over the
53k Group; or

(i) AAEEIAEET (iiiy  is a member of the key management
NEINTEEEREK personnel of the Group or the Group’s
8- parent.

1h1”"/\T§|JT%Eﬁ1I7K1fF BIE 8

An entity is related to the Group if any of the

BREE A & following conditions applies:
(i) ZERBHEANEEE (i) The entity and the Group are members
—KEIZKER (EU of the same Group (which means that
EHRAE - WEBA each parent, subsidiary and fellow
AN iy MNCE Jtl: subsidiary is related to the others).

(i)

(iii)

BAERRE) -

5‘5 REAEEER

Z

(i)

One entity is an associate or joint

Zﬁ}ZE\ Al ( U venture of the other entity (or an
EHRAE - WEA associate or joint venture of a member
AN Y= MNEEG ltt of a Group of which the other entity is

HAEME) -

MEERHAR %

(iii)

a member).

Both entities are joint ventures of the

ZHHaERE - same third party.

(ivy, —HEBAE=FE (iv)  One entity is a joint venture of a
BHEELE M3 third entity and the other entity is an
—BERR%UE=TE associate of the third entity.
BERERE AR o

(v) ERAAEEFHEAR (v)  The entity is a post-employment
SEE@EECERES benefit plan for the benefit of
EE MBS BB employees of either the Group or an
@A & entity related to the Group.



2 BEREHEE (&)

(aa)

(bb)

BT ()
(b) (&)
E B2 (a) BPT AR

PN 2 e R
i) o

(vi)

5 (a)(i) AP RIHI A
ITHERBRAEAYE
NEBZER (LZXE
BOEQAR) TBER
EXE -

(vii)

ZERBIEMBEHE
ZEMRKE AR RA
SEXAKEZER
ARHIEEEER
& o

(viii)

D\@

2 =
=N)

— R ATHEIR R IR EZ
SC%HT?EHHT%;.:Z/\j:E}Z
ZALEENFEKE -

2 E2]
BREDHMEIBHRRMEBNE D
BER2HE  DREANEERTAE

B XK LRSI RFHERIRM
THRHEFAEBESZSTHEEAR
KB 75 & BT ©

M BmEmMS - RIEDIBEAEIEL
WEESBREERRRBIEE - &
ERENE  BTPEEIER - A
DHEMIRERBNTEREER
SEME T EALN  FRISEERL
EOHIEGHETEH - HAFEERD
KEDEMRTFE LM KREHFAE
AR[ETERE -
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2 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

(aa)

(bb)

Related parties (continued)

(b)

(continued)
(vi)  The entity is controlled or jointly
controlled by a person identified in
(a).

(vii) A person identified in (a)(i) has
significant influence over the entity or
is a member of the key management
personnel of the entity (or of a parent
of the entity).

(viii)  The entity, or any member of a Group
of which it is a part, provides key
management personnel services to
the Group or to the Group’s parent.

Close members of the family of a person are
those family members who may be expected
to influence, or be influenced by, that person
in their dealings with the entity.

Segment reporting

Operating segments, and the amounts of each
segment item reported in the financial statements,
are identified from the financial information provided
regularly to the Group’s most senior executive
management for the purposes of allocating
resources to, and assessing the performance of, the
Group’s various lines of business and geographical
locations.

Individually material operating segments are not
aggregated for financial reporting purposes unless
the segments have similar economic characteristics
and are similar in respect of the nature of products
and services, the nature of production processes,
the type or class of customers, the methods used to
distribute the products or provide the services, and
the nature of the regulatory environment. Operating
segments which are not individually material may be
aggregated if they share a majority of these criteria.
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3  ErtHE R

(a) ERFSEEFBRRNBEEETH
-}

REAREESHBRNBIET &
EECEHA T RS HIE

RHEBTHEBmAKA

BEEAKERAKEFE LHERR
RELSEATEARREARELH
ETMEBPAAEBEERISN - 1R&F
EAREEEETEARKNEAR - K
SEeEIXARERAEEES
TRREEITEN  REAXFER
% RRAINIEEEER - KEER
MEERBELE  EEAREEER
EmMBRERFARGERZEBH L
ENZEEmmIESHE - Bt - A%
EAHEEMOIEA - MAREA
RBFREEZT -

(b) M TRERZNER

MizE18 - 19Kk28EHAAHBER T A
NAREBEGBENRBREEERKRES
HER - Kbt THEREZMNEE
RIREAT -

3

ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND ESTIMATES

(a)

(b)

Critical accounting judgements in applying the
Group’s accounting policies

In the process of applying the Group’s accounting
policies, management has made the following
critical accounting judgement:

Revenue from merchandise sale from commerce
business

Determining whether the Group is acting as a
principal or as an agent in the sales of goods
on the Group’s platform requires judgement
and consideration of all relevant facts and
circumstances. In evaluation of the Group acting
as a principal or an agent, the Group considers,
individually or in combination whether the Group
is primarily responsible for fulflment the contract,
is subject to the inventory risk, has discretion to
establish prices. Having considered the relevant
facts and circumstances, the directors consider
that the Group obtains control of those goods
sold in commerce business before the goods are
transferred to the customers. Accordingly, the
Group is acting as a principal for the merchandise
sales and the related revenue is presented on a
gross basis.

Sources of estimation uncertainty

Notes 18, 19 and 28 contain information about
the assumptions and their risk factors relating to
valuation of fair value of financial instruments. Other
significant sources of estimation uncertainty are as
follows:
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2T HIE R e () 3 ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND ESTIMATES
(CONTINUED)
(b) HETERERZNRIR (E) (b) Sources of estimation uncertainty (continued)
(i) 75 (i) Inventories
GFEMMERFERABTEER Net realizable value of inventories is the
BEP G EERMGET K estimated selling price in the ordinary
RAREERT o ZE AT course of business, less estimated costs
BRI T 5 N B SR E of completion and selling expenses. These
LM EE A BELRIEL - estimates are based on the current market
Uboh - ZEMF AR, E condition and the historical experience of
HRERGFHFEREITER manufacturing and selling products of similar
BAFREREN M1 TB) i L3R E K nature. In addition, these estimates could
B BEEERSVBMRREKA change significantly as a result of change in
Mt 225 A - customer preference and competitor actions

in response to industry cycles. Management
measures these estimates at each statement
of financial position date.

(ii) TEE = BE TR A E 1R 1 (ii) Loss allowance for expected credit losses
AEEREBERBR T ANG The Group estimates the amount of
EEL RN e DR loss allowance for ECLs on trade and
B 5 Rk EMERGIBENTERE other receivables that are measured at
EEBNEERESTE - BB amortized cost based on the credit risk of
BBk EEREERM the respective financial instruments. The
KRREREHRENZE - I E loss allowance amount is measured as the
FBEeMITAMNERRKREER asset’s carrying amount and the present
18 - FHMESeMmIANEER value of estimated future cash flows with
Rk r ke Emet R T EE the consideration of expected future credit
Moo WMERARBSREEN loss of the respective financial instrument.
TEEASK =R TEER - BIRTAEAE FE The assessment of the credit risk of the
EXERRERENERE respective financial instrument involves high
[EstEREE o degree of estimation and uncertainty. When

the actual future cash flows are less than
expected or more than expected, a material
impairment loss or a material reversal of
impairment loss may arise, accordingly.
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4 HEZEH THELSH 4 BUSINESS COMBINATION UNDER COMMON

CONTROL

BN SR AT IERERMT2(0)Frit - UeiE As mentioned in Note 2(b) to these consolidated financial

ARFERIEEEDRESHSITRAA statements, the acquisition of Nanjing Hosjoy Engineering

B o Group has been accounted for in accordance with the
principles of merger accounting.

ANEMERT 2RO EZ2022F 12318 I-
FEENMSREEECDEY  UBEAHE
MRS - ST

The financial results previously reported by the Group for
the year ended December 31, 2022 have been restated to
include the operating results of the combining entities, as
set out below:

BEREFER
rEE IREE rEE

Nanjing

Hosjoy

Engineering
The Group Group The Group
ARKETTT ARBEFTT ARBEFTT
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
(8 5E51)
(restated)
KA Revenue 80,354,775 1,751,212 82,105,987
WA BR Cost of revenue (77,857,929)  (1,659,957) (79,517,886)
EF Gross profit 2,496,846 91,255 2,588,101
E AU A Other revenue 45,089 578 45,667
Hab e 558 Other net gain 172,099 188 172,287
WHEE A Research and development costs (113,234) = (113,234)
SHE K2 iER 2 Selling and marketing expenses (1,327,807) (28,574)  (1,356,381)

TR B At 48 B 2 Administrative and other operating
expenses (3983,492) (7,835) (401,327)
B 5 & HAth R GRIE Impairment loss on trade and other

BEE R receivables (216,381) (4,082) (220,463)
KERH Profit from operations 663,120 51,530 714,650
U AN Finance income 225,435 434 225,869
B TS PR AR Finance costs (285,501) (1,050) (286,551)
B RSN FEE Net finance costs (60,066) (616) (60,682)
JE(RE & R RIFE Share of profits of associates 76 = 76
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HEZEE THELS G (F) 4 BUSINESS COMBINATION UNDER COMMON

CONTROL (CONTINUED)

BRFER
rEE IEEE rEH
Nanjing
Hosjoy
Engineering
The Group Group The Group
ARBET T AR®ET T AR®ET T
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
(&xE5))
(restated)
R A1 7 R Profit before taxation 603,130 50,914 654,044
Fris it Income tax (93,152) (8,073) (96,225)
FERHE Profit for the year 509,978 47,841 557,819
R AL FEf : Attributable to:
AARREFEA Equity shareholders of the Company 287,245 29,133 316,378
FEPERR R Non-controlling interests 222,733 18,708 241,441
FERE Profit for the year 509,978 47,841 557,819
FEFE Profit for the year 509,978 47,841 557,819
FREMEEKE Other comprehensive income for the
(REFER) year (after tax adjustments) = = =
FRAZHEKELE Total comprehensive income for
the year 509,978 47,841 557,819
R AL FEf : Attributable to:
AARREFEA Equity shareholders of the Company 287,245 29,133 316,378
FEIERR R Non-controlling interests 222,733 18,708 241,441
FREEWEEE Total comprehensive income for the year 509,978 47 841 557,819
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HEZHTHERS O (&)

AREB LR SN 2022F 12 A31 B 75

BUSINESS COMBINATION UNDER COMMON
CONTROL (CONTINUED)

The financial position previously reported by the Group as

RRBRLET - ABRRIE&EIERTT O
BHREAEEEERRANAHERNEERA

at December 31, 2022 has been restated to include the
assets and liabilities of the combining entities recognized

& &I at the carrying value based on the ultimate controlling
party’s financial statements as set out below:
HRHER
rEE IZKE SERHHHE rEE
Nanjing
Hosjoy
Engineering Intra-group
The Group Group eliminations The Group
AREETTT ARBFT ARBTT ARBFT
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
(mE7))
(restated)
FRBEE Non-current assets
M - BE RS Property, plant and equipment 76,685 392 = 77,077
FREEE Right-of-use assets 103,657 3,218 = 106,875
REME Investment property 15,881 = = 15,881
R &R R) 2 Interests in associates 9,660 = = 9,660
UWAnBEGEAR Financial assets at fair value through
ZERAEMEE other comprehensive income
WareREE 2,000 - S 2,000
WRARBENEEH Financial assets at fair value through
BT AEHES profit or loss
HEREE 547,987 = = 547,987
BERER Pledged deposits 820,000 = = 820,000
THEH Time deposits 320,000 = = 320,000
EREFIEEE Deferred tax assets 95,331 868 = 96,199
1,991,201 4,478 - 1,995,679
RBEE Current assets
WRARBENEEE Financial assets at fair value through
SETAEHES profit or loss
HEREE 2,329,220 = = 2,329,220
Ea Inventories 2,443,800 109,274 = 2,553,074
B HEWGIERERSEE Trade and bills receivables 3,127,285 79,177 = 3,206,462
BAFE  Be2 R Prepayments, deposits and other
H ity e 08 receivables 8,661,049 376,699 - 9,037,748
R&IEFR Restricted deposits 5,155 100 = 5,255
BHRER Pledged deposits 4,329,686 = = 4,329,686
THER Time deposits 1,845,981 = = 1,845,981
RekReEEY Cash and cash equivalents 4,038,408 43,832 = 4,082,240
A E R E Taxation recoverable 3,396 = = 3,396
26,783,980 609,082 - 27,393,062
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HEZEH THWELSO (E) 4 BUSINESS COMBINATION UNDER COMMON
CONTROL (CONTINUED)
BRFER
PN IE&E SER I EH X5
Nanjing
Hosjoy
Engineering Intra-group
The Group Group eliminations The Group
AREBFT ARBFTT ARBTTT ARBFT
RMB’'000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
(&=51)
(restated)
REAE Current liabilities
RITERREMBER Bank loans and other borrowings 698,783 o - 698,783
KEMBDFZEERE Loans from non-controlling
MER shareholders of subsidiaries 8,064 8,143 = 16,207
HEBR Lease liabilities 42,621 1,105 = 43,726
WAREENELH Financial liabilities at fair value
ZEtAEHER through profit or loss
Hemas 89,381 - = 89,381
ESRENFIBRENEE Trade and bills payables 14,938,783 132,599 = 15,071,382
EENZUBREER Other payables and accruals 781,480 122,474 = 903,954
BHERE Contract liabilities 2,725,225 96,729 = 2,821,954
FERTIIE Taxation payable 57 461 800 = 58,261
19,341,798 361,850 - 19,703,648
RBEERH Net current assets 7,442,182 247,232 - 7,689,414
%ﬁé;ﬁi,ﬁ@jﬁﬁ _____ Total assets less current liabilities 9,433,383 251,710 = 9,685,093
kRBEE Non-current liabilities
HEafE Lease liabilities 56,254 1,669 - 57,923
ERRA Deferred income 17,000 = = 17,000
73,254 1,669 = 74,923
BEEFE NET ASSETS 9,360,129 250,041 - 9,610,170
BEARAE CAPITAL AND RESERVES
e Share capital 562,570 1,000 (1,000) 562,570
B Reserves 7,392,244 145,472 1,000 7,538,716
RATREREA Total equity attributable to equity
iR shareholders of the Company 7,954,814 146,472 = 8,101,286
FERER Non-controlling interests 1,405,315 103,569 = 1,508,884
ERAE TOTAL EQUITY 9,360,129 250,041 - 9,610,170
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4 HEZHTHERS O (&)

NEMMER 2N EE 2022512318 1k
FEMHSRECEEY  UBEAHERE
MIEERE AT :

BUSINESS COMBINATION UNDER COMMON
CONTROL (CONTINUED)
The cash flows previously reported by the Group for the

year ended December 31, 2022 have been restated to
include the cash flows of the combining entities, as set out

below:
BRFER
AEE IREH rEE
Nanjing
Hosjoy
Engineering
The Group Group The Group
ARBFT ARBEFIT ARBEFIT
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
(gE:5)
(restated)
KEEBATE (FTR) Net cash generated from/(used in)
ReFE operating activities 273,363 (11,896) 261,467
wEES) (FrA),/ s Net cash (used in)/generated from
REFE investing activities (1,039,569) 412 (1,039,157)
BMEEBME,(FTA) Net cash generated from/(used in)
WReFE financing activities 1,821,077 (2,241) 1,818,836
ReMREEEY Net increase/(decrease) in cash
#hn, Rl ) 55 and cash equivalents 1,054,871 (13,725) 1,041,146
FURERBESZED Cash and cash equivalents as at
the beginning of the year 2,966,920 57,5657 3,024,477
[ER g2 Effect of foreign exchange rate
changes 16,617 - 16,617
FRASRESEED Cash and cash equivalents as at
the end of the year 4,038,408 43,832 4,082,240




—BI=FFR
Annual Report 2023 187

P E R
Notes to the Financial Statements

(BREEHERIN - AAREKZ5)
(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

5 WA K 5 &R 2 8], 5 REVENUE AND SEGMENT REPORTING
(a) WA (a) Revenue
AEBWETEEBARNTREEE2M The principal activities of the Group are sales of
Mmoo WIREEEmEREHEME a comprehensive suite of merchandise in the PRC
SaaS+:IBIRT « REERBAF R and provision of intelligent business and marketing
RREEMSERERYE - BELRE SaaS+ subscription service, offering merchant
B EEBHE - BERBNME solutions and rendering other various related
5(b) ° services. Further details regarding the Group’s

principal activities are disclosed in Note 5(b).

(i) WA 54 (i) Disaggregation of revenue
BREZEEBFIASNELEH Disaggregation of revenue from contracts
WADBRIAT - with customers by major business lines is as

follows:
20234 20224
2023 2022
ARET T ARBTT
RMB’ 000 RMB’000
(&E5))
(restated)
(Hi5E4)
(Note 4)
BB HRE2ERISE155% Revenue from contracts with
HERRBEFEHIN customers within the scope of
ON IFRS 15
A mEERERA Revenue from merchandise sales 81,616,120 81,175,242
A A Commission income 1,975 2,089
PiJESaaS+:IBEATSW A Revenue from SaaS+ subscription 562,041 533,590
BE S VE IR N Revenue from merchant solutions 92,678 261,246
EMRBEAAEHRA Revenue from other services 159,706 133,820

82,432,520 82,105,987
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5 WARDEHR2H () 5 REVENUE AND SEGMENT REPORTING
(CONTINUED)
(a) WA(&E) (a) Revenue (continued)
(i) WA 7 () (i) Disaggregation of revenue (continued)
R AERERESHNESE Disaggregation of revenue from contracts
A D BEET T - with customers by the timing of revenue

recognition is set out below:

20234 20224

2023 2022

AR%T T ARBTIT

RMB’ 000 RMB’000

(&E5))

(restated)

(PftsE4)

(Note 4)

RE—FHEER A point in time 81,870,479 81,572,397
R—EBEEA Over time 562,041 533,590

82,432,520 82,105,987

REBIRBEWE2(V) (i) FTE &Y The Group recognized its revenue from
FRIBREREPELBA - contracts with customers in accordance with
accounting policy as set out in Note 2(v)(i).

AEERNEFPEREL T RE The Group’s customer base is diversified
£2023F12A31HEFE - and nil (2022: nil) of the customers with
MEEFPHZZHBEAEEK whom transactions have exceeded 10%
AKI10% (20224 : £) o K of the Group’s revenues for the year
BEFHETREERBESR ended December 31, 2023. Details of
RHIEE36(a) © concentrations of credit risk arising from the

customers are set out in Note 36(a).
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5 REVENUE AND SEGMENT REPORTING
(CONTINUED)

(a)

(b)

Revenue (continued)

(i) Revenue expected to be recognized in the
future arising from contracts with customers
in existence at the reporting date

The Group has applied the practical
expedient in paragraph 121 of IFRS 15
to its sales contracts for goods such that
information about revenue expected to be
recognized in the future is not disclosed in
respect of revenue that the Group will be
entitled to when it satisfies the remaining
performance obligations under these
contracts that had an expected duration of
one year or less.

Segment reporting

The Group manages its businesses by divisions,
which are organized by business lines. In a manner
consistent with the way in which information is
reported internally to the Group’s most senior
executive management for the purposes of
resource allocation and performance assessment,
the Group has presented the following three
reportable segments. No operating segments have
been aggregated to form the following reportable
segments.

Commerce business

The commerce business segment, which mainly
includes direct sales and provision of marketplace
service that enables merchants to sell their products
to transacting users through the online platform.
Revenue from commerce business primarily
comprised revenue from merchandise sales and
commission income.

Service business

The service business segment, which mainly
represents the provision of intelligent business
and marketing SaaS+ subscription service and a
collection of merchant solutions.
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5 REVENUE AND SEGMENT REPORTING
(CONTINUED)

(b)

Segment reporting (continued)

Others

Revenues from the others are primarily derived from
other services rendered by the Group.

(i)

Segment results, assets and liabilities

For the purposes of assessing segment
performance and allocating resources
between segments, the Group’'s senior
executive management monitors the results
attributable to each reportable segment on
the following bases:

Revenue and cost are allocated to the
reportable segments with reference to sales
generated by those segments and the
costs incurred by those segments or which
otherwise arise from the depreciation of
certain assets attributable to those segments.
The measure used for reporting segment
profit is gross profit.

There were no separate segment assets and
segment liabilities information provided to the
Group’s most senior executive management
as Group’s most senior executive
management does not use this information
to allocate resources to or evaluate the
performance of the operating segments.
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5 WARDEE2H (&) 5 REVENUE AND SEGMENT REPORTING
(CONTINUED)
(b) SHE2FH(E) (b) Segment reporting (continued)
(i) DEEE BEREBE (E) (i) Segment results, assets and liabilities
(continued)

BE20234F &2022F 12 A Information regarding the Group’s reportable

S1ELEEFEE rAEEAT2 segments as provided to the Group’s

oM ARERSTHRER most senior executive management for

ABIREARBY DR the purpose of recourse allocated and

DHERBPOERDOT o assessment of segment performance for the

years ended December 31, 2023 and 2022 is
set out below.

2023
2023
RHEK PR 3 15 ity @t
Commerce Service
business business Others Total

ARBTR ARBTRT AR®TR ARETR
RMB'000  RMB’000  RMB’000  RMB’000

A2H/DHRA Reportable segment revenue 81,618,095 654,719 159,706 82,432,520

A 2RHBFE Reportable segment profit 2,039,920 574,008 125,796 2,739,724

20225 (5 &31)
2022 (restated)

RHEH R %% Hit @it
Commerce Service
business business Others Total

ARBTL  ARBTR ARBTT ARETR
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000

A2RHBEA Reportable segment revenue 81,177,331 794,836 133,820 82,105,987
A 2H/D HFH Reportable segment profit 1,880,004 593,400 114,697 2,588,101
B E2023F K2022F 128

The reconciliation of gross profit to profit
before tax for the years ended December 31,
2023 and 2022 is shown in the consolidated
statements of profit or loss.

31 A LEFE EH £ ER B AT A
BHHERENFARER
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5 WARDEE2H (&) 5 REVENUE AND SEGMENT REPORTING
(CONTINUED)
(b) SHE2FH(E) (b) Segment reporting (continued)
(i) EER (i) Geographic information
B PR B 75 i 5 AR R B 8 SR A & IFRS 8, Operating Segments, requires
DEHREEHEEEEEE identification and disclosure of information
BiMEEENELR M RE about an entity’s geographical areas,
BEmAs (AIENFEEREE— regardless of the entity’s organization (i.e.
AI2W|HHEL) - REEN —1E even if the entity has a single reportable
IR B AL EER  REAR segment). The Group operates within one
HFFBWAEERPBIEL - geographical location because primarily all
mEBIEREE E R E AR of its revenue was generated in the PRC and
SXHEBMR S REFHE - primarily all of its non-current assets and
Eit - I 25038 E K capital expenditure were located/incurred

in the PRC. Accordingly, no geographical
information is presented.

6 H AW A R H At W 28 73 3R 6 OTHER REVENUE AND OTHER NET GAIN
(a) HfbkA (a) Other revenue

2023%F 20224
2023 2022
AR%T ARBTT
RMB’ 000 RMB’000
(Le=35)
(restated)
(BF5E4)
(Note 4)
IEgSREHE) Government grants 41,134 42 831
Hit Others 3,807 2,836
44,941 45,667
BE2023F12A31HILFE - K During the year ended December 31, 2023, the
SEHEREGEERTHEDARE Group received unconditional government grants of
41,134,000 T (20224 : AR¥ RMB41,134,000 (2022: RMB42,831,000 (restated))
42,831,0007T (&£ E%)) - tEALRE as rewards of the Group’s contribution to technology

BEEEMaF RESEEERELE innovation and regional economic development.

ke 2 -
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HWw AR E U F5E (8) 6 OTHER REVENUE AND OTHER NET GAIN
(CONTINUED)
(b) HihlRF5E (b)  Other net gain
2023 F 20224
2023 2022
AR®TT ARETT
RMB’ 000 RMB’000
(&=75)
(restated)
(BI5E4)
(Note 4)

AR EEEBEEZ5)5H A Net realized and unrealized gain on financial
EHIEFMNELRMEENDE assets at fair value through profit or loss

BRABER K FE 171,172 151,219
& BB A R RS ~ 518 F %8 Net loss on disposal of interests in

(Hizt24(e)) subsidiaries (Note 24(e)) (19,794) (54,251)
REMFEREEE Impairment loss on investment property (4,221) =
HEME  BENREE 22U Net gain/(loss) on disposal of property,

=/ (E18) FH8 plant and equipment 449 (56)
HNEE U 2 F 7R Net foreign exchange gain 35,655 151,236
AR EERZEBEEB) A Net realized and unrealized loss on financial

EHESMNESMEENEE  labilities at fair value through profit or loss

BEABEBBTE (63,189) (81,601)
Hh Others 12,286 5,740

132,358 172,287
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7

BR B AT FH

BBATRIEE R (GEA) AT RIA

(a)

7 PROFIT BEFORE TAXATION

Profit before taxation is arrived at after charging/(crediting):

B (W) AR (a) Net finance (income)/costs
20234 20224
2023 2022
ARET T ARBEFTT
RMB’ 000 RMB’000
(&E5))
(restated)
(HiE4)
(Note 4)
RITIF AT B A Interest income from bank deposits (263,295) (225,869)
BARS LA Finance income (263,295) (225,869)
ARIR IR RARTTE KA Interest expenses on discounted bills and
FBRX (faE24(c)) bank loans (Note 24(c)) 255,138 188,921
MIBARIIEERIEREFA  Interest expenses on loans from
FEFRZ (Bit24(c)) non-controlling shareholders of
subsidiaries (Note 24(c)) 321 1,111
HEABEMNERX Interest expenses on lease liabilities
(KizE24(c)) (Note 24(c)) 3,998 4,689
AIMEEDEEEAMFERY  Interest expenses arising from redeemable
(Hiate4(c)) capital contributions (Note 24(c)) = 91,830
B TSR A Finance costs 259,457 286,551
s (Wes) /B ASSF 58 Net finance (income)/costs (3,838) 60,682
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PROFIT BEFORE TAXATION (CONTINUED)

BIRA (b)  Staff costs
20234 20224
2023 2022
ARET T ARBETIT
RMB’ 000 RMB’000
(&E5))
(restated)
(Pft5E4)
(Note 4)
e IBERHMEF Salaries, wages and other benefits 632,922 628,931
TR TR IRET B Contributions to defined contribution
retirement plans 37,273 35,497
RS E RGN BEMEAR  Equity settled share-based payment
A (H1iE34) expenses (Note 34) 27,791 3,755
697,986 668,183

AEETENELRNEERSER
W MR EE R EENERHIR
IREHE) - AR B H) P IR B 2 BIR
ATBRRRENFHEEHFSNET
Bt EM R BIHRK - AA
BERRAEMNREHES - AREE
NEBERRFTEARABERERE
ERRTRAAEBENREEER
At SRS - AEEEERM
ORI B RN ELER T3 -
EHR B AN B ATR 5T &
M HOR YL 3R T & R

B Bl RERON - 7N S5 B 3 M L B 5%
AHEIBRNERRREMNREE

Employees of the Group’s PRC subsidiaries are
required to participate in a defined contribution
retirement scheme administered and operated by
the local municipal government. The Group’'s PRC
subsidiaries contribute funds which are calculated
on certain percentages of the average employee
salary as agreed by the local municipal government
to the scheme to fund the retirement benefits of
the employees. The Group remits all the defined
contribution retirement scheme contributions to
the respective social security offices, which are
responsible for the payments and liabilities relating
to the defined contribution retirement scheme. The
Group’s contributions to the defined contribution
retirement plans are expensed as incurred and
not reduced by contributions forfeited by those
employees who leave the plans prior to vesting fully
in the contributions.

The Group has no other material obligation for the
payment of retirement benefits associated with the
scheme beyond the contributions described above.
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7

AARKEZ5)

BRE AT RDE (&) PROFIT BEFORE TAXATION (CONTINUED)
(c) HfbEH (c) Other items
20234 20224
2023 2022
ARET T ARBT T
RMB’ 000 RMB’000
(&E5))
(restated)
(Pft5E4)
(Note 4)
BERAFAZHFERAR Cost of inventories recognized as
(H152i) expenses (Note i) 79,410,844 79,103,032
TEZW Depreciation charge
—BEWME - BEKR - owned property, plant and equipment 21,994 18,469
—EREEE — right-of-use assets 51,246 51,610
— 1AW — investment property 545 212
REYERBEEBE Impairment loss on investment property 4,221 =
TR (fatii) Research and development costs (Note ii) 93,502 113,234
B REMERFIBEE Provision for credit loss on trade and
EiERHE other receivables
— B 5 RHEAMEKFIE - expected credit loss on trade and
TRHEERE other receivables 277,321 224,145
— B[O ATE s 2 — write-on of other receivables previously
HAth fE MR IE written off (2,432) (3,682)
FEMR (BE),/ B (Reversal of)/provision for write-down of
inventories (2,959) 13,633
kX Listing expenses - 16,178
ZEEN B & Auditors’ remuneration
— BETARTS — audit services 7,100 7,100
— HAbBET RS — other audit services 1,500 =
— FEEE RIS (M aziii) — non-audit services (Note iii) 580 4,835

Hiat

(i)

(if)

(iif)

BRBHAXNEFERABER
BRI o

MBEREBEEE TRARN
ERXEHENESE 252
TRET A EX M7 (D)t B8R
P BB ER RO ARRI AR -

HE2023F12 A31 AL FE -
REBMBEXAFETIER
R ERIZEAME ARBZ
7L (20224 + AR# 4,600,000
JT) B ARBZ T (2022
F: AR¥2130,0007T) 7rat
AEXEBEEN EHRASL -

Notes:

(M)

(if)

(iii)

Cost of inventories recognized as expenses
includes provision for write-down of inventories.

Research and development costs include
amounts relating to staff costs and depreciation
expenses, which are also included in the
respective total amounts disclosed separately
above or in Note 7(b) for each of these types of
expenses.

During the year ended December 31, 2023, the
Group recognized auditors’ remuneration for
non-audit services in respect of initial public
offering of RMB nil (2022: RMB4,600,000),
among which RMB nil (2022: RMB2,130,000) is
also included in the listing expenses disclosed
separately above.
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8 INCOME TAX IN THE CONSOLIDATED
STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS

(a) HEBRRANBIIERE: (a) Taxation in the consolidated statement of
profit or loss represents:
20234 20224
2023 2022
AR®T T ARBTT
RMB’ 000 RMB’000
(&E5))
(restated)
(PftsE4)
(Note 4)
B ERBE 1R Current tax
FREE Provision for the year 102,949 135,724
IERERIE Deferred tax
R E T E & R E Origination and reversal of temporary
(B1#t32(b)) differences (Note 32(b)) (3,226) (39,499)
FriSBimsE Total income tax expense 99,723 96,225
BiaE - Note:
(M) REBEEBMEHANRAG (i Pursuant to the income tax rules and regulations

(if)

HE2023F12A31BILEE -
BEBWBARIEIR16.5% KT
RENEBFEH -

AR o AL B b B8 A A
7RI 25% M)A TE B R AR
EMREHR (TREMER])
HELAT PRSI B R RIBR SN -

BB R EEREE RN
R (B RLE A [2016]32%%) -
ARARBMBEHEMEESE
B B20215FE2023F 2%
15% TS THEERE -

@A BRI AR AR
SR EEER - 52021
FE2023FZR15%MFTIEH
BEBIE

of Hong Kong, the subsidiary in Hong Kong was

liable to the Hong Kong Profits Tax at a rate of

16.5% during the years ended December 31, 2023.
(ii) The Company and PRC subsidiaries of the
Group are subject to PRC Corporate Income
Tax (“CIT") at a statutory rate of 25%, except for
the following specified subsidiaries:

According to the Administrative Measures
for Determination of High-Tech Enterprises
(Guokefahuo [2016] No. 32), the Company
obtained the qualification as a high-tech
enterprise and was entitled to a preferential
income tax rate of 15% for the years from 2021
to 2023.

Huitone Datatech Smart Technology Co.,
Ltd. obtained the qualification as a high-tech
enterprise and was entitled to a preferential
income tax rate of 15% for the years from 2021
to 2023.

197
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AARKEZ5)

8 HREBBRANAEH (B)

(a)

mEBRRANBIRE - (F)

BEFETBBEEAREELEBR
2021F 4 B2 HBE M AR E i)\
WMEEMBLIRERMERERR
FHREY (RAE[2021]128%) » B
2021F £ 20224 » FRMNFFTSHE
ERA AR, 000,000 (2 AR
1,000,0007T) R)/NEUERFI{R 25 - AT
%87 5% M EMTIFTISERTES -
HEA20% M FTISTHEE o

BEFRFBRBEEREEERR
20223 R 14 BEMHBCKERE—F
BRI EEMSHERBRRNA
EY(RE[2022]135%)  H2022FF
2024%F FREMBMABHEEARE
1,000,000t = AR #3,000,0007C
(& AR#3,000,0007T) B/ N YR
¥ AJZER75%MENTFTERER
FER  WAH20%MIERBHEK o

8 INCOME TAX

IN THE CONSOLIDATED

STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS (CONTINUED)

(a)

Taxation in the consolidated statement of
profit or loss represents: (continued)

According to Announcement [2021] No. 12, “The
Announcement of Implementation of Income Tax
Incentives for Micro and Small Enterprises and
Individually-owned Businesses” issued by Ministry
o